# STUDIES OF ADENOSINE AND GABA, RECEPTOR FUNCTIONS IN RAT HIPPOCAMPAL SLICES

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the University of Glasgow by

•

• Shahin Akhondzadeh Basti Pharm.D, Ph.D.

Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Glasgow, Scotland, May 1995. ProQuest Number: 13815552

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 13815552

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346





.

### Acknowledgments

Firstly I must extend my gratitude to my supervisor, Professor T.W. Stone, without whose help, guidance and unending enthusiasm this thesis would not have been possible.

Special thanks is extended to Dr. M. Tejerizo who always helped me during my residence in Glasgow.

My particular thanks must go to the staff of neuroscience and biomedical systems in particular, Dr. D. Pollock, head of division, Dr. W. Wilson (the only academic Scotsman who truly knows about wrestling), Dr. F. Boyle, Dr. B. Martin, Dr. P. Skett and Dr. B. Morris for encouragment and advice.

I would also like to thank Dr. M. Higgens, Dr. D. MacGregor and Dr. H. Hosseinzadeh for giving me generously of their experiences.

I would especially like to thank the staff of Prof Stone's Lab, Hillary, Fiona, Paul, Majdi, Patricia and Mr. J. Thomson.

ΙI

Thanks are extended to the Secretary of Health and Medical Education of I.R. Iran, in particular, to Dr. M. Mohammadi for giving me this opportunity to continue my education.

Finally, and most importantly, I would like to thank my mother, father, sister and brother who are always my last hope after God.

# CONTENTS

	Page
Title	
Acknowledgements	II
Contents	IV
Summary	ХI
Publications	XVI
Abbreviations	XVIII
1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1. Adenosine - an Historical overview	1
1.2. Biosynthesis, release and inactivation of adenosine	2
1.3. Adenosine receptors	4
1.3.1. Classification and distribution	4
1.3.2. Ligands for adenosine receptors	7
1.3.3. Functional effects of adenosine recepto	rs 9
1.3.4. Presynaptic effects	10
1.3.5. Postsynaptic action	13
1.4. Phosphatidylinositol turnover	14

1.5.	Potassium channels	16
1.6.	Treatment perspectives of adenosine	17
1.7.	GABA as inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain	21
	1.7.1. GABA <sub>A</sub> receptor	22
	1.7.2. GABA <sub>B</sub> receptor	24
	1.7.3. GABA <sub>C</sub> receptor	25
	1.7.4. Metabolism and uptake of GABA	26
	1.7.5. Peripheral actions of GABA in vertebrates	26
	1.7.6. GABA as a link between neuronal and hormonal control systems	27
	1.7.7. neuroactive steroid action at GABA <sub>A</sub> receptor	27
1.8.	Chloride channels	29
1.9.	Glutamate as an excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain	31
	1.9.1. Glutamate receptor	33
	1.9.2. Glutamate receptor function	35
	1.9.3. Role of glutamate receptors in learning, memory and brain disorders	36
1.10	. Hippocampus and memory system	38
	1.10.1. Long-term potentiation	39
	1.10.2. Long-term depression	40
	1.10.3. Calcium and neuronal plasticity	43
1.11	. Anatomy of hippocampus	44
	1.11.1. Intrinsic connectivity of hippocampus	45

1.11.2. Hippocampal slices	46
2. METHODS AND MATERIALS	
2.1. Preparation of slices	49
2.2. Bathing medium	51
2.3. Bath superfusion and application of drugs	51
2.4. Recording electrodes	52
2.5. Recording and stimulation	52
2.6. Extracellular techniques	55
2.7. Analysis of drug effects	56
2.8. Statistical analysis	56
2.9. Chemical agents	57
3. Interactions between adenosine and GABA, receptors on hippocampal neurones	
3.1. Introduction	59
3.2. Results	62
3.2.1. Effects of adenosine on orthodromic population spikes	62
3.2.2. Effect of adenosine on orthodromic population spikes in the presence of 1 mM	62 barium

	3.2.3.	Effect of barium and 8-cyclopenthyl-1,3- dimethylxanthines (CPT) on orthodromic population spikes	65
	3.2.4.	Effect of CPT and baclofen on population Spikes	65
	3.2.5.	Interaction of adenosine and barium on orthodromic field EPSPs	70
	3.2.6.	Effect of muscimol on population spikes	70
	3.2.7.	Interaction of adenosine and muscimol on population spikes	73
	3.2.8.	Effect of CPT on potentiative interaction between adenosine and musciol in the presence of barium	73
	3.2.9.	Effect of adenosine and muscimol on orthodromic field EPSPs	77
	3.2.10.	Interaction of somatic or dendritic application of adenosine and muscimol in the presence of barium	77
	3.2.11.	Effect of DIDS on potentiative interaction between adenosine and muscimol	81 I
	3.2.12.	Interaction of adenosine and tolbutamide on orthodromic population spikes	88
	3.2.13.	Interaction of adenosine and tolbutamide on othodromic field EPSPs	88
	3.2.14.	Interaction of adenosine and muscimol in the presence of tolbutamide 1 mM	91
	3.2.15	Antidromic extracellular recording	91
	3.2.16	. Effect of adenosine on antidromic burst induced in calcium-free medium with added magnesium (4 mM)	92
3.3.	Discuss	sion	96
	3.3.1.	Interaction of adenosine and muscimol in presence of barium	96

3.3.2.	Interaction	of	adenosine	and	muscimol	in	100
	presence of	to	lbutamide				

# 4. Potentiation by neurosteroids of muscimol/adenosine interaction in rat hippocampus

4.1.	Introdu	uction	105
4.2.	Results	5	109
	4.2.1.	Effect of alphaxalone on orthodromic population spikes	109
	4.2.2.	Effect of 5α-pregnan-3α-o1-20-one on orthodromic population spikes	109
	4.2.3.	Interaction of alphaxalone and muscimol on orthodromic population spikes	112
	4.2.4.	Interaction of $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -o1-20-one and muscimol on orthodromic population spi	112 kes
	4.2.5.	Interaction of alphaxalone and adenosine on orthodromic population spikes	116
	4.2.6.	Interaction of $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one and adenosine on orthodromic population spikes	120
	4.2.7.	Effect of combination of adenosine 2 $\mu M$ and muscimol 1 $\mu M$ with alphaxalone in the presence of barium 1 mM	123
	4.2.8.	Effect of combination of adenosine 2 $\mu$ M and muscimol 1 $\mu$ M with 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -ol-20 one in the presence of barium 1 mM	123 )-
4.3.	Discus	sion	128

# 5. Induction of a novel form of long-term depression by muscimol

5.1.	Introd	uction	133
5.2.	Result	5	138
	5.2.1.	A new protocol for induction of LTD	138
	5.2.2.	Reversal of LTD	142
	5.2.3.	Adenosine and LTD	142
	5.2.4.	Role of stimulation in induction of LTD	145
	5.2.5.	Neurosteroids and LTD	148
	5.2.6.	Maintenance of LTD	152
	5.2.7.	Antagonists and agonists of glutamate receptors and LTD	156
5.3.	Discus	sion	163
6. Ro re	ole of c eversal	alcium in induction and of muscimol-induced LTD	
6.1.	Introdu	uction	172
6.2.	Result	5	176
	6.2.1.	Muscimol-induced LTD	176
	6.2.2.	Calcium-free medium and LTD	180
	6.2.3.	The role of NMDA and non-NMDA receptor activation in the reversal of muscimol- induced LTD	180
	6.2.4.	High potassium and veratrine and reversal of muscimol-induced LTD	185

6.2.5. High calcium or a calcium ionophore and reversal of muscimol-induced LTD	190
6.3. Discussion	193
7. General Discussion	199
References	203

.

#### Summary

Recent evidence has indicated that adenosine, in addition to potassium and calcium currents, may also affect chloride movement in hippocampal neurones. This project was undertaken to determine the possible role of adenosine on chloride channels and synaptic plasticity in comparison with a selective GABA, agonist, muscimol.

Extracellular recordings were made from the CA1 pyramidal cell layer of hippocampal slices in response to stimulation of Schaffer collateral fibres in stratum radiatum (0.01 Hz). Adenosine and muscimol induced concentration dependent reductions in the amplitude of orthodromically induced population potentials. In order to eliminate effects of these agents on potassium channels, experiments were performed in the presence of barium, 1mM (in some experiments in the presence of 1 mM tolbutamide). This concentration increased potential size, and reduced the inhibitory effect of adenosine on population spike size, but not synaptic potential size. This profile is consistent with the blockade of potassium channels associated only with the postsynaptic effects of adenosine. However, muscimol responses were unaffected. Adenosine potentiated the ability of muscimol to inhibit

ΧI

evoked potentials in the absence or presence of barium. The potentiation was prevented by the A<sub>1</sub> selective antagonist 8-cyclopentyltheophylline. The effects of adenosine, as well as muscimol, were reduced by the chloride channel blocker DIDS, which also prevented the adenosine potentiation of muscimol. The results indicate the ability of adenosine to operate chloride channels in hippocampal neurones, and suggest a potentiative interaction between adenosine and muscimol which also involve chloride channels.

The second part of this study was to examine neurosteroids which have been reported to be positive modulators of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors. Alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one potentiated the inhibitory effect of muscimol on the population spike size at low concentrations (0.5 and 1  $\mu$ M) that had no significant effect on the spike size by themselves. This profile is in agreement with other reports which have described the effect of these neurosteroids as barbiturate-like. Alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one also at low concentrations potentiated the inhibitory effect of adenosine alone and in the presence of barium 1 mM which blocked adenosine activated potassium channels. Alphaxalone failed to potentiate the inhibitory effect of adenosine in the presence of bicuculline 1  $\mu$ M. It is

XII

concluded that these neurosteroids enhanced the potentiative interaction between adenosine and muscimol in the presence of barium. The results indicate that adenosine's effects are normally enhanced by virtue of the potentiative interaction occurring with endogenous GABA. In addition to this, the results show the chloride channels activated by adenosine to be different from those operated by the GABA, receptor.

The third part of this project was to investigate the role of GABA<sub>A</sub> and adenosine receptors on long-term depression (LTD) and synaptic plasticity. Unlike longterm potentiation, LTD in the central nervous system remains poorly understood. Muscimol induced a time and concentration-dependent LTD in the amplitude of orthodromic potentials. Increasing the stimulation frequency from 0.01 Hz to 1 Hz for 10 seconds reversed the LTD induced by muscimol. Although adenosine decreased the spike size in a concentration-dependent manner, it failed to induce LTD. Muscimol also induced LTD in the absence of electrical stimulation.

Alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one at concentrations that did not have any effect themselves on the population spike (0.5 and 1  $\mu$ M), potentiated the inhibitory effect of muscimol on the population spike

XIII

size. These neurosteroids at high concentrations (5 and 10  $\mu$ M) decreased the spike size by themselves. On the other hand, at the low concentrations both steroids were able to potentiate the ability of muscimol to induce LTD. Moreover, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M which is not able to induce LTD, alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one 1  $\mu$ M maintained the LTD induced by muscimol 10  $\mu$ M. Bicuculline 5  $\mu$ M reversed the LTD induced by muscimol 10 µM. To examine the possible role of glutamate receptors in LTD induced by muscimol a number of NMDA and metabotropic receptors agonists and antagonists were used. The NMDA receptor antagonist 2-AP5, the NMDA/metabotropic antagonist 2-AP3 and selective metabotropic antagonist L(+)-AP3 failed to modify the LTD. Quisqualic acid and (1S, 3R)aminocyclopentane dicarboxylic acid (ACPD), a selective agonist at metabotropic receptors, did not induce LTD or short-term depression, whereas kynurenic acid prevented the reversal of the LTD obtained at 1 Hz. It is concluded that LTD can be induced by the selective activation of GABA, receptors and the lack of involvement of glutamate receptors in the protocol which is presented in this study confirms the unique role of classical GABA, receptors in the effect of muscimol and may indicate a novel type of long-lasting depression. Furthermore, the failure of adenosine to induce LTD taken together with

XIV

the earlier results, suggests that the adenosine activated chloride channel differs from the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor chloride channel.

The last part of this study investigated the role of calcium in the induction of LTD and the mechanism of reversal of muscimol induced LTD. It was observed that the LTD can be obtained in the absence of calcium. In addition to this, the LTD was reversed by NMDA, kainic acid, high potassium medium, veratrine and calcium ionophore but not high calcium medium. Interestingly, high potassium medium in the absence of calcium reversed the LTD induced by muscimol 10  $\mu$ M. The results suggest that this type of LTD can be induced in the absence of calcium and reversal of the LTD is due to a simple depolarization, as a result of sodium influx. These results emphasise the novelty of the muscimol-induced LTD, described here for the first time.

XV

#### **PUBLICATIONS**

#### A. Papers:

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. (1994). Interaction between adenosine and  $GABA_{A}$  receptors on hippocampal neurones. Brain Res., 665, 229-236.

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. (1995). Potentiation by neurosteroids of muscimol/adenosine interaction in rat hippocampus. Brain Res., In press.

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. (1995). Induction of a novel form of hippocampal long-term depression by muscimol: Involvement of  $GABA_{\lambda}$  but not glutamate receptors. Br. J. Pharmacol., In press.

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. Maintenance of muscimolinduced long-term depression. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiat., Submitted.

AKHONDZADEH. S. & STONE, T.W. Glutamate-independent longterm depression in rat hippocampus by activation of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors. Life Science., Submitted.

AKHONDZADEH. S. & STONE, T.W. Muscimol-induced long-term depression in the hippocampus: Lack of dependence on calcium. Neurosci., Submitted. B. Abstracts:

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. (1994). Enhancement by muscimol of adenosine effects on population spikes in the presence of barium. Canadian J. Physiol. Pharmacol., 72, 503.

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. (1994). Enhancement by muscimol of adenosine effects on hippocampal population spikes, Br. J. Pharmacol., 112, 612P.

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. (1994). Suppression by DIDS of an interaction between adenosine and muscimol in the hippocampus. Br. J. Pharmacol., **113**, 106P.

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. (1995). Neuerosteroids enhance muscimol and adenosine potentiation in the presence of barium. Br. J. Pharmacol. 114, 292P.

AKHONDZADEH, S. & STONE, T.W. (1995) Neurosteroids potentiate GABA and adenosine inhibition of hippocampal evoked potentials. Br. J. Pharmacol. 114, 293P.

# Abbreviations

ACPD	1-Aminocyclopentane-1,3-dicarboxylic acid
ACSF	Artificial cerebrospinal fluid
AD	Adenosine
AHP	Afterhyperpolarization
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AMPA	α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methy1-4-
	isoxazolepropionic acid
ANOVA	one-way analysis of variance
AP3	2-Amino-3-phosphonopropionic acid
AP4	2-Amino-4-phosphonobutyric
AP5	D(-)-2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid
4-AP	4-Aminopyridine
APNEA	N <sup>6</sup> -2-(4-aminophenyl)ethyladenosine
АТР	Adenosine triphosphate
BAC	Baclofen
CA1-4	Cornu Ammonis 1 to 4
CAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CGS21680	2-[p-(2-Carboxyethy1)phenylethy1amino]-5 -N-
	ethylcarboxamidoadenosine
CNS	Central nervous system
СРТ	Cyclopentyltheophylline or 8-Cyclopentyl-
	1,3-dimethylxanthine
DIDS	4,4 -Diisothiocyanatostilbene-2,2 -
	disulphonic acid
DPCPX	8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine
EPSP	Excitatory postsynaptic potential
GABA	γ-Aminobutyric acid
GABA-T	GABA-aminotransferase
GAD	glutamic acid decarboxylase
I.P	Intraperitoneal
IPSP	Inhibitory postsynaptic potential
IP3	inositol trisphosphate
KATP	ATP-sensitive potassium channels
LTD	Long-term depression

## XVIII

Long-term potentiation
Minute
Number
Non-significant
5 N-ethylcarboxamidoadenosine
N-methyl-D-aspartate
Population spikes
Phosphoinositide
R-N <sup>6</sup> -Phenylisopropyladenosine
Standard error of the mean
Secondary spikes
succinic semialdehyde dehydrogenase
Tetraethylammonium

INTRODUCTION

#### 1. Introduction

During the last 20 years, there has been intensive research into the neuromodulator adenosine. Adenosine receptors have been classified and their distribution and function thoroughly examined in the mammalian brain. Adenosine has been shown to modulate neuronal function in the central nervous system through a variety of receptormediated mechanisms including second messenger systems, ion fluxes and modulation of transmitter release. However, the mechanism of adenosine action on ion fluxes is still not well understood. This thesis will look at the possible role of adenosine on chloride channels in comparison with a selective GABA<sub>A</sub> agonist, muscimol and their role in synaptic plasticity.

#### 1.1. Adenosine - an historical overview

The potent extracellular actions of adenosine and ATP were first reported by Dury and Szent-Györgyi (1929). In 1954 Holton and Holton reported that the ATP might represent the vasodilatory substance that was released upon antidromic stimulation of sensory nerves supplying the rabbit ear artery. The current interest in adenosine began with the realization of its potent inhibitory properties on

neurones. In 1970 Sattin and Rall showed that adenosine could stimulate cAMP formation in brain, while caffeine could antagonise this response. The inhibitory effect of adenosine in various regions of the brain was shown by Kostopoulos and Phillis (1977). Burnstock proposed a basis for distinguishing two types of purinoceptors, termed  $P_1$  for the nucleoside receptor (e.g. adenosine) and  $P_{2}$  for the nucleotide receptor (e.g. ATP)(Burnstock, 1978). This classification was mainly based on the relative potencies of ATP, ADP, and adenosine, the selective action of antagonists, in particular methylxanthines, and modulation of adenylate cyclase by adenosine, but not ATP. It subsequently became apparent that adenosine receptors could classified into subtypes  $(A_1 \text{ and } A_2)$  primarily be characterized by their ability to affect adenylate cyclase activity (Van Calker et al., 1979). In addition to this, more recently,  $A_3$  and  $A_4$  receptor subtypes have also been identified by cloning (Zhou et al., 1992) and binding studies (Cronfield et al., 1992).

#### 1.2 Biosynthesis, release and inactivation of adenosine

Adenosine is known to be released in a calciumdependent fashion from nerve terminals following nerve stimulation (Stone, 1989). This could be derived from

intracellular adenosine formed by the action of cytosolic 5'-nucleotidase or S-adenosylhomocysteine hydrolase (Snyder, 1985). Adenosine can also be synthesized *de novo* from phosphoribosyl-1-pyrophosphate glutamine (Stone and Simmonds, 1991). Release of adenosine appears to be dependent on the metabolic status of the tissue, reflecting the role of adenosine in regulating energy homeostasis within the CNS (Meghji, 1991).

Electrical stimulation can release adenosine from brain slices (Sciotti et al., 1992). In addition to this, the concentration of adenosine can rise several hundred fold during metabolic seizures (During and Spencer, 1992), hypoxia (Rehncrona et al., 1978) or ischemia (Winn et al., 1981) and also by depolarisation with glutamate (Hoehn and White, 1990).

Adenosine is inactivated by adenosine uptake mechanisms and via break down to inosine by adenosine deaminase or phosphorylation to AMP by adenosine Kinase (Meghji, 1991,1993). It should be noted that the uptake system plays a key role in the inactivation of adenosine.

Although adenosine can be taken up by uptake mechanisms and released following depolarisation, unlike endocrine hormones it is not specifically produced by particular

cells or tissues, and unlike classical neurotransmitters it is not stored and released from particular neurones that form specific pathways.

#### 1.3 Adenosine receptors

#### 1.3.1 Classification and distribution

Adenosine receptors have been classified according to their action on adenylate cyclase (Van Calker et al., 1979), adenosine  $A_1$ -receptors having an inhibitory and  $A_{2a}$ stimulatory action. Although it has been shown that adenosine can act via cyclic adenosine monophosphateindependent mechanisms (Dunwiddie and Hoffer, 1980), the  $A_1/A_2$ -classification has been useful.

 $A_1$ -receptors have been thoroughly studied, since numerous ligands are available that have high affinity for this receptor and satisfactory specificity.  $A_1$ -receptors have been described as mediating the modulatory action of adenosine on neuronal activity, and autoradiographic studies have demonstrated the highly specific distribution of this receptor subtype. In the rat brain, areas of high concentration of  $A_1$  binding sites include the molecular layer of the cerebellum, dendritic zones of hippocampus, the medial and lateral nuclei of the thalamus, the lateral

septum and medial geniculate body (Lewis et al., 1981; Goodman and Synder, 1982; Erfurth and Reddington, 1986). The distinct distribution of  $A_1$ -receptors has been confirmed in studies of post mortem human brain tissue (Fastbom et al., 1987; Deckert et al., 1993). The results of Deckert and Jorgensen (1988), showing that adenosine  $A_1$  receptors are located presynaptically and postsynaptically, are more consistent with the electrophysiological studies of Thompson et al., (1992) that adenosine acts at pre- and postsynaptic receptors which are pharmacologically indistinguishable.

Studying the  $A_2$ -receptor has been more difficult due to the lack of specific  $A_2$  agonists and antagonists. In order to differentiate between the stimulatory effects of adenosine in striatum and cortex, a subclassification of  $A_2$ receptors into  $A_{2a}$  and  $A_{2b}$  subtypes has been suggested. This classification is based on [<sup>3</sup>H]NECA binding, high and low affinity respectively for  $A_{2a}$  and  $A_{2b}$  (Bruns at al., 1986). It should be noted that both these subtypes increase adenylate cyclase activity.

Autoradiographic techniques have so far only allowed the detection of the  $A_{2a}$  subtype, suggesting that these two subtypes exhibit different molecular properties in the

brain (Reddington and Lee, 1991). In rat (Reddington et al., 1986) and also in human brain (Martinez-Mir et al., 1991),  $A_{2a}$ -receptors have been described as being specifically located in striatum, nucleus accumbens and olfactory tubercle.

In addition to an action at extracellular adenosine receptors, adenosine can inhibit adenylate cyclase by interacting with an intracellular P-site, that appears to be located on the catalytic subunit of adenylate cyclase (Londos and Wolff. 1977). The P site has a low affinity for adenosine, in the high micromolar range, and is not blocked by adenosine receptor antagonists. Moreover, some adenosine derivatives, e.g. dideoxyadenosine, are selectively active at the P-site. The physiological role of the P-site is still unknown.

Recently, a third class of adenosine receptors  $(A_3)$  has been cloned from rat brain (Zhou et al., 1992). It has been shown that this  $A_3$  receptor is coupled to a pertussis toxinsensitive G protein. Furthermore, like  $A_1$  receptors,  $A_3$ receptors are coupled to both the inhibition of adenylate cyclase (Zohu et al., 1992) and the stimulation of inositol phosphate metabolism (Beaven et al., 1994). The  $A_3$  receptors are insensitive to xanthines (Carruthers and Fozard, 1993).

Activation of  $A_3$  receptors is associated with hypotensive, behavioral and cardioprotective effects and an anti inflammatory action (Fozard and Carruthers, 1993; Jacobson et al., 1993a,b; Liu et al., 1994).

#### 1.3.2 Ligands for adenosine receptors

The chemical synthesis efforts made over several years have aimed to improve the potency and selectivity of adenosine analogs for either the  $A_1$  or  $A_2$  receptor (Williams et al., 1986; Williams and Cusack, 1990). There has been less success in developing  $A_{2b}$  and  $A_3$  ligands compared with the  $A_1$  receptor. Thus, the functional role of the  $A_{2b}$  and  $A_3$ receptors is still largely unknown.

Most structural modifications were related to  $N^{b}$ substituted adenosine derivatives which showed selectivity, high affinity and potency at A<sub>1</sub> receptor sites (Williams et al., 1986; Williams, 1987). Conversely, chemical substitution on C2 of either adenosine itself or 5'-Nethylcarboxamidoadenosine (NECA) have led to a variety of compounds displaying A<sub>2a</sub> agonist properties. Among them, the 2-alkynyladenosine and 2-alkynyl-NECA derivatives appear to be relatively potent at A<sub>2a</sub> receptors and some of them show good A<sub>2a</sub> vs A<sub>1</sub> selectivity. CGS 21680 has recently been

presented as a selective  $A_{2a}$  receptor agonist with 70-140 fold selectivity for this receptor in binding assays (Williams, 1991). To date for the  $A_3$  receptor  $N^6-2-(4$ aminophenyl)ethyladenosine (APNEA) is used as non-selective agonist (Fozard and Carruthers, 1993) and  $N^6-(3$ iodobenzyl)5'-(N-methylcarbamoyl)adenosine (IB-MECA) as a selective agonist which is 50-fold selective in binding assays for rat brain  $A_3$  vs either  $A_1$  or  $A_{2a}$  receptors (Gallo-Rodriguez et al., 1994). The potency profile of these adenosine analogs at adenosine receptors in a variety of tissue is as follows:

A<sub>1</sub>: CPA>R-PIA=CHA≥NECA>2CADO>S-PIA

A<sub>2a</sub>: CGS21680=NECA>2CADO>R-PIA=CHA=CPA>S-PIA

 $A_{2b}$ : NECA>2CADO>R-PIA=CHA>S-PIA≥CGS21680

A<sub>3</sub>: IB-MECA>APENEA>R-PIA=NECA>CGS21680 (Collis and Hourani, 1993; Dalziel and Westfall, 1994).

For investigating the functions of adenosine receptors antagonists have also been used. In addition to caffeine and theophylline, which have marked phosphodiesterase inhibitory activity, more selective and more potent adenosine receptor antagonists have been developed. For example, 8-phenyltheophylline is more potent than theophylline at blocking the  $A_1$  receptor. Indeed,

theophylline and caffeine are not able to discriminate between  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  adenosine receptors (Daly et al., 1981; Fredholm and Persson, 1982). 8-cyclopentyl-1,3,dipropylxanthine (DPCPX) and cyclopentyltheophylline (CPT) show 740 and 130-fold selectivity for the  $A_1$  receptor respectively (Williams, 1991). However, there is technical limitation to the use of DPCPX because of its low solubility.

8-(3-chlorostyryl) Caffeine (CSC) shows 520-fold selectivity for the A<sub>2a</sub> receptor, whereas there is no selective A<sub>2b</sub> adenosine receptor antagonist (Jacobson et al., 1993a). Fozard and Hanon have recently reported that 3-(3-10do-4-aminobenzyl)-8-(4-oxyacetate)-1-propylxanthine(BW-A522) blocks the adenosine A<sub>3</sub> receptor (Fozard and Hanon, 1994).

#### 1.3.3. Functional effects of adenosine receptors

The  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  receptors mediate somewhat different effects in most tissues. The  $A_1$  receptor has an inhibitory effect on nerve terminals and mediates negative inotropic effects on the heart. The  $A_2$  receptor shows vasodilatory effects on vessels (Stone, 1991). There is debate concerning the inhibitory or stimulatory effect of  $A_2$ 

receptors in CNS. The  $A_2$  selective adenosine receptor agonist CGS21680 depressed the spontaneous, acetylcholineand glutamate-evoked firing of rat cerebral sensorimotor cortical neurons (Phillis, 1990). In rat hippocampal slices, CGS21680 decreased the EPSP size in CA1. This  $A_{\gamma}$ agonist did not increase cAMP levels in the hippocampus but the striatum it enhanced cAMP levels two in fold. Therefore, it may act at an  $A_1$  adenosine receptor in the hippocampus to show the inhibitory effect (Lupica et al., 1990). It has been shown that 2  $\mu$ M NECA, which activates both  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  receptors, increased glutamate release slightly in pyramidal cells of hippocampal cultures (Prestwich et al., 1987). By intracellular recording in rat hippocampus, Ameri and Jurna (1991) also demonstrated that R-PIA and NECA at high concentration affected membrane properties and showed excitatory effects. Theophylline blocked this effect but DPCPX, an A<sub>1</sub> antagonist, was ineffective.

X

#### 1.3.4. Presynaptic effects

A<sub>1</sub>-receptors mediate both presynaptic and postsynaptic events in the CNS. Adenosine decreases the release of several neurotransmitters, including acetylcholine ((Dunèr-Engstrom and Fredholm, 1988; Fredholm, 1990a,b), dopamine

(Lupica et al., 1990), noradrenaline (Allgaier et al., 1987; Jonzon and Fredholm, 1984), serotonin (Feuerstein et al., 1988), GABA (Hollins and Stone, 1980) and glutamate (Dolphin and Archer, 1983; Prestwich et al., 1987). However, it should be noted that most reports show the inhibitory action of adenosine on excitatory rather inhibitory neurotransmitters (Hu and Fredholm, 1989). This may be consistent with the idea that adenosine receptors are located on excitatory terminals (Lambert and Teylor, 1991; Yoon and Rothman, 1991; Thompson et al., 1992).

Transmitter release is dependent on calcium influx into nerve terminals, and one possible mechanism of action of adenosine to inhibit transmitter release may be blocking of the calcium influx. In rat brain synaptosomal preparations, adenosine modulated calcium uptake by potassium (Wu et al., 1982) or veratridine-depolarized nerve terminals (Michaelis et al., 1988) through an action on extracellularly localized adenosine receptors. Adenosine analogues decreased calcium uptake across voltage sensitive slightly in both synaptosomes calcium channels and hippocampal slices (Bartrup, 1989) . By contrast, adenosine and adenosine analogs had no effect on calcium uptake by potassium-depolarisation (Barr et al., 1985; Garritsen et al., 1989) and veratridine stimulation (Garritsen et al.,

1989). The lack of effect of adenosine or its analogs in the Barr and Garritsen reports could be that adenosine receptors which control  $Ca^{2+}$  uptake are present only in a subset of the synaptosomes or adenosine affects the sensitivity for calcium rather the than calcium concentration in the neuronal cell. With ion sensitive microelectrodes adenosine decreased pre- and postsynaptic calcium signals of rat hippocampal cells in low calcium medium (Schubert et al., 1986). 4-aminopyridine could not prevent the inhibition of calcium influx by adenosine. Organic calcium blockers (verapamil and nifedipine) blocked postsynaptic calcium entry not presynaptic. Thus adenosine may depress calcium current at presynaptic nerve terminals by transient calcium channels (T or N)(Schubert et al., 1986). In another report Schubert (1988) showed that endogenous adenosine, via A1 receptors, inhibits calcium influx. Silinsky (1986) proposed adenosine impairs transmitter secretion by reducing the affinity for calcium a site beyond the external orifice of the calcium at channel. Adenosine-evoked inhibition of calcium current may have resulted from a shunt of the calcium current secondary to the adenosine-evoked increase in potassium currents (Gerber et al., 1989; Greene and Haas, 1989).

#### 1.3.5. Postsynaptic action

The anticonvulsant action of adenosine has been described as a postsynaptic event which is mediated by  $A_1$  receptor. Postsynaptic mechanisms comprise activation of potassium channels and the control of calcium fluxes. However, the type of potassium channel activated by adenosine is still a matter of controversy.

Adenosine in cultured postganglionic neurones of avian ciliary ganglia under whole-cell voltage clamp blocked calcium-activated potassium channels (Bennett et al., 1991). Furthermore, adenosine hyperpolarised CA1 neurones and decreased input resistance in normal and low calcium medium. Adenosine also suppressed excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSP), by a presynaptic effect, without any effect on resting membrane potential (Segal , 1982). Okada and Ozawa (1981) also showed a hyperpolarisation action of adenosine in the hippocampus.

In single voltage clamp, adenosine evoked or increased three potassium conductances: 1)dependent on calcium and voltage, 2)dependent on calcium only and 3)insensitive to both and not inwardly rectifying (Haas and Greene, 1988). Adenosine at low concentration (10  $\mu$ M) increased the after-

hyperpolarisation (AHP) induced by a burst of action potentials with no effect or little effect on the resting membrane potential (RMP). Increasing the concentration of often decreased AHP adenosine to 50 μM and input resistance. Tetraethylammonium (TEA), a blocker of delayed outward rectification, and 4AP (blocker of transient outward rectification) had no effect on adenosine action (Greene and Haas, 1985; Gerber et al., 1989). It has been reported that adenosine-induced recently hyperpolarisation was depressed by glibenclamide, a blocker of ATP-sensitive  $\textbf{K}^{\dagger}$  channels, in rat CA1 neurones (Li and Henry, 1992).

There is also growing evidence that adenosine, in addition to potassium and calcium currents, may also affect chloride movement via the  $A_1$  receptor in hippocampal neurones (Mager et al., 1990,1995).

#### 1.4. Phosphatidylinositol turnover

Stimulation of adenosine receptors primarily regulates the activity of adenyl cyclase, but adenosine also interferes with the hydrolysis of phosphoinositides (PIs). These compounds comprise one of the major transmembrane transducing systems in the mammalian brain. Unlike
acetylcholine, noradrenaline, serotonin and histamine, adenosine does not seem to have any direct effects on PI hydrolysis (E1-Etr et al., 1989). However, it is involved in the regulation of the PI response to some of the transmitters such as histamine and noradrenaline. In the striatum, adenosine receptors potentiate the response to the muscarinic agonist carbachol (El-Etr et al., 1989). Histamine  $H_1$ -receptor-stimulated PI breakdown has been shown to be inhibited by adenosine in mouse (Kendall and Hill, 1988) and human cerebral cortex (Kendall and Firth, 1990) in rat striatum (Petcoff and Cooper, 1987). In and contrast, the histamine-stimulated PI turnover in guineapig cortex is increased by adenosine agonists (Hollingsworth et al., 1986).

Alexander and co-workers (Alexander et al., 1989) reported that the adenosine receptor mediating the modulation of histamine-stimulated PI hydrolysis is different to the receptor that stimulates cAMP formation. Inhibition of PI hydrolysis by adenosine seems to involve direct inhibition of phospholipase C (Linden а and Delahunty, 1989), the enzyme involved in the formation of the two second messengers of this transmembrane transducing system, inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate and diacylglycerol.

### 1.5. Potassium Channels

Potassium channels are involved in a number of central nervous system processes including neuronal depolarisation and neurotransmitter release. It was originally hypothesized that hyperpolarisation induced by opening the potassium channels leads to suppression of neurotransmitter release by preventing the opening of voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channels (Quast and Cook, 1989).

It has recently been reported that the adenosine potassium channel is ATP-sensitive type (Li and Henry, 1992). ATP-sensitive potassium  $(K_{ATP})$  channels are from a group of potassium channels that occur in muscle tissue, in pancreatic  $\beta$  cells and in transporting and neuronal tissue (Nichols and Lederer, 1991). The ATP-dependent potassium channel is modulated by intracellular concentrations of ATP such that normal physiological concentrations of ATP inhibit the channel. However, if ATP levels decline the opens channe1 1983). Several other endogenous (Noma, modulators of cellular  $K_{ATP}$  channel activity have been identified including the ATP/ADP ratio, certain nucleotide diphosphates, pH, lactate and G-protein kinase (Edwards and Weston, 1990). Several pharmacological agents have also been discovered that specifically modulate the  $K_{\mu\nu\rho}$  channel.

The potassium channel openers, which include nicorandil, levocromakalim, pinacidil and aprikalim activate the KATP channel (Edwards and Weston, 1990). The sulfonylurea agents glibenclamide and tolbutamide and the non-sulfonylurea compound sodium 5-hydroxydecanoate specifically block K<sub>ATP</sub> channels (McCullough et al., 1991). Indeed, in pancreatic cells. where channe1 function is relatively well understood, depolarization induced by elevated ATP levels subsequent to glucose metabolism opens voltage-gated  $Ca^{2+}$ channels to release insulin.

#### 1.6. Treatment perspectives of adenosine

The concentrations of adenosine in brain rise during hypoxia (Winn et al., 1981), ischaemia (Berne et al., 1974; Kleihues et al., 1974) and seizures (Winn et al., 1980). For example, after ischemia, adenosine levels in the millimolar range have been measured (Berne et al., 1974). In this view, it seems that adenosine may play a neuroprotective role in cerebrovascular diseases.

It has been shown that glutamate-gated cation channels play a key role in triggering ischaemia (Coyle and Puttfarcken, 1993). Several experimental data have shown that activation of  $A_1$  adenosine receptors causes a marked

reduction in amount of excitatory transmitter release (Yoon and Rothmann, 1991). Thus, it may have a beneficial neuroprotective role (Rudolphi et al., 1992; Phillis et al., 1993). Adenosine can prevent seizures in vivo (Murray et al., 1985, 1993; Dragunow et al., 1985; Young and Dragunow, 1994) and in humans models (During and Spencer, 1992; Kostopoulos et al., 1989). Moreover, there are several reports that indicate adenosine antagonists can induce seizures (Skinner, 1990). Indeed, the convulsant action of theophylline and caffeine is used to facilitate electroconvulsive treatment in patients with psychiatric disorders (Hinkle et al., 1987).

 $A_1$  antagonism may result in the release of multiple neurotransmitters, including acetylcholine and serotonin. Therefore, A1 antagonists might be useful in neurodegenerative cognitive disorders, such as Alzheimer's disease, that are associated with degeneration of cholinergic and serotonergic neurones. Recent biochemical studies have shown changes in adenosine receptors in the brains of patients with Alzheimer's disease (Jansen et al., 1990; Ikeda et al., 1993).

In the heart, in addition to being a potent vasodilator, adenosine slows heart rate (negative chronotropic effect), slows atrioventricular (AV) nodal

conduction (negative dromotropic effect), and antagonises the stimulatory effect (ie, inotropic and arrhythmogenic) of catecholamines (Belardinelli et al., 1989). These effects of adenosine, which increase the supply of oxygen work, and decrease cardiac are cardioprotective (Belardinell and Shryock, 1992). Consistent with this cardioprotective action, adenosine and agents that increase interstitial concentration of adenosine the such as nucleoside uptake blockers and adenosine deaminase or adenosine kinase inhibitors, have been shown to reduce myocardial cell damage and dysfunction during hypoxia and ischemia (Ely and Berne, 1992). Thus, modulation of adenosine metabolism and/or adenosine receptor activation prove beneficial in the treatment of may cardiac arrhythmias and ischemic heart disease. Dipyridamole, an adenosine uptake inhibitor, is used clinically in ischemic heart disease.

It should be noted that there is still a technical problem in the use of adenosine or adenosine analogs in the brain since adenosine crosses the blood-brain barrier poorly.

A possible strategy to solve this problem is to use an agonist which is able to pass the blood-brain barrier and an antagonist which is unable to pass the blood-barrier to minimise cardiovascular adverse effects of adenosine.

## 1.7. GABA as an inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain

GABA is well known as the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the mammalian brain. There is evidence to suggest that the nervous system is held in a state of perpetual restraint, by circuits which tonically inhibit pacemaker neurons and feedforward and/or feedback cell discharges, surround and dampen the output of spontaneously discharging neurones, and influence pre-synaptic inhibition and facilitation. The CNS operates by relaxing these restraints (i.e. disinhibition) via excitatory inputs. The majority of this inhibitory wiring is comprised of neurones which release GABA as their neurotransmitter.

GABA was first identified in the brain in 1950 (Awapara et al., 1950; Robert and Frankel, 1950) and shortly afterward its involvement in the mediation of seizure activity became apparent. Hayashi observed that direct application of GABA onto the motor cortex of the dog attenuated local epileptic discharge (Hayashi and Nagi, 1956; Hayashi, 1959) and Killam and Bain (1957) reported inhibition of GABA synthesis to be the principle mechanism of action of the convulsant hydrazides. Understanding of the synthesis (Weinstein et al, 1963) release (Jasper et al., 1965), postsynaptic effects (Krnjevic and Schwartz,

1987), specific antagonism (Galindo, 1969), and inactivation (Robert and Kuriyama, 1968) of GABA followed and precipitated its proposal as an inhibitory neurotransmitter in the mammalian brain.

GABA is formed, *de novo*, entirely from L-glutamic acid. This reaction is catalysed by the enzyme GAD (glutamate decarboxylase) in the presence of pyridoxal phosphate as a cofactor (Meldrum, 1957). GAD is exclusively localised to GABAergic neurones in the vertebrate CNS and can be employed as a definitive marker for these cells (Snead, 1983).

Following synaptic release, GABA exerts its actions via specific cell membrane receptors. At present three specific receptor sites for GABA have been identified in the mammalian brain and have been designated  $GABA_A$ ,  $GABA_B$  and  $GABA_C$ .

# 1.7.1. GABA, receptor

The GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor has been the subject of many studies (Olsen, 1982; Levitan et al., 1988; Olsen and Tobin, 1990) and is now well characterised. Extensive research has shown the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor to be a macromolecular protein, composed

of five variable subunits, forming a chloride ion-selective channel and possessing additional binding sites for benzodiazepines (Ehlert, 1986), barbiturates (Willow and Johnston, 1983), picrotoxin (Olsen, 1981), penicillin (Twyman et al, 1992), and neurosteroids (Majewska et al, 1986). Binding of GABA to this receptor subtype leads to opening of the channel, chloride ion entry into the cell, hyperpolarisation, and inhibition of action potential generation (Enna and Gallagher, 1983). cDNA cloning has revealed the existence of a number of distinct subunit isoforms. Based on sequence similarity, five different GABA, receptor subunit families have been identified and have been named  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\varrho$  subunits. Most of the families have multiple subtypes ( $\alpha_{1-6}$ ,  $\beta_{1-4}$ ,  $\gamma_{1-3}$ ,  $\delta$  and  $\varrho_{1-2}$ ), and the sequences within each subunit family show homology, with about 70-80% amino acid sequence identity. Although GABA, receptors per se are distributed widely, determination of the regional distribution of receptor subunits, by in situ hybridization, has confirmed that many of the subunits are highly localised within the brain (Macdonald, 1993) and may be responsible for the heterogeneity of GABA, receptors previously reported in binding studies (Olsen et al., 1984; McCabe et al., 1988).

# 1.7.2. GABA<sub>R</sub> receptor

that (-)baclofen decreases reported Ιt was neurotransmitter releases in the CNS (Bowery et al., 1980). In 1981, it was established that this effect of (-)baclofen is exerted by activation of a bicuculline-insensitive and non-GABA, receptor (Hill and Bowery, 1981), and this receptor is termed the  $GABA_R$  receptor. Although GABA and baclofen have been used as GABA, receptor agonists, studies on physiological and pharmacological roles of the GABA<sub>R</sub> receptor in the CNS have been delayed, mainly by the lack of selective and potent antagonists for this receptor. Recently, however, selective and potent agonists and antagonists for the GABA<sub>R</sub> receptor have been introduced. For example, 3-aminopropylphosphonoic acid (APPA) has been developed as a potent agonist at peripheral and central presynaptic  $GABA_{R}$  receptors (Ong et al., 1990). On the other phaclofen, 2-hydroxysaclofen and hand, more recently CGP35348 have been introduced as selective antagonists for the GABA<sub>R</sub> receptor (Kerr et al., 1987, 1988; Curtis et al., 1988; Olpe et al., 1990).

In electrophysiological studies, it was demonstrated that activation of the  $GABA_B$  receptor results in modulation of ion channels. Namely, a voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channel

was inhibited by activation of the  $GABA_{B}$  receptor (Holz et al, 1986). In addition, activation of the  $GABA_{B}$  receptor induced an increase in K<sup>+</sup> conductance, which resulted in the occurrence of a slow IPSP (Newberry and Nicoll, 1984; Dutar and Nicoll, 1988). Modulation of these ion channels by the  $GABA_{B}$  receptor was also known to be mediated by GTP-binding protein. Therefore, it seems likely that suppression of transmitter release by activation of the presynaptic  $GABA_{B}$  receptor is caused by a decrease in  $Ca^{2+}$  conductance or an increase in K<sup>+</sup> conductance.

# 1.7.3. GABA<sub>c</sub> receptor

Recently, GABA-gated Cl<sup>-</sup> channels with unusual pharmacology have been detected in the vertebrate retina, which do not fit into the conventional scheme of GABA<sub>A</sub> and GABA<sub>B</sub> receptors (Polezani et al., 1991; Feigenspan et al., 1993a,b; Quian and Dowling, 1993). It is very likely that these receptors, termed GABA<sub>C</sub> (Shimada et al., 1992), are composed of the  $e_1$  or  $e_2$  subunits (Cutting et al., 1991,1992). The novel bicuculline and baclofen-insensitive GABA<sub>C</sub> receptors are present on rat retinal bipolar cells (Feigenspan et al., 1993a,b) and on horizontal cells of white perch (Qian and Dowling, 1993). GABA<sub>C</sub> receptors may exert an important inhibitory role in the retinal circuitry.

### 1.7.4. Metabolism and uptake of GABA

Following receptor activation, GABA is removed from its site of action, in the synaptic cleft, by a high affinity uptake mechanism (Logan and Synder, 1971). This process, together with direct diffusion of GABA into postsynaptic nerve cell bodies (Hyden et al., 1986), appears to be one of the most significant mechanisms of GABA inactivation and can be observed in both neurones and glial cells (Iverson 1975). Upon cellular uptake, and Kelly, GABA is successively metabolised by the action of two mitochondrial GABA-T (GABA transaminase) catalyses enzymes. the conversion of GABA to succinic semialdehyde (SSAD) in the and presence of a  $\alpha$ -Ketoglutarate as cofactor SSAD completes the metabolism to succinate in the presence of nicotinyl adenine dinucleotide (NAD; Meldrum, 1975).

# 1.7.5. Peripheral actions of GABA in vertebrates

The first observation of a peripheral action of GABA in a mammal was made by De Groat (1970) working on feline autonomic ganglia. By now, the idea of an exclusively central role of GABA has been superseded by many findings which show that enzymes for the synthesis and uptake of GABA, as well as GABA receptors (both GABA<sub>A</sub> and GABA<sub>B</sub>), are

widely spread in the autonomic nervous system and in a number of neuroendocrine, endocrine and exocrine cells (Erdo and Wolff, 1990).

# 1.7.6. GABA as link between neuronal and hormonal control systems

A vast body of evidence suggests that GABA acts as an important bilateral link between the nervous system and the endocrine system. One aspect of this interaction is that various neuroendocrine and endocrine cells receive a GABAergic innervation and show responses mediated by  $GABA_A$  and  $GABA_B$  receptors (Randle and Renaud, 1987; Peters et al., 1988). On the other hand, certain steroid hormones and hormone metabolites are capable of potentiating the inhibitory actions of GABA through a modulatory effect on the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor (Majewska et al, 1986; Twyman and Macdonald, 1992).

# 1.7.7. Neuroactive steroid action at the $GABA_{A}$ receptor

The GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor is a complex membrane-bound protein which is coupled to a Cl<sup>-</sup> channel. Upon binding to the receptor, GABA facilitates the opening of the Cl<sup>-</sup> channel resulting in hyperpolarisation of the neuron.

Therapeutically useful anticonvulsant, anxiolytics, and the benzodiazepines sedative-hypnotics such as and barbiturates are known to act through their binding sites on the GABA, receptor complex (Stephenson, 1988). These agents are positive GABA, allosteric modulators that increase the binding of GABA to the GABA, receptor. Conversely, negative GABA, receptor modulators such as  $\beta$ carbolines that decrease the binding of GABA to the GABA, receptor, are anxiogenic or convulsants.

The discovery of neuroactive steroids and their distinct binding site on the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor complex raises the possibility that this class of steroids may have therapeutic potential like other GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor ligands. Neuroactive steroids are found endogenously. The most potent naturally occurring neuroactive steroids are  $3\alpha$ -hydroxy- $5\alpha$ -pregnane-20-one ( $3\alpha$ ,  $5\alpha$ -P) and  $3\alpha$ , 21-hydroxy- $5\alpha$ -pregnane-20-one ( $5\alpha$ -THDOC) which are metabolites of progesterone and deoxycorticosterone, respectively. These steroids are positive allosteric modulators of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor.

A second group of neuroactive steroids represented by pregnenolone and dehydroepiandrosterone and their sulfate metabolites have been shown to be negative modulators of

the  $GABA_{A}$  receptor (Majewska and Schwartz, 1987). Collectively biochemical, pharmacological and physiological studies support the existence of a novel binding site for neuroactive steroids on the membrane-bound  $GABA_{A}$  receptor complexes in the mammalian brain.

### 1.8. Chloride channels

Chloride is the most important physiological anion. pathways for chloride exchange between Several the extracellular and intracellular milieu exist, including Cl HCO<sub>1</sub> exchange, NaHCO<sub>1</sub>-HC1 exchange, Na-K-2C1 cotransport, K-Cl and chloride channels (Palfrey and Rao, 1983; Warnock and Eveloff, 1989). Chloride channels in intracellular compartments are often found in conjunction with active cation transport systems where chloride appears as а counter ion to the transported cation. Plasma membrane chloride channels serve a variety of physiological roles. For excitable cells that change their membrane potential ranges, activation of over wide chloride channels stabilizes the membrane potential. This has an inhibitory effect on action potential generation because chloride equilibrium potential is close to resting membrane potential. The function of GABA and glycine receptors is based on this effect. In addition to this, in many

epithelia, chloride channels are essential for transport of salt (and water) across the cell layer (Hoffmann and Ussing, 1992). Ligand-gated chloride channels which are the most important class of chloride channels, are activated by the binding of an external messenger molecule. Typical representatives of this class are postsynaptic GABA and glycine-activated chloride channels. Structurally, these belong to a superfamily of direct transmitter-activated ion channels which also includes cation channels (Barnard et al, 1987).

Adenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate (cAMP)-dependent chloride channels are activated by a rise in intracellular cAMP. The molecular mechanism is often phosphorylation by cAMP -dependent protein kinase A (PKA), but it cannot be excluded that other chloride channels may be directly activated by binding of cyclic nucleotides (Dhallan et al., 1990). An important example for activation by cAMPdependent phosphorylation is the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) chloride channel (Riordan et al., 1989), which also requires the intracellular binding and probably also hydrolysis of nucleotides for activity (Baukrowitz et al., 1994). The CFTR is involved in transport across many epithelia (Riordan et al., 1989).

Another important class of chloride channels is activated by elevated intracellular calcium (Marty et al., 1984). In many cases, it is not known whether calcium acts directly by binding to the channel protein, or via an interposed mechanism such as phosphorylation. To date, little biochemical information is available for calciumdependent chloride channels. It should be noted that chloride channels largely have been ignored by many physiologists, but recently, interest in anion channels has increased significantly after the invention of the patchclamp technique.

# 1.9. Glutamate as an excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain

L-glutamate is an endogenous excitatory amino acid neurotransmitter substance that contributes excitatory input into the majority of synapses in the central nervous system (Founum, 1984). During the intervening years a wealth of information pertaining to excitatory amino acids, and glutamate in particular, has been generated. Much is now known about the synthesis (Peng et al., 1991), release (Nicholls and Attwell, 1990), receptor-mediated effects (Monaghan et al., 1989) and inactivation (Schousboe et al., 1988) of neurotransmitter glutamate. Glutamate can be synthesised, de novo, by transamination of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate aspartate aminotransferase, by direct catalysed by amination of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate catalysed by glutamic acid by the deamination dehydrogenase, and of glutamine catalysed by glutaminase. All of these mechanisms have been implicated in the synthesis of neurotransmitter glutamate (Peng et al., 1991).

Astrocytes are believed to play the principal role here by synthesising and supplying the necessary precursors (Sonnewald et al., 1991). Synaptic release of glutamate is a calcium-dependent phenomenon, can be induced by

potassium, veratridine, or 4-AP depolarisation, and can be blocked by magnesium in a voltage sensitive manner (Horton, 1989; Nicholls and Attwell, 1990).

### 1.9.1. Glutamate receptor

Glutamate receptors are found throughout the mammalian brain. where they constitute the major excitatory transmitter system (Collingridge and Lester, 1989). The well-known glutamate receptors are ligand-gated ion channels (Monaghan et al., 1989) which are called ionotropic glutamate receptors and are permeable to cations. They have been categorised into three broad subtypes based upon pharmacological and electrophysiological features:  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionate (AMPA) receptors, Kainate (KA) and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, receptors (Nakanishi, 1992). Recently, however, a family of G protein-coupled glutamate receptors, which are also called metabotropic glutamate (Miller, 1991) or trans-1aminocyclopentane-1,3-dicarboxylate (tACPD) receptors, was identified (Sugiyama et al., 1987; Collingridge and Lester, 1989). There are at least six subtypes of metabotropic glutamate receptor which are coupled to activation of phosphoinositide hydrolysis, and thus the mobilization of

intracellular calcium (Nakanishi, 1992; Tanabe et al., 1992). Most recently a 2-amino-4-phosphonobutyric acid (AP4) receptor has been reported as a new subtype of ionotropic glutamate receptor (Nakanishi, 1992). The AP4 receptor is less well characterised and is thought to be a presynaptic autoreceptor, providing a negative feedback mechanism to reduce further neuronal glutamate release (Scatton, 1993).

Inactivation of glutamate following its synaptic release occurs via a high affinity, sodium and energydependent uptake system present in both nerve endings and glia (Drejer et al., 1982). Recent evidence suggests that glial uptake is more important than neuronal uptake in the removal of glutamate from the synaptic cleft rapid (Schousboe et al., 1988). Autoradiographic measurement of glutamate uptake, and lesion studies of anatomically defined pathways, have facilitated identification of numerous glutamatergic pathways in the mammalian brain Foster, 1983). The majority of glutamate (Fagg and releasing pathways appear to be descending, originating in the neo and allo-cortex and innervating many sub-cortical regions and the spinal cord. Many cortico-cortical projections also employ glutamate as a neurotransmitter.

distinct allosteric sites for zinc ions, polyamines, phencyclidine (PCP and ketamine) and for glycine, which are closely associated with the ion channel of this complex (Lodge and Johnson, 1990).

# 1.9.3. Role of glutamate receptors in learning, memory and brain disorders

A generally accepted hypothesis in neurobiology has been that at the cellular level, memories are stored, at least in part, as long-term changes in the strength of synaptic transmission as a result of alterations in the efficacy of chemical synapses (Hebb, 1949). The glutamate receptor has become the focus of much work because of several experimental findings that indicate a central role for glutamate receptors in learning and memory (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993). The NMDA receptor has attracted much attention because its properties make it an ideal candidate for a receptor involved directly in the learning process. The NMDA receptor is the only ligand-gated ion channel whose probability of opening depends strongly upon the voltage across the membrane, under physiological conditions. This property permits this receptor to operate as a Hebbian molecule (Hebb, 1949).

A vast body of evidence suggests that glutamate receptors play a role in a number of cerebrovascular diseases (Appel, 1993), indeed, many neurological accidents involving strokes in which there is a loss of oxygen and glucose, or epilepsy, result in brain damage because of over-stimulation by glutamate. It has also been proposed degenerative diseases such Alzheimer's, that as Huntington's and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) may involve neuronal cell death caused by over-activation of the glutamate receptor system (Coyle and Puttfarcken, 1993).

### 1.10. Hippocampus and memory system

Learning is a neural process which enables both human animals to adapt to their environments by using and experience to adjust their behaviour. The mechanisms of learning and memory have traditionally been interesting topics of study. It has been known for years that the hippocampal system plays a crucial role in learning and memory. The hippocampus is ideal for studies of memory and learning for two reasons. First, the hippocampus can serve as a model for cortical processing in general because of its regular and relatively simple cytoarchitecture. Second, the size and central location of the hippocampus indicates that is plays a prominent role in total brain function. Only recently has it become clear that only certain properties of memory processing depend on hippocampal system function and that these can be distinguished from other aspects of memory that do not. The earliest reports of amnesia emphasized the time limited role of the hippocampal region in memory, focusing on its critical function in consolidation processes that bridge between immediate memory and the long-term store (Scoville and Milner 1957). Amnesic patients and animals with hippocampal lesions show some disorders in temporary memory store (Rawlins 1985).

A generally accepted hypothesis in neurobiology has been that long-lasting activity-dependent changes in the efficacy of synaptic transmission in the mammalian brain are considered to be of fundamental importance for the development of neural circuitry and for the storage of information (Hebb, 1949; Nicol et al., 1988). The most compelling and reliable model for such changes has been long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) in the hippocampus.

## 1.10.1. Long-term potentiation

The storage of information in the hippocampus is believed to involve an increase in synaptic efficiency. This view was confirmed by the report of Bliss and Lomo (1972,1973) that brief, high-frequency activation of some hippocampal pathways could evoke an increase in the synaptic efficiency. This phenomenon is regarded as LTP (Bliss and Lomo, 1972, 1973). LTP has three properties which distinguish it from other forms of post-excitatory facilitation. Firstly, LTP has an extremely long duration and can last for days. However, it is necessary to emphasize that LTP is not permanent. Secondly, it enables long-lasting increments of synaptic efficiency to be produced by short, high-frequency stimulus trains and

finally, LTP seems to need a number of co-active convergent synapses to be activated (Lee, 1983). There is increasing evidence that this form of synaptic plasticity underlies some forms of memory. The rise in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  level that can occur by activation of glutamate receptors of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) type (Collingridge and Lester, 1989) is crucial for induction of LTP. However, it should be stressed that there exist forms of LTP that are not dependent upon NMDA receptor activation (Johnston et al., 1992). It has been reported that LTP induction at mossy fibres synapses in area CA3 of hippocampus is independent of NMDA receptors (Johnston et al., 1992), whereas in the CA1 region, LTP is a result of  $Ca^{2+}$  influx through the NMDA receptor-associated ion channel (Collingridge et al., 1983; Kauer et al., 1988).

## 1.10.2. Long-term depression

The term, long-term depression (LTD) may apply to any form of long lasting depression in synaptic transmission. LTD has been described in several brain regions, including hippocampal region CA1 (Levy and Steward, 1979), the dentate gyrus, visual cortex (Artola and Singer, 1990), frontal cortex (Hirsch and Crepel, 1992) and cerebellum (Ito et al., 1982). Although LTD of evoked responses has

been reported in the hippocampal formation following a variety of stimulation procedures, most paradigms can be into homosynaptic, heterosynaptic categorised and associative LTD according to the level of presynaptic activity in the pathway undergoing LTD induction, as well as that in converging afferents (Braham and Srebro, 1987: Artola and Singer, 1993; Lovinger et al., 1993; Linden, 1994). The heterosynaptic LTD can be produced bv presynaptic activation of different inputs on to the same postsynaptic cell but homosynaptic LTD can be induced by presynaptic activation of the same input on to the relevant neurone.

Associative LTD is a persistent decrease in synaptic strength that is produced while presynaptic activity occurs out of phase with strong postsynaptic activity, with the postsynaptic activity being driven by converging afferents. Owing to hyperpolarisation of the postsynaptic cell in the periods between strong postsynaptic activity, this results in presynaptic activity occurring in the absence of postsynaptic activity (Linden, 1994).

Several factors have been reported to trigger LTD, including the induction of LTP, depolarization of postsynaptic sites, activation of NMDA and non-NMDA receptors, activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors

and moderate postsynaptic  $Ca^{2+}$  influx (Kano and Kato, 1987: Aroniadou and Teyler, 1991: Yang et al., 1994). It has been reported that both homosynaptic and associative LTD are  $Ca^{2+}$ by antagonists of NMDA receptors abolished and  $Ca^{2+}$ In associative LTD, voltage-dependent chelators. channels have also been shown to be important for induction (Christie et al., 1994: Debanne and Thompson, 1994). Homosynaptic LTD has been found in a number of brain structures using one of two induction protocols: prolonged afferent stimulation at low frequency (1-5 Hz for 5-15 minutes) or stimulation at high frequency (50-100 Hz for 1-5 seconds)(Linden et al., 1994). Low frequency stimulation has been shown to induce homosynaptic LTD in the high frequency stimulation hippocampus but has been effective at striatal synapses (Braham and Serbro, 1987; Lovinger et al., 1992) . On the other hand, induction of heterosynaptic LTD requires а strong postsynaptic depolarization caused by synaptic activation. It should be noted that heterosynaptic depression in area CA1 has proved difficult to investigate, as several groups have failed to induce this type of LTD at all (Linden et al., 1994).

### 1.10.3. Calcium and neuronal plasticity

Intracellular calcium concentration has been proposed to play a pivotal role in neuronal plasticity (Malenka et al., 1989). Several families of  $Ca^{2+}$ -activated enzyme are known to be colocalized in synaptic structures. One type of protein kinase,  $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$  (CaM) kinase, becomes activated in the presence of calmodulin and elevated intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ . Recent progress in elucidating the mechanisms underlying synaptic plasticity indicates that both forms of plasticity require NMDA receptor-gated  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, whereas voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  influx can also contribute to the generation of LTD.

has been reported that moderate elevation of It  $Ca^{2+}$ intracellular triggers LTD, whereas higher concentrations are required to initiate LTP (Christie et al., 1994; Debanne and Thompson, 1994; Hirano et al., 1994). It appears as though the strength of a given synapse can be set between some minimum and maximum level by induction of LTD or LTP (Lisman, 1989). These two extremes seem to be determined by the level of phosphorylation of some as yet undefined substrate. Induction of LTD decreases their level of phosphorylation by triggering  $Ca^{2+}$  dependent protein phosphatase, while induction of LTP increases their

phosphorylation by triggering Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent protein kinases. These kinases apparently require larger increases in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> for activation than do the phosphatases.

## 1.11. Anatomy of hippocampus

the brains of mammals the hippocampus ľπ is а bilaterally represented structure that appears as a ridge extending into the lateral ventricle. The outer surface of the hippocampus is composed of myelinated fibers arising, in part, from cells of the hippocampus, most of which leave the region through a large efferent pathway, the fornix. The outer coating of the hippocampus is white due to the myelin coating of the axons of which it is made. The outer covering is called the alveus, and fibres in it give rise to the fimbria that, in turn, is continuous with the fornix (Isaacson, 1987). The hippocampal formation can be divided into the Ammon's horn, the dentate gyrus, and subiculum. Based on Golgi preparations, the anatomist Lorente de No divided Ammon's horn into four subfields: CA (Cornu Ammonis) 1 to CA4. More recent evidence strongly supports the view that the CA4 zone belongs to the dentate gyrus (Witter, 1989). From the outer layer to more medial, Ammon's horn contains alveus, and strata oriens,

pyramidale, radiatum, lacunosum and the molecular layer. The dentate gyrus consists of closely packed cells which are called granule cells. These cells have dendritic brushes that extend only in one direction- toward the outer, molecular layer of the gyrus (Isaacson, 1987). The distal part of CA1 borders the subiculum which is distally replaced by the pre- and para subiculum, and the adjacent entorhinal cortex ventrally and retrosplenial cortex dorsally (Witter, 1989; Isaacson, 1987).

### 1.11.1. Intrinsic connectivity of hippocampus

Neuronal input reaches the hippocampus from entorhinal regions, which send a digest or summary of what is in the occurring neocortex and consequently, the environment, to the hippocampal formation. The entorhinal cortex by the perforant pathway has a massive projection predominantly in the dentate gyrus. Projections to Ammon's horn also have been described (Witter, 1989). The granule cells of the dentate gyrus project through their mossy fibres to CA3. Pyramidal cells in CA3 give rise to collateralized axons of which the so-called Schaffercollaterals provide the major input to CA1. From cells in the CA3 area axons leave the hippocampus via the fimbria and fornix, largely terminating in the lateral septal area.

In general, the Schaffer collaterals synapse in the stratum radiatum and stratum oriens with the dendrites of CA1 pyramidal cells. Finally, neuronal output from the CA1 cells exit into the alveus and subsequently into the fornix, also projecting in large part to the septal area and the subicular region (Isaacson, 1987, figure of hippocampus).

### 1.11.2. Hippocampal Slices

Since the demonstration that slices of mammalian CNS tissue were physiologically viable in vitro (Yamamoto and McIlwan, 1966), the hippocampal slice preparation (Skrede and Westgaard, 1971) has been extensively used in neurochemical and electrophysiological experiments. Several aspects of the slice preparation facilitate this type of analysis (Dunwiddie et al., 1983). The lamellar structure of hippocampus (Andersen et al., 1971), with its rather simple three-layered cortex, well-defined input and output pathways makes it a natural choice for a slice preparation (Schwartzkroin, 1987).

Compared with in vivo experiments, in vitro slice models, like hippocampal slices, have advantages: -No interaction of substances with anaesthetics.

- -From a single animal a large number of measurements can be performed simultaneously in different systems (measuring chambers) (saving of animals).
- -Direct visualization of the measured or stimulated brain areas.
- -Possibility of determining true dose-response curves with substance application in the bath.
- -Possibility of substance application both in the bath and also locally with micropipette release.
- -No indirect (peripheral) substance effects, only CNS substance action.

-Very stable intracellular measurement (no movement).

-Technical simplicity and multiplicity.

-Easy changing of extracellular fluid.

Brain slices, like all preparations, have disadvantages and limitations as follows:

Blood-brain barrier no longer present (passive diffusion).
The composition of the perfusion solution does not correspond to that of the natural extracellular medium.
Disconnection of inhibitory and excitatory input and output pathways.

-Trauma and anoxic period of dissection.

-Limitation of tissue life-acute nature of the preparation (Schwartzkroin, 1981,1987; Clark and Wilson, 1992).

METHODS AND MATERIALS

### 2. Methods and materials

## 2.1. Preparation of slices

Male Wistar rats (170-200g) were anaesthetised with urethane (1.3g/Kg I.P.) and decapitated using a Guillotine. The scalps were removed and brains were rapidly taken out and put in ice-cold artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF). The cerebellum was removed and the two cerebral hemispheres were separated with a surgical blade. The hippocampi were carefully pulled out with spatulas and put on the filter paper and cut transversely into 450 µM thick slice using a McIlwain tissue chopper. The slices were then transferred onto another filter paper in a petri dish containing icecold oxygenated ACSF and separated with glass seekers. The petri dish, with slices, was put into the incubation chamber containing an ACSF-saturated atmosphere of 95% 02 and 5% CO2 at room temperature for at least one hour before using. The fluid in the petri dish was adjusted to cover the slices (fiure 2.1.).



Figure 2.1. Anatomy of the hippocampal formation and the placement of the electrodes. (A). The hippocampal formation is enlarged to show the main neuronal elements of structure. (B). Lateral view of the rat brain with parietal and temporal neocortex to expose the hippocampal formation. after orthodromic stimulation of Schaffer collateral fibres in stratum radiatum near the border of CA2-CA3, recordings were made in the CA1 pyramidal cell layer or the stratum radiatum for population spikes (P.S.) or field EPSPs (fEPSP) respectively. Stimulation of the alveus was used to induce antidromic invasion of CA1 cells as shown in (A). Abbreviation for figure: alv.= alveus; D.G= dentate gyrus; ento.= entorhinal area; fim.= fimbria; mf.= mossy fibres; pp.= perforant path; sch.= Schaffer-collaterals; mm= millimeter. (Revised from Andersen et al., 1971).

#### 2.2. Bathing medium

The formula of the bathing medium, artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF), was as follows (mM): NaCl 115;  $KH_2PO_4$  2.2; KCl 2.0;  $MgCl_2$  1.2;  $CaCl_2$  2.5;  $NaHCO_3$  25 and glucose 10.

In some antidromic experiments, calcium was omitted and  $MgCl_2$  was raised from 1.2 to 4 mM (calcium-free high magnesium).

## 2.3. Bath superfusion and application of drugs

Individual slices were then transferred using a fine brush to a 1ml capacity recording chamber and superfused with ACSF at  $30^{\circ}$ C  $\pm$  0.5, gassed with O2/CO2 mixture to yield a pH of 7.4. The slices were completely submerged in the medium which was perfused continuously from a gravity feed at a rate of 4 ml/min.

In some experiments adenosine was applied locally to the somatic or dendritic region of pyramidal cells using pressure ejection from glass micropipettes (8-10  $\mu$ M tip diameter), containing agent solution. In this set of experiments an attempt was made to maintain the fluid layer covering the slice as thin as possible.
### 2.4. Recording electrodes

for recording The electrodes were made from borosilicate glass tubing containing a glass capillary fibre for easy filling. The tubing, with characteristics of 1 mm internal diameter and 2 mm external (GC 200 F), was purchased from Clark Electromedical Instruments, U.K.. With a Kopf vertical electrode puller the electrodes were pulled and separated to yield two sharp tip electrodes. Under microscopic vision, the tips of the electrodes were broken with a glass probe to provide a tip diameter 2-4  $\mu$ m. The electrodes were filled with 2 M sodium chloride via a syringe bearing a 0.2 µm syringe filter.

## 2.5. Recording and stimulation

After orthodromic stimulation of Schaffer collateral fibres in stratum radiatum near the border of CA2-CA3, recordings were made in the CA1 pyramidal cell layer or the stratum radiatum for population spikes or field EPSPs (fEPSPs) respectively. Stimulation of the alveus was used to induce antidromic invasion of CA1 cells by a bipolar electrode (figure 2.2.). Pulses of 0.1 ms duration and 100-500  $\mu$ A amplitude were delivered every 100 seconds (0.01 Hz).

The slices were maintained in the perfusion chamber for 15 minutes before proceeding with any further experimentation. In long-term depression experiments, only slices exhibiting orthodromic potentials of between 9 and 12 mv were used for drug applications. Other slices were discarded.

For orthodromic fEPSPs the duration of the stimulus was decreased to  $20-50~\mu$ s. Recordings were made with  $2-4~\mu$ m diameter glass microelectrodes containing 2 M NaCl. The recorded signals were amplified by a Neurolog amplifier and displayed on a Gould storage oscilloscope and then plotted on a thermosensitive chart recorder.

The orthodromic population spikes (P.S.), fEPSPs and also secondary spikes (S.S.) after antidromic stimulation were reduced to 75% to avoid supramaximal stimulation.



Figure 2.2. Demonstration and measurement of orthodromic and antidromic potentials evoked in the CA1 region. Antidromic potentials are demonstrated in (A) normal ACSF and in (B) the presence of convulsant agents or media. Explanations of each part of the evoked potentials are as follows:

1) Stimulus artifact;

2) Presynaptic fibres volley potential that reflects the compound action potential travelling in the stratum radiatum towards CA1;

3) The population excitatory postsynaptic potential or reflects the depolarization of dendrites by the synaptically released transmitter;

4) The population spike is a negative going spike-like potential by the pyramidal neurones once the EPSP has depolarized the cells to threshold

5) The first antidromic spikes which reflect the compound action potential from axon to soma and initial depolarisation of the soma;

6) Secondary spikes that reflect firing of cell bodies;

7) Amplitude of population spikes, fEPSP or secondary spikes.

## 2.6. Extracellular techniques

With extracellular measurements on individual neurones or neuron group it is possible to measure the spontaneous discharge rate of these cells. Optimum working conditions without external interference (e.g. mains and mains-borne achieved signals) is using a Faraday cage. If the excitatory fibres in the hippocampus are stimulated electrically and the evoked potentials measured in the region of the dendritic ending, the initial component of the response is a pre-synaptic fibres spike which is actually a summated action potential derived from axons and nerve endings. Directly following the fibre spike is the field EPSP (excitatory post-synaptic potential) response which is considered to mirror the population spike response measured in the cell body layer and is generated by the synchronous activation of a large neurone group.

If the axons of the neurons under investigation are stimulated electrically it is possible to measure the socalled antidromic population spike. It differs from the orthodromic population spike in that this response cannot be influenced by substances which have an effect on synaptic transmission. There are also many cases where the antidromic population spike is not modified by substances affecting the excitability of the neurones.

## 2.7. Analysis of drug effects

The size of the population spike following orthodromic stimulation and the size of the first and secondary spikes following antidromic stimulation were measured as the peak to peak amplitude. The size of fEPSPs was measured between the negative going peak and the base line of stimulation (figure 2.2.).

Results were considered as percentage of change of the potential size by drug compared with control size. The size of evoked potential in the absence of any agents is considered as zero percent change in potential size.

### 2.8. Statistical analysis

Results are presented as mean  $\% \pm$  s.e.m (standard error of the mean) for n experiments, and the statistical significance of any difference assessed by a paired Student's t-test. For multiple comparisons an analysis of variance (one way), ANOVA, with post test of Tukey-Kramer were used. Differences were considered significant with P $\leq 0.05$  or as otherwise mentioned.

### 2.8. Chemical agents

ACSF were of Analar Constituents of grade and purchased from BDH Chemicals Ltd. UK. Chemical agents generally were purchased from Sigma Chemical Co, UK, except 8-cyclopentyl-1, 3-dimethylxanthine for (8cyclopentyltheophylline; CPT), bicuculline methobromide,  $L(+)-2-amino-3-phosphonopropionic acid [L(+)-AP3], (\pm)-2$ amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid (2-AP5), (1S,3R) ACPD and quisqualic acid which were purchased from RBI. Veratrine was provided from B.D.H.

8-cyclopentylthyeophylline (CPT) was dissolved in sodium hydroxide. The buffering capacity of the ACSF ensured that the final pH of the perfusing medium was restored to pH 7.4.

Veratrine, calcium ionophore A23187, alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one were dissolved in ethanol. The concentration of ethanol in all experiments was less than 0.01 %v/v and ethanol at this dilution did not show any effect by itself. In other cases the vehicle was the superfusing medium such as ACSF or ACSF without calcium.

## Interaction between adenosine and $GABA_A$ receptors on hippocampal neurones

### 3.1. INTRODUCTION

Adenosine is known to act as a general inhibitory modulator of synaptic transmission and neuronal activity in the peripheral and central nervous systems (Haas and Greene, 1988; Schubert, 1988; Stone, 1089; Stone and Simmonds, 1991). The nucleoside is able to inhibit activity via receptors located on both presynaptic and postsynaptic sites. At the former, adenosine reduces the release of a number of neurotransmitters including glutamate (Corradetti et al., 1984; Fastbom and Fredholm, 1985), acetylcholine (Spigonoli et al., 1984), 5-hydroxytryptamine (Feuerstein et al., 1985) and dopamine (Michaelis et al., 1979), an effect which is thought to be mediated either by a reduction of calcium influx into synaptic terminals or by a suppression of intracellular calcium availability to the exocytotic release process (Silinsky, 1986; Schubert, 1988).

The postsynaptic actions of adenosine include the ability to hyperpolarise neurones. In several studies evidence has been obtained that this is achieved primarily by the activation of potassium conductances, both in hippocampal and striatal neurones (Trussel and Jackson, 1987; Li and Henry, 1992; Thompson et al., 1992).

In the CNS, the type of potassium channel activated by adenosine is unclear. Barium can block the adenosineactivated potassium conductance in the rat hippocampus (Thompson and Gahwiler, 1992) but barium is a non-selective potassium channel and can block several  $K^{\dagger}$  currents such as  $I_{K}$ ,  $I_{KATP}$  and  $I_{W}$  (Cook, 1988; Quayle et al., 1988). Most recently, it has been reported that adenosine-induced hyperpolarisation is depressed by glibenclamide, a blocker of ATP-sensitive  $K^{\dagger}$  channels, in rat CA1 neurones (Li and Henry, 1992).

GABA is one of the most important inhibitory neurotransmitters in the central nervous system (Krnjevic, 1974, 1987; Sivilotti and Nistri, 1991) and its receptors have been classified into two types. GABA, receptors are located predominantly on the postsynaptic membranes of supraspinal neurones, and usually mediate a bicucullinesensitive hyperpolarisation resulting from an increase of chloride conductance (McCormic, 1989; Sivilotti and Nistri, 1991). The GABA<sub>R</sub> receptors, in contrast, are located pre-and postsynaptically and induce inhibition of transmitter release and hyperpolarisation mediated by potassium channels (Thompson and Gähwiler, 1992; Deisz et al., 1993).

Recent evidence has indicated that, besides acting on potassium currents, adenosine may also affect chloride movements in hippocampal neurones (Mager et al., 1990, 1995). The present study was therefore designed to examine the effect of adenosine alone, and in combination with the GABA, agonist muscimol, on evoked potentials in rat hippocampal slices in the presence of barium and tolbutamide , a  $K_{ATP}$  blocker to remove the influence of adenosine or GABA effects mediated through potassium channels (Li and Henry et al., 1992; Thompson and Gähwiler, 1992; Thompson et al., 1992).

The objective of this part of the project was to determine whether adenosine had activity at chloride channels which would be apparent at the level of population potentials.

### 3.2. RESULTS

3.2.1. Effect of adenosine on orthodromic population spikes Adenosine concentration-dependently abolished or reduced the amplitude of the population spike (P.S.) of orthodromic CA1 field potentials. A concentration-response curve for this effect is shown in figure 3.1. The depressant effect of adenosine was readily reversible and washed out in about 5 minutes. The threshold concentration for adenosine was 1  $\mu$ M and 20  $\mu$ M abolished the population spikes. Tachyphylaxis or refractoriness was not seen with repeated treatment of adenosine. Adenosine had no effect on the presynaptic fibre volley.

## 3.2.2. Effect of adenosine on orthodromic population spikes in the presence of barium 1 mM

In order to exclude the involvement of potassium channels, and to isolate possible effects on chloride channels, most experiments were performed in the presence of barium, 1 mM. In the presence of this concentration of barium, the concentration-response curve to adenosine was displaced to the right (figure 3.2.). Responses to adenosine at 2  $\mu$ M were completely blocked by barium and this submaximal concentration was selected for use in the combination experiments described below.



Figure 3.1. Concentration-response curve for the depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spike (P.S.) by adenosine. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=6 experiments. A paired t test was employed to determine the

significance level (<sup>\*</sup>P≤0.05; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).



Figure 3.2. Concentration-response curves for the depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spike (P.S.) by adenosine ( $\forall$ ) and adenosine+barium 1 mM ( $\forall$ ). Each point represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 6 experiments.

3.2.3. Effect of barium and 8-cyclopentyl-1,3dimethylxanthine (CPT) on orthodromic population spikes

The inclusion of barium itself in the perfusion medium increased the size of the population spikes by 27.36%  $\pm$ 0.87 (mean  $\pm$  s.e.m., P  $\leq$  0.001, n = 5)(figure 3.3.). Superfusion of slices with 8-cyclopentyl-1,3dimethylxanthine (CPT) at 100 nM, resulted in an increase of population potential by about 10% (figure 3.3.). Barium alone produced an increase of 27%, but the combined application of barium and CPT yielded an increase of only 9.56%  $\pm$  0.46, a change which was significantly different from control potentials (P  $\leq$  0.001, n = 5) but not different from CPT alone.

## 3.2.4. Effect of baclofen and CPT on population spikes

Baclofen concentration-dependently decreased the size of population spikes evoked in the CA1 region by orthodromic stimulation (figure 3.4.). The maximum effect was observed at 4  $\mu$ M which abolished the potential completely. The effects of this GABA<sub>B</sub> agonist were fully developed in less 10 minutes and recovery from a single concentration on washout occurred in a similar time.

Baclofen, like adenosine, had no effect on the presynaptic fibre volley. However, the potency of baclofen on reduction of orthodromic potentials was much greater than adenosine.

CPT, an adenosine  $A_1$  receptor antagonist, decreased the inhibitory effect of baclofen 4  $\mu$ M on population spikes to 72.75 ± 2.287 (P ≤ 0.001, n=4)(figure 3.5).



Figure 3.3. Increase of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by CPT 100 nM, barium 1 mM and barium 1mM + CPT 100 nM. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=5. A paired t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P  $\leq$  0.001). The horizontal line in this and subsequent figures indicates the level of significance between columns.



Figure 3.4. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by baclofen. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=4. A paired t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).



Figure 3.5. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by baclofen 4  $\mu$ M , CPT 100 nM and baclofen 4  $\mu$ M + CPT 100 nM. Each vertical bar represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n=4. A paired t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*</sup>P≤0.05; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).

# 3.2.5. Interaction of adenosine and barium on orthodromic field EPSPs

The population EPSP recorded in stratum radiatum was also reduced by adenosine. At 20  $\mu$ M adenosine the potentials were reduced by 39.92% ± 2.77(P ≤ 0.001, n = 5) while in the presence of barium the reduction was 41% ± 3.85 (not different from adenosine alone (n=5) (figure 3.6.). Since barium itself tended to increase the size of the potential, the combination with adenosine was tested with and without any adjustment of the stimulation current to restore the potential size in barium to control size. In neither case did barium modify the sensitivity of the EPSP to adenosine (figure 3.6.).

### 3.2.6. Effect of muscimol on population spikes

Muscimol induced a concentration-dependent reduction in the amplitude of orthodromic population potentials. The maximum effect was seen at a concentration of 10  $\mu$ M. The effects of muscimol were fully developed in less than 10 minutes and no desensitization was noted with different concentrations of muscimol(figure 3.7.).



Figure 3.6. Depression of population EPSP size by adenosine 20  $\mu$ M (Ad) and adenosine 20  $\mu$ M + barium 1 mM. The second column indicates the effect of adenosine in the presence of barium when the stimulus strength was reduced to negate the increase of EPSP size produced by barium and thus restore the control potential size to that in the absence of barium. The third column indicates the adenosine response when the stimulus strength was not adjusted. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 5. A one-way analysis of variance test and multiple Tukey-Kramer comparisons test were employed to determine the significance level (\*P≤0.05,\*\*\*P≤0.001).



Log Muscimol(M)

Figure 3.7. Concentration-response curve for the depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P.S.) by muscimol. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=5.

## 3.2.7. Interaction of adenosine and muscimol on population spikes

A submaximal concentration of 1  $\mu$ M was selected for combination experiments. When this concentration of muscimol was combined with a series of concentrations of adenosine (figure 3.8.), the depression of the population potentials in the presence of both agents was significantly greater (P  $\leq$  0.05) at each adenosine concentration than the predicted additive response (figure 3.8.).

## 3.2.8. Effect of CPT on potentiative interaction between adenosine and muscimol in the presence of barium

It was found that CPT at 100 nM would antagonise completely responses to adenosine, 2 µM, without any effect upon responses to muscimol, 1  $\mu$ M. Similarly, inclusion of barium at 1 mM blocked fully the response to adenosine but had no effect whatever on sensitivity to muscimol (figure 3.9., 3.10.). However, when adenosine, 2  $\mu$ M was combined with muscimol, 1  $\mu$ M in the presence of barium, a very marked potentiation was seen leading to a doubling of response size (figure 3.9., 3.10.). The additional inclusion of CPT then restored this response to that observed in the presence of muscimol alone. indicating that the involved activation of potentiation the adenosine receptors.



Figure 3.8. Concentration-response curves for the depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P.S.) by different concentrations of adenosine and adenosine + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 5.



Figure 3.9 Histogram showing depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M (Ad), adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + CPT 100 nM, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + Ba 1 mM, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + Ba 1 mM, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M+muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + Ba 1 mM and adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + Ba 1 mM + CPT 100 nM. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$ s.e.m. for n=5. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons test were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P≤0.01;<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).





## 3.2.9. Effect of adenosine and muscimol on orthodromic field EPSPs

In separate experiments the effect of combined applications of adenosine and muscimol were studied on the presynaptic terminals. Adenosine at 10 or 20  $\mu$ M produced a submaximal depression of the amplitude of population EPSPs. Muscimol at 1 or 2  $\mu$ M had no significant effect of its own on these potentials and did not modify the responses to adenosine (figure 3.11.).

## 3.2.10. Interaction of somatic or dendritic application of adenosine and muscimol in the presence of barium

Adenosine was effective in reducing orthodromic potentials either at the soma region or in the dendritic tree, whereas muscimol was only effective in the soma region at 1 and 2  $\mu$ M concentrations. No significant interaction was observed between adenosine and muscimol in the dendritic area.

However, in the presence of barium 1 mM, a significant positive interaction between adenosine 2  $\mu$ M and muscimol 1  $\mu$ M was seen when they were applied in the somatic region (figure 3.12.,3.13.).



Figure 3.11. Depression of the field EPSP by adenosine 10  $\mu$ M, adenosine 20  $\mu$ M, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M, muscimol 2  $\mu$ M, adenosine 10  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M and adenosine 20  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons test were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).



Figure 3.12. Histogram showing the effect of dendritic local microinjection of adenosine and muscimol on orthodromic population spikes. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=4. A paired t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).









Barium Control

Figure 3.13. Histogram showing the effect of somatic local microinjection of adenosine and muscimol in the presence of barium 1 mM on orthodromic population spikes. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=4. A paired t test employed determine was to the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).

3.2.11. Effect of 4,4'-diisothiocyanotostilbene-

2,2'disulfonic acid on potentiative interaction between adenosine and muscimol

During superfusion with the chloride channel blocker 4,4'-diisothiocyanatostilbene-2,2-disulfonic acid (DIDS) at 100  $\mu$ M, population spike size was increased slightly, but significantly, by 6.28% ± 0.38 (P ≤ 0.001, n = 5). In addition, DIDS proved able to reduce significantly the depressant effects of adenosine, 2 or 5  $\mu$ M (figure 3.14.), and block the inhibitory effect of muscimol, 1 or 2  $\mu$ M on population spike size (figure 3.15.).

In order to determine whether the action of adenosine could be accounted for entirely in terms of the blockade of barium-sensitive potassium current and DIDS-sensitive chloride channels, the effect of combining these was examined. At a concentration of 10  $\mu$ M adenosine, which induced approximately 50 % inhibition of population potential size, the combination of barium 1 mM and DIDS 100  $\mu$ M was significantly more effective than either agent alone in antagonising adenosine; adenosine responses were reduced by about 70 % compared with responses in barium alone (figure 3.16.). However, a residual sensitivity to adenosine was clearly present. When the concentration of

adenosine used was almost maximal, 20  $\mu$ M, the additional presence of DIDS caused less inhibition, around 45 %, and the residual response to adenosine was correspondingly greater (figure 3.16.). The sequence of combinations reported above was therefore repeated on a different set of slices, but with the addition of a combination with DIDS. As above, barium blocked responses to adenosine, but not muscimol, and a potentiation was then obtained with adenosine and muscimol in the presence of barium, yielding here an inhibition of population potential of 30.85%  $\pm$  0.5. The addition of DIDS now abolished this potentiation and reduced the degree of inhibition of the combination by about 60 % (n=4) (figure 3.16.,3.17.,3.18.).



Figure 3.14. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by different concentrations of adenosine alone and in the presence of DIDS 100  $\mu$ M. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons test were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).



Figure 3.15. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by different concentrations of muscimol alone and in the presence of DIDS 100  $\mu$ M. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons test were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P  $\leq$  0.01; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P  $\leq$  0.001).







Figure 3.17. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M, muscimol 1 μM. adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + Ba 1 mM, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + Ba 1 mM. adenosine 2  $\mu$ M+muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + Ba 1 mM and adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + Ba 1 mM + DIDS 100  $\mu$ M. The data are taken from a different set of experiments to those summarised in Fig.3.9. Except for the first 2 columns, the changes of were measured with respect to potential size their amplitude in 1 mM barium. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4. The letters below the columns refer to the sample records illustrated in Fig.3.18. A oneway analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons were employed to determine test the significance level ( ${}^{**}P \le 0.01$ ;  ${}^{***}P \le 0.001$ ).




# 3.2.12. Interaction of adenosine and tolbutamide on orthodromic population spikes

Adenosine at 2, 5 and 10  $\mu$ M reduced the amplitude of orthodromic population spikes by 12.75% ± 1.11 (P≤0.001, n=4), 28.50% ± 1.44 (P≤0.001, n=4) and 55.25% ± 2.29 (P≤0.001, n=4) respectively. Tolbutamide 1 mM alone increased the population spikes by 12.13% ± 1.39 (P≤0.01, n=4). This effect was seen in less than 10 minutes. The inhibitory effect of adenosine 2  $\mu$ M was completely blocked by tolbutamide 1 mM. In addition to this, tolbutamide 1 mM significantly decreased the effect of adenosine 5 and 10  $\mu$ M to 22.38% ± 1.40 (P≤0.05, n=4) and 37.50% ± 2.60 (P≤0.01, n=4)(figure 3.19.).

# 3.2.13. Interaction of adenosine and tolbutamide on orthodromic field EPSPs

The inhibitory effect of adenosine was less on fEPSP size than population spike size. However, tolbutamide 1 mM did not affect this presynaptic effect of adenosine. Tolbutamide alone increased the size of field EPSP by 6.03% ± 1.61 (P≤0.05, n=4)(figure 3.20.).



Figure 3.19. Histogram showing the effect of adenosine and tolbutamide on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4. A paired t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P \le 0.01; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P \le 0.001).



0

-10

Figure 3.20. Histogram showing the effect of adenosine and tolbutamide on orthodromically evoked CA1 field EPSPs. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4. A paired t test was employed to determine the significance level ( ${}^{\dagger}P \le 0.05$ ;  ${}^{\ddagger \ddagger \ddagger}P \le 0.001$ ).

# 3.2.14. Interaction of adenosine and muscimol in the presence of tolbutamide 1 mM

Adenosine 2  $\mu$ M and muscimol 1  $\mu$ M reduced the amplitude of orthodromic population spikes by 12.75% ± 1.10 (P≤0.001, n=4) and 13.375% ± 1.02 (P≤0.001, n=4) respectively. In the presence of tolbutamide 1 mM, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M had no significant effect on the population spike size, whereas muscimol reduced the spike size by 13.5% ± 0.64 (P≤0.001, n=4).

Combination of adenosine 2  $\mu$ M and muscimol 1  $\mu$ M in the presence of tolbutamide showed a potentiative interaction and reduced the spike size by 29.5% ± 1.848 (P≤0.001, n=4) (figure 3.21.).

#### 3.2.15. Antidromic extracellular recording

It should be mentioned that the initial protocol to exclude potassium channels of adenosine and to show the possible residual effect of adenosine at the postsynaptic site, was to employ the antidromic extracellular technique. However, barium showed calcium-mimitic features on antidromic spikes and abolished them in less than three minutes. Because of this effect of barium in the antidromic

technique, the initial protocol was changed to the orthodromic technique.

## 3.2.16. Effect of adenosine on antidromic bursts induced in calcium-free medium with added magnesium (4 mM)

Adenosine concentration-dependently decreased or abolished secondary spikes in calcium-free high magnesium (4 mM) (figure 3.22.). Adenosine at a concentration of 20  $\mu$ M, (the same concentration that abolished the orthodromic population spikes in normal ACSF) completely abolished the antidromic bursts in calcium-free medium high magnesium (figure 3.22.,3.23.).



Tolbutamide 1 mM Control

Figure 3.21. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + tolbutamide 1 mM, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + tolbutamide 1 mM and adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + tolbutamide 1 mM. Except for the first 2 columns, the changes of potential size were measured with respect to their amplitude in 1 mM tolbutamide. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons test were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P  $\leq$ 0.001).



Figure 3.22. concentration-response curve for the effect of adenosine on antidromically induced secondary spikes (S.S.) in calcium-free media containing 4 mM magnesium. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=4. A paired t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P≤0.01; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).





#### 3.3. DISCUSSION

## 3.3.1. Interaction of adenosine and muscimol in the presence of barium

The results indicate that barium at a concentration of 1 mM can block the inhibitory effect of adenosine on population spike potentials in the hippocampus, without altering inhibition of the population synaptic potential (EPSP) evoked by stimulation of the Schaffer collateral and commissural axons in stratum radiatum. This is entirely consistent with recent evidence from intracellular recordings that barium will block the postsynaptic, but not the presynaptic, effects of adenosine (Thompson and Gähwiler, 1992; Thompson et al., 1992).

The failure of barium to modify responses to muscimol emphasises the relative selectivity of barium for cation channels operated by adenosine, rather than channels associated with GABA, receptors.

When applied alone, barium also increased the amplitude of the orthodromically evoked population potentials, a finding which may reflect the blockade of potassium channels involved in transmitter mediated tonic inhibition of postsynaptic excitability. A contribution of endogenous

adenosine to this background inhibition was suggested by the finding that CPT also increased the population spikes (Bauman et al., 1992; Gribkoff and Bauman, 1992), an effect which probably results from the blockade of adenosine receptors at both presynaptic and postsynaptic sites. A component of the increased baseline size in barium could be due to a release of endogenous excitatory amino acids (McMahon and Nicholls, 1993).

The greater effect of barium (compared with CPT) on baseline potential size may reflect some blockade of channels associated with other tonically active receptors, such as GABA, or acetylcholine. Nevertheless, it might be expected that superfusion of slices with a mixture of barium and CPT would increase potential size to at least an additive degree. However, the combined effect was no obtained with CPT alone, than that and greater was substantially less than that obtained with barium alone but CPT proved able to decrease the inhibitory effect of baclofen as well. One possibility is that, CPT besides blocking the effect of adenosine, can block the other potassium channels. Thus, after application of CPT, there are no potassium channels to be affected by barium. Alternatively, since divalent cations are known to modulate binding to  $A_1$  adenosine receptors, barium may be preventing the binding of CPT to receptors.

The major finding of this study was the observation that adenosine, in the presence of a sufficient concentration of barium to block fully responses to the purine alone at 2  $\mu$ M, could markedly potentiate responses to muscimol, the combined response being approximately 100% greater than to muscimol alone.

The involvement of  $A_1$  adenosine receptors in this potentiation was confirmed by the ability of CPT, а selective antagonist at  $A_1$  receptors, to prevent the potentiation and restore the effect of the combination to that of muscimol alone. The implication of these findings is that there is a population of adenosine receptors which is able to potentiate the activation of GABA, receptors, but which is not coupled to barium-sensitive potassium channels. It should be emphasized that the potentiative interaction between adenosine and muscimol appears to be confined to the postsynaptic membrane. No interaction between adenosine and muscimol 1 and 2  $\mu$ M was observed when these were tested on population EPSPs as a reflection of their activity at presynaptic receptors. Furthermore, microinjection experiments confirm that muscimol, at concentrations which were applied in this study, has no effect in the dendritic tree, whereas it has a significant inhibitory effect on the somatic region. This finding is

consistent with the previous experiment which indicates that the interaction of adenosine and muscimol occurs at the postsynaptic site.

The chloride channel blocker DIDS was able to reduce the inhibitory activity of muscimol, consistent with the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors generally accepted view that induce hyperpolarisation primarily by opening chloride channels (Bormann, 1988). The same concentration of DIDS, however, also proved able to prevent the inhibitory activity of adenosine. This reduction of responses to adenosine by DIDS strongly supports the view that adenosine can exert part of inhibitory activity on postsynaptic neurones its by enhancing chloride fluxes. This idea arose initially from observations that chloride channel blockers could interfere with the change of calcium movement induced by purines or xanthines in hippocampal slices (Mager et al., 1990), although effects of purines on chloride movements have been reported in other tissues, such as airway epithelial cells (Rugolo et al., 1993).

When a combination of barium and DIDS was present the suppression of adenosine responses was, as expected, significantly greater than with either channel blocker alone. However, a residual response was seen with adenosine

which was proportionately greater at a higher concentration. This may indicate that higher concentrations can also activate populations of barium-insensitive or DIDS insensitive channels.

The results further indicate that the potassiumindependent potentiation noted with the combination of adenosine and muscimol in the presence of barium is partly mediated by chloride channels, since the potentiated response was reduced by more than 60% following the addition of DIDS.

These data do not allow any definitive statement of the relationship between muscimol and adenosine activated chloride channels. However, since a combination of the two agents produced a potentiated effect on inhibition, it is possible that two distinct populations of channels are involved.

# 3.3.2. Interaction of adenosine and muscimol in the presence of tolbutamide

ATP-sensitive potassium channels constitute a new class of potassium channels that link membrane potentials to the bioenergetic status of the cell. An increase in the

intracellular concentration of ATP tends to close this and produce depolarisation (Bernardi channel and Lazdunski, 1993). In pancreatic cells, where channel function is relatively well understood, depolarisation induced by elevated ATP levels, subsequent to glucose metabolism, opens voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels to release insulin. Sulphonylurea compounds, such as tolbutamide or glibenclamide, can block this potassium channel and trigger insulin release (Gopalakrishnan et al., 1993). The existence of sulphonylurea binding sites associated with ATP-sensitive K channels have been shown in the hippocampus and other parts of brain (Mourre et al., 1989).

Hypoglycaemia or hypoxia in CNS can activate  $K_{ATP}$  as a neuroprotective mechanism of neuronal cells. For example during anoxia, when cellular levels of ATP decline, these channels are activated and can block glutamate release (Zini et al., 1993).

The results indicate  $K_{ATP}$  channel involvement in the postsynaptic effect of adenosine and are consistent with a report that an inhibitory postsynaptic potential in spinal nociceptive neurones, apparently mediated by adenosine, was blocked by glibenclamide (Salter et al., 1993). The present result is also consistent with the block of adenosine-

induced hyperpolarisation by glibenclamide in the hippocampus (Li and Henry, 1992). The fact that tolbutamide had no effect on the presynaptic action of adenosine may indicate a totally different mechanism for the pre- and postsynaptic effects. The possible existence of different types of potassium channels activated by adenosine at preand postsynaptic sites cannot be excluded.

The results show that tolbutamide, at a concentration of 1 mM, like barium can block the inhibitory effect of adenosine 2  $\mu$ M on population spike potentials, whereas it is not able to modify responses to muscimol, suggesting the selectivity of tolbutamide for adenosine-activated potassium channels, rather than channels associated with GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors.

Similar to the barium experiments, it was observed that adenosine, in the presence of a sufficient concentration of tolbutamide to block fully responses to purine alone at 2  $\mu$ M, could markedly enhance responses to muscimol, the combined response being approximately 100% greater than to muscimol.

102.

The interaction demonstrated here may help to explain the interactions which have been reported or postulated between purines and benzodiazepines in the CNS (Phillis, 1979; Phillis et al., 1979; Sierralta and Miranda, 1993). They may also explain the observation that the systemic administration of the A<sub>1</sub> selective agonist 2-chloro-N6cyclopentyladenosine induces a 44% increase in the binding affinity of the chloride channe1 ligand tbutylbicyclophosphorothionate (TBPS) in mouse neocortex (Concas et al., 1993). This effect was prevented by 1,3dipropyl-8-cyclopentylxanthine, supporting a role for  $A_1$ receptors.

In summary, this study has revealed that the activation of DIDS-sensitive chloride channels on hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurones contributes to the inhibitory effect of adenosine on population evoked potentials. This activity can lead to a potentiation of responses to GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor activation. Adenosine's activation of chloride channels may thus contribute both directly and indirectly to the overall control of neuronal excitability.

### Potentiation by neurosteroids of muscimol/adenosine interaction in rat hippocampus

#### 4.1. Introduction

GABA is an inhibitory neurotransmitter which is abundant in the vertebrate central nervous system (Sivilotti and Nistri, 1991; Veenmaan and Reiner, 1994). There is abundant evidence in favour of this hypothesis, including the presence of specialized neurons that synthesize, contain and release GABA; physiological actions of GABA mimic those of electrical activation of local circuit interneurons and inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSPs) can be blocked by selective GABA antagonists (Iversen et al., 1971; Avoli, 1986; Connors et al., 1988).

distinct GABA receptors At least two have been identified, classified as GABA, and GABA, (Bormann, 1988). The GABA<sub>B</sub> receptor subtype is linked to  $K^{+}$  or Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels by second messenger systems which induce GTP binding activation of GABA<sub>R</sub> receptors proteins. The inhibits transmitter release presynaptically or hyperpolarises neurons, postsynaptically (Deisz et al; Kuriyma et al., 1993). Synaptically released GABA binds to GABA, receptors in the post synaptic membrane and causes an increase in Cl conductance and hyperpolarises the cells (Bormann et al., 1987).

The GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor complex consists of several polypeptide subunits which form a hetero-oligomeric chloride channel and provide binding sites at least for benzodiazepines, barbiturates, steroids and ethanol (Olsen and Tobin, 1990; Aguyo and Alurcon, 1993).

In 1941 Selye reported the anaesthetic and sedative properties of steroids like progesterone. There are both inhibitory and excitatory steroids that respectively, promote or inhibit GABA activity, at GABA, receptors. Specific brain neurosteroids which are synthesized in glial cells and some synthetic steroids allosterically modulate GABA gated Cl channels. These steroids potentiate both benzodiazepine and muscimol binding whereas, they inhibit the binding οf the convulsant t – butylbicyclophosphorothionate (TBPS). It has been reported that alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one are positive modulators of the GABA, receptors (Harrison and Simmonds, 1984; Cottrell et al., 1987; Harrison et al., 1987; Peters et al., 1988; Turner and Simmonds, 1989). They have been shown to have two distinct action on the GABA, receptors. At low concentrations, they potentiate the GABA, action, while higher concentrations they can directly open the at chloride channel associated with the GABA, receptors (Majewska et al., 1986; Puia et al., 1991).

Adenosine is a potent inhibitor of neuronal activity in the central and peripheral nervous system (Dunwiddie, 1985; Stone, 1985; Nicoll et al., 1990). As a neuromodulator adenosine has a profound depressant action in the central nervous system. The mechanism of adenosine is not fully understood. However, the action of adenosine may be mediated pre- and postsynaptically through receptor mediated mechanisms including effects on second messenger systems, transmembrane ion fluxes and neurotransmitter release (Greene and Haas, 1991; Stone and Simmonds, 1991). Although the mechanism of presynaptic inhibition is not well known, adenosine may inhibit transmitter release by reducing voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> current, activating potassium current or by mechanisms downstream to  $Ca^{2+}$  influx (Greene and Haas, 1991; Thompson et al., 1992). At postsynaptic sites, adenosine and its analogs activate potassium currents (Trussel and Jackson, 1985; Gerber et al., 1989; Thompson et al., 1992).

Adenosine receptors have been categorized into three major subtypes  $(A_1, A_2, A_3)$ , according to their effect on adenylate cyclase and on the basis of agonist structure-activity relations and the use of a range of xanthine and non-xanthine antagonists (Stone, 1985,1991; Vangalen et al., 1992; Gurden et al., 1993). However, some effects of

adenosine may not be mediated by changes in cyclic AMP levels (Scott and Dolphin, 1987).

Adenosine has been shown to have many effects on the CNS, including sedation, anti convulsant action and protection against ischemia (Greene and Haas, 1991). There is growing evidence that besides acting on potassium and calcium currents, adenosine may also affect chloride movement in hippocampus neurons (Mager et al., 1990,1995). In addition to this, several effects of benzodiazepines are antagonized by theophylline and caffeine which are adenosine receptor antagonists (Polc et al., 1981).

It was shown (chapter 3) that the effect of muscimol on population spike size was enhanced by adenosine while the adenosine activated potassium channels were blocked by barium 1 mM or tolbutamide 1 mM. Moreover, DIDS a chloride channels. blocker (Miller and White, 1984) and CPT (cyclopenthyltheophylline) an adenosine A<sub>1</sub> receptor antagonist, decreased this potentiative interaction (Chapter 3).

In this part of the project, the effect of allosteric modulatory steroids was examined on the inhibitory effect of adenosine, muscimol and on the potentiative interaction between adenosine and muscimol.

#### 4.2. Results

Of the various neurosteroids that are positive modulators of GABA, receptors, alphaxalone was selected as a synthetic neurosteroid and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one as an endogenous neurosteroid. Both agents have been shown to potentiate the inhibitory effect of GABA, at  $1 \, \text{ow}$ concentrations, concentrations while at high like barbiturates, they are able to act directly on the GABA, chloride channel.

## 4.2.1. Effect of alphaxalone on orthodromic population spikes

At low concentrations of 0.5 and 1  $\mu$ M alphaxalone had no significant effect on the orthodromic population potential size. Higher concentrations of 3, 5 and 10  $\mu$ M, however, reduced spike size significantly by up to 16% (figure 4.1.).

### 4.2.2. Effect of 5α-pregnan-3α-o1-20-one on orthodromic population spikes

At a low concentration of 0.5  $\mu$ M, 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -ol-20-one had no effect on population spike size. Higher concentrations of 1, 5 and 10  $\mu$ M reduced spike size significantly by up to 23% (figure 4.2).



Figure 4.1. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P.S.) by alphaxalone. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A paired Student's t-test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*</sup>P≤0.05, <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).



Figure 4.2. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P.S.) by  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one (allopregnan). Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$ s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A paired Student's t-test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*</sup>P $\leq 0.05$ , <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P $\leq 0.001$ ).

# 4.2.3. Interaction of alphaxalone and muscimol on orthodromic population spikes

Muscimol 1  $\mu$ M reduced spike size by 13.97% ± 0.65 (P≤0.001, n = 4). Alphaxalone 0.5 and 1  $\mu$ M, concentrations that had no significant effect on the spike size, potentiated the inhibitory effect of muscimol to 20.82% and 32.50%. Although alphaxalone at 5  $\mu$ M exerted a direct inhibition of spike size, it also potentiated the effect of muscimol significantly (figure 4.3.,4.4.).

### 4.2.4. Interaction of $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one and muscimol on orthodromic population spikes

 $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one 0.5 and 1  $\mu$ M potentiated the inhibitory effect of muscimol to 23.50% and 37.18% (figure 4.5.).





Figure 4.3. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P. S.) by muscimol 1  $\mu$ M, alphaxalone and muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + alphaxalone. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A paired Student's t-test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P \le 0.01, <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P \le 0.001).



Figure 4.4. Sample records of orthodromic potentials CA1 taken during experiments with agents used in Fig.4.3.



Figure 4.5. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P. S.) by muscimol 1  $\mu$ M, 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ ol-20-one (allopregnan) and muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + allopregnan. Each vertical bar represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A paired Student's t-test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).

# 4.2.5. Interaction of alphaxalone and adenosine on orthodromic population spikes

Adenosine 2  $\mu$ M reduced the spike amplitude by 12.85% ± 0.53 (P $\leq$ 0.001, n = 4). Alphaxalone at 1  $\mu$ M, a concentration significant effect on the spike without any size inhibitory effect of adenosine potentiated the significantly. The combination of adenosine 2  $\mu$ M and alphaxalone 5  $\mu$ M reduced the spike size by 41.00% ± 1.29  $(P \le 0.001, n = 4)$  (figure 4.6., 4.7.).

In order to exclude the role of adenosine activated potassium channels in these interactions, these experiments were repeated in the presence of barium 1 mM. In the presence of barium, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M became ineffective, whereas alphaxalone 5  $\mu$ M still reduced the spike amplitude by 9% ± 0.37 (P≤0.001, n = 4). The combination of adenosine 2  $\mu$ M with alphaxalone 1 and 5  $\mu$ M in the presence of barium reduced the spike size by 5.90% and 20.13% respectively (figure 4.8.).





Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 Figure 4.6. population spikes (P. S.) by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M, alphaxalone adenosine 2 alphaxalone. Each vertical bar and μM + represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A paired Student's t-test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P≤0.01, <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).



Adenosine 2µM + Alphaxalone 5µM Alphaxalone 1µM Alphaxalone 0.5 Mrd Figure 4.7. Sample records of orthodromic potentials CA1 taken during experiments with agents used in Fig.4.6.



Figure 4.8. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P. S.) by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M, alphaxalone, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + barium 1 mM, alphaxalone + barium 1 mM and adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + alphaxalone + barium 1 mM. Each vertical bar represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons tast were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*</sup>P≤0.05, <sup>\*\*</sup>P≤0.01, <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).

### 4.2.6. Interaction of $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one and adenosine on orthodromic population spikes

 $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one 1 and 5  $\mu$ M potentiated the inhibitory effect of adenosine 2  $\mu$ M significantly (figure 4.9.). In the presence of barium 1 mM  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20one 5  $\mu$ M reduced the population spike size by 10.47% (figure 4.10.). The combination of adenosine 2  $\mu$ M with  $5\alpha$ pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one 1 and 5  $\mu$ M in barium, reduced the spike amplitude by 6.10% and 23.20% respectively approximately double the response size expected from a purely additive interaction (figure 4.10.).



Figure 4.9. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P. S.) by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M, 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ ol-20-one (allopregnan) and adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + allopregnan. Each vertical bar represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A paired Student's t-test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P≤0.01, <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).

	Adenosine 2 uM
	Adenosine 2 uM+Barium 1 mM
	Allopregnan 1 uM+Barium 1 mM
	Allopregnan 5 uM+ Barium 1 mM
	Adenosine 2 uM+Allopregnan 1 uM+Barium 1 mM
1.25	Adenosine 2 uM+Allopregnan 5 uM+Barium 1 mM



Figure 4.10. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P. S.) by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M, 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ ol-20-one (allopregnan), adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + barium 1 mM, allopregnan + bairum 1 mM and adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + allopregnan + barium 1 mM. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$ s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons test were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*</sup>P≤0.05, <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).

### 4.2.7. Effect of combination of adenosine 2 $\mu$ M and muscimol 1 $\mu$ M with alphaxalone in the presence of barium 1 mM

In barium, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M reduced the spike size by 13.32% ± 0.71 (P≤0.001, n = 4) while adenosine 2  $\mu$ M was ineffective. The combination of muscimol 1  $\mu$ M with adenosine 2  $\mu$ M reduced the spike size by 29.73% ± 0.83 (P≤0.001, n=4). This reduction was increased significantly in alphaxalone 1 and 5  $\mu$ M to 39.00% ± 1.29 (P≤0.01, n=4) and 49.50% ± 1.04 (P≤0.001, n=4) (figure 4.11.).

### 4.2.8. Effect of combination of adenosine 2 $\mu$ M and muscimol 1 $\mu$ M with 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -ol-20-one in the presence of barium 1 mM

The combination of adenosine 2  $\mu$ M and muscimol 1  $\mu$ M in barium reduced the spike size by 30.17% ± 0.98 (P≤0.001, n=4). This potentiative interaction was enhanced by 5αpregnan-3α-ol-20-one 1 and 5  $\mu$ M to 40% ± 1.87 (P≤0.05, n=4) and 50.17% ± 3.02 (P≤ 0.01, n=4) respectively (figure 4.12.).

To determine if these neurosteroids potentiate adenosine action directly or through the activating of endogenous GABA, the experiment with adenosine and  $5\alpha$ -
pregnan  $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one was performed in the presence of bicuculline 1  $\mu$ M. Muscimol 1  $\mu$ M has no effect in the presence of bicuculline 1  $\mu$ M and bicuculline 1  $\mu$ M increased the spike size by 11.75% ± 1.18 (P≤0.001, n=4). Agonist responses were therefore measured using the potential size in the presence of bicuculline as the control level.  $5\alpha$ pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one 1 and 5  $\mu$ M did not modify the inhibitory effect of adenosine 5  $\mu$ M in the presence of bicuculline 1  $\mu$ M (figure 4.13.).



Figure 4.11. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P. S.) by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M, alphaxalone, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + barium 1 mM, alphaxalone + barium, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + barium and adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + barium 1 mM. Each vertical bar represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons test were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P \le 0.001, <sup>\*\*</sup>P \le 0.001).



Figure 4.12. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P. S.) by adenosine 2  $\mu$ M, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M,  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one (allopregnan), adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + barium 1 mM, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + barium, adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + bairum and adenosine 2  $\mu$ M + muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + allopregnan + barium 1 mM. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer multiple comparisons tast were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*</sup>P≤0.05, <sup>\*\*</sup>P≤0.01).





Figure 4.13. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P. S.) by adenosine 2, 5 and μΜ, adenosine 5  $\mu M$  + allopregnan + bicuculline 1 μΜ. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A one-way analysis of variance test and Tuky-Kramer comparisons tast were employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).

# 4.3. Discussion

A vast body of evidence shows that certain synthetic and endogenous steroids act as potent modulators at the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor (Cottrell et al., 1987; Puia et al., 1991). The anaesthetic alphaxalone and some reduced metabolites of progesterone like  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one potentiate GABA responses (Harrison and Simmonds, 1984; Harrison et al., 1987). In contrast, pregnenolone sulfate interacts with the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor in an antagonistic manner (Majewska et al., 1986).

Several lines of evidence indicate that the alphaxalone  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one act in a barbiturate-like and fashion at the GABA, receptors (Majewska et al., 1988). The results are in agreement with other reports using electrophysiological methods in the CA1 region of the hippocampus, and confirm that alphaxalone and 5*a*-pregnanlow concentrations 3α-o1-20-one, at that have no significant effect on the population spike size, can GABA, inhibitory effect. At potentiate the higher concentrations they can act on the  $GABA_{k}$  associated chloride channels directly.

The interesting finding of this study was interaction between the alphaxalone,  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one and adenosine. It has previously been shown that, in addition to acting on potassium channels, adenosine can affect chloride channels (chapter 3). One possible explanation of the steroid potentiation of adenosine, therefore, could be that they are acting directly at adenosine-operated chloride channels.

To isolate the possible interaction of alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one with adenosine at the chloride channels, the adenosine activated potassium channels were blocked with barium 1 mM. It has been previously shown barium can block the adenosine potassium channel (Thompson et al., 1992 . Under these conditions, alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one still potentiated the inhibitory effect of adenosine although the effect was less marked than without barium, suggesting that some part of that interaction was due to the adenosine activated potassium channels activity.

To determine if these neurosteroids potentiate adenosine inhibitory effect directly or through the mediation of  $GABA_A$  receptors, the  $GABA_A$  receptor was blocked with bicuculline 1  $\mu$ M. In the presence of

bicuculline, these neurosteroids failed to potentiate the adenosine effect on the population spike size. The results therefore suggest that these neurosteroids potentiate the adenosine indirectly by potentiating endogenous GABA at  $GABA_A$  receptors. On the other hand, the results are consistent with previous reports that showed the chloride channels activated by adenosine to be different from those operated by GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors (Mager et al., 1990,1995).

Collectively, the results indicate that low endogenous concentrations of GABA and adenosine could potentiate each other sufficiently to exert a significant inhibition of neuronal activity in the CNS. Given the capacity of endogenous neurosteroids to potentiate  $GABA_{\lambda}$  receptor activation and thus apparently the GABA/adenosineinteraction, it seems probable that the level of neuronal inhibition will be extremely sensitive to small variations in the concentrations of any of these agents.

In conclusion, the potentiation of the adenosine inhibitory effect in the presence of barium and enhancement of potentiative interaction of adenosine and muscimol by alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one, is a further confirmation for the point mentioned in chapter 3, that some part of the inhibitory effect of adenosine at

postsynaptic sites is due to acting on the chloride channels.

# Induction of a novel form of hippocampal long-term depression by muscimol

# 5.1. Introduction

Synaptic efficacy plays an important role in some aspects of hippocampal memory storage (Nicol et al., 1988; Linden, 1994). According to Hebb's theory of learning, memory and learning are thought to be the processes of stabilising specific neuronal associations by strengthening or weakening synaptic transmission at specific synapses (Hebb, 1949).

As one example of synaptic strengthening, the mechanism of long-term potentiation (LTP) has been studied extensively (Bliss & Lomo, 1973; Bliss & Collingridge, 1993). Although both excitation and inhibition are important in controlling neuronal activity, long-term depression (LTD) remains poorly documented compared to LTP (Stanton & Sejnowski, 1989; Yang & Faber, 1991). Most of the work on LTP and LTD has been performed in the CA1 region of the hippocampus, cerebellar cortex, striatum, nucleus accumbens and neocortex (Levy & Steward, 1979; Ekerot & Kano, 1985; Ito, 1989; Kimura et al., 1989; Stanton & Sejnowski, 1989; Calabresi et al., 1992; Pennartz et al., 1993).

Glutamate is a major transmitter in the vertebrate its receptors central nervous system and have been categorized into two group: Ionotropic and Metabotropic. The ionotropic receptors contain integral, cation-specific ion channels, whereas the metabotropic are coupled to Gproteins and modulate the intracellular second messenger systems (Collingridge and Lester, 1989; Monaghan et al., 1989; Schoepp et al., 1990; Miller, 1991; Nakanishi, 1992). Metabotropic glutamate receptors have been reported to play a critical role in the modulation of different forms of neuronal activity in the hippocampus. It has been shown trans-1-aminocyclopentyl-1,3-dicarboxylic acid (tthat ACPD), selective agonist of metabotropic receptors synaptic transmission in the depressed hippocampus (Garaschuk et al., 1992; Goh & Musgave, 1993). Several studies the involvement of have suggested NMDA and metabotropic receptors or both in long-lasting changes of neuronal activity (LTP and LTD) (Kano and Kato, 1987; Aronidou and Teyler, 1991; Yang and Faber, 1991; Bashir & Collingridge, 1992; Dudek & Bear, 1992; Mulkey & Malenka, 1992; Yang et al., 1994).

A variety of different protocols can be used to induce LTD including those which involve homosynaptic or heterosynaptic pathways. When LTD occurs at inputs whose

activation contributes to the induction of modification, it is known as homosynaptic LTD and when it shows itself at inputs that had been inactive during induction it is referred as heterosynaptic LTD. There are two ways to induce homosynaptic LTD: a) With high frequency stimulation in the neocortex, striatum and nucleus accumbens (Lovinger 1992; Walsh, 1993) et al., b) With low frequency stimulation in the CA1 region of the hippocampus (Bramham & Serbro, 1987; Artola & Singer, 1993; Linden, 1994).

GABA, is a major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the vertebrate central nervous system, and its receptors have been classified into at least two types (Sivilotti & 1991). GABA<sub>R</sub> receptors induce inhibition Nistri. of transmitter release and hyperpolarization mediated by potassium channels, whereas GABA, receptors mediate a bicuculline-sensitive hyperpolarization. Binding to the chloride channel complex causes the opening of the channel and the influx of chloride ions into the neuron (Bormenn, 1989). The influx of chloride ion makes the membrane potential of the postsynaptic cell more negative and usually induces an inhibitory state. The GABA, receptor is believed to be a heterooligomer of 4-5 receptor subunits that makes a central ionic pore and contains certain binding sites at least for GABA, picrotoxin, barbiturates,

benzodiazepines and neurosteroids (Barnard et al., 1987; Delory & Olsen, 1992).

receptors mediate fast synaptic inhibition GABA, activation through the of receptor-linked chloride ionophores (Sivilotti & Nistri, 1991). Certain synthetic and endogenous steroids like alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ ol-20-one have been reported as positive modulators of GABA, receptor (Harrison & Simmonds, 1984; Turner & Simmonds, 1989). They have been shown to have two distinct action on the GABA, receptor. At low concentrations, they potentiate GABA, action, while at higher concentrations they can directly open the chloride channel associated with the GABA, receptor (Majewska et al., 1989; Puia et al., 1991). It has been reported that in the hippocampus low frequency stimulation of Schaffer collateral fibres combined with brief pulses of GABA induced a massive depression of Schaffer collateral-CA1 transmission (homosynaptic longterm depression) (Yang et al., 1994).

The purpose of this part of project was to improve the understanding of the role of  $GABA_A$  receptors in LTD and synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus in comparison with adenosine, which has been well studied as an inhibitory neuromodulator (Stone, 1991), and to compare the receptors

involved with those defined in previous studies by examining the effect of the classical  $GABA_{A}$  receptor modulating steroids. In addition, the second object of this study was to determine the possible involvement of metabotropic and NMDA receptors in the LTD induced by the protocol which is presented in this chapter.

# 5.2. Results

# 5.2.1. A new protocol for induction of LTD

Under normal experimental conditions, when the Schaffer collateral/ commissural fibres were stimulated at а frequency of 0.01 Hz, muscimol induced a concentrationinhibition of the amplitude of the evoked dependent population potential (figure 5.1.). The maximum effect of muscimol was obtained at 10  $\mu$ M. When used at concentrations of 0.1 to 5  $\mu$ M, perfused for 10 minutes, this inhibition readily reversible, and upon washing the slices was potential size was restored to control levels within 10 minutes. When tested at the higher concentration of 10  $\mu$ M, stable, long-lasting depression of however, a the population potential was obtained. The potential remained depressed, with no sign of recovery, for at least 20 minutes after washing, the minimum period of washout investigated. This is illustrated in figure 5.2. Whenever tested, the depression was found to persist for at least 60 minutes after washout.

It was later realised that a similar long-lasting depression could be induced by using the lower concentrations of muscimol applied for longer periods. Thus, a concentrations of 5  $\mu$ M could reliably induce longlasting depression if applied for 20 minutes (figure 5.3.).



Figure 5.1. Concentration-response curves for the depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes (P.S.) by muscimol. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 5.



Figure 5.2. Time course of the effect of adenosine (Ad) and muscimol (Musc) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. The duration of treatment was 10 minutes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.



Figure 5.3. Time course of the effect of adenosine (Ad) and muscimol (Musc) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. The duration of treatment was 20 minutes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.

#### 5.2.2. Reversal of LTD

Once long-term depression had been established, and the inability of washing to reverse it confirmed, the potentials could be restored to control size by delivering stimuli at a rate of 1 Hz for 10 seconds (figure 5.2.,5.3.,5.4.).

#### 5.2.3. Adenosine and LTD

In order to draw a comparison with muscimol, a similar series of experiments was carried out using adenosine. At concentrations of 5, 10 and 20  $\mu$ M, adenosine depressed the size of the population spikes, as reported on many previous occasions (by 24.88% ± 1.33, 48.75% ± 1.4 and 99.25% ± 0.48 respectively; mean ± s.e.m, n = 4, P ≤ 0.001). However, adenosine failed to induce any sign of long-term depression; potentials always recovered to control levels within 5 minutes of washout (figure 5.2.,5.3.). Even at a concentration of 50  $\mu$ M adenosine was not able to induce LTD (figure 5.5.).



Figure 5.4. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments.

5.2.4. Role of stimulation in induction of LTD

In view of the efficacy of 1 Hz stimulation to terminate LTD and restore potential size to control levels, experiments were also conducted to assess the importance of stimulation for the induction of maintained LTD bv muscimol. In these experiments, the normal stimulation was turned off during the application of muscimol. This absence of synaptic activity did not modify the induction of LTD, as illustrated in figure 5.6. In order to confirm the involvement of GABA, receptors in the effect of muscimol, bicuculline methobromide was used as a receptor antagonist. When added to hippocampal slices, however, bicuculline can induce multiple epileptiform bursts of spikes which can complicate interpretation. In these experiments, therefore, LTD was induced by muscimol and bicuculline was then added into the perfusing medium. In each of 4 slices, bicuculline reversed the LTD within 2 minutes. and before the appearance of multiple population spikes (figure 5.7.).



Figure 5.6. Time course of the effect of adenosine (Ad) and muscimol (Mus) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. The duration of treatment was 20 minutes. Second set of application of muscimol 5 and 10 uM has been carried on without stimulation. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments.



Figure 5.7. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Musc) and bicuculline 5  $\mu$ M (Bicu) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.

#### 5.2.5. Neurosteroids and LTD

In order to assess the role of conventional  $GABA_A$  receptors in the induction of LTD, without the need for inducing the neuronal hyperexcitability and spontaneous epileptiform bursting which results from the use of bicuculline or picrotoxin, two neurosteroids were used in an attempt to enhance the effect of activating GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors.

The natural steroid,  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one and the steroidal anaesthetic agent alphaxalone were superfused over the slices at concentrations of 0.5 to 10  $\mu$ M. Neither compound had any effect itself on population potentials at the lower concentrations (0.5 -1  $\mu$ M) but at 5  $\mu$ M or above both were able to depress potential size (chapter 4). Even at the lower concentrations, however, both steroids proved able to potentiate the inhibitory activity of muscimol on population spikes; at 5  $\mu$ M the effect of muscimol was increased almost 4-fold (chapter 4).

Both agents similarly potentiated the ability of muscimol to induce LTD. A normally ineffective concentration of 1  $\mu$ M of the GABA agonist, applied for 10 minutes, for example, was able to induce LTD in the presence of only 1  $\mu$ M

alphaxalone (figure 5.8.) or  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one (figure 5.9.). As for mscimol alone, increasing stimulation frequency to 1 Hz for 10 seconds was sufficient to reverse the LTD and restore potentials to their control size.

.



Figure 5.8. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by muscimol, alphaxalone and muscimol + alphaxalone. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=4 experiments. A paired Student's t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*</sup>P≤0.01; <sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).



Figure 5.9. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by muscimol 1  $\mu$ M, 5a-Pregnan-3a-ol-20-one (allopregnan) and muscimol 1  $\mu$ M + 5a-Pregnan-3a-ol-20-one. Each vertical bar represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A paired Student's t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P≤0.001).

#### 5.2.6. Maintenance of LTD

When we induced LTD by application of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M for 10 minutes, low concentrations of muscimol (0.5 and 1  $\mu$ M), alphaxalone and 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -ol-20-one 1  $\mu$ M were superfused over the slices. Interestingly, muscimol 1  $\mu$ M which is not able to induce LTD alone and positive modulators of  $GABA_{k}$  like alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one in concentrations that can potentiate the inhibitory effect of muscimol, maintained the LTD induced by muscimol 10 uM. Moreover, the delivering of 1 Hz stimulation did not reverse the LTD in this series of experiments. Nevertheless, a lower concentration than 1  $\mu$ M of muscimol was not able to maintain the LTD induced by muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (figure 5.10.,5.11.,5.12.).



Figure 5.10. Time course effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Musc) and alphaxalone on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=4 experiments.



Figure 5.11. Time course effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Musc) and 5 $\alpha$ -pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -ol-20-one (allopregnan) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=4 experiments.



Figure 5.12. Time course effect of muscimol on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n=4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.

# 5.2.7. Antagonists and agonists at glutamate receptors and LTD

the possible involvement of glutamate То examine receptors in the effect of muscimol, experiments were performed using the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonist  $(\pm)$ -2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid (2-AP5; 300  $\mu$ M), the mixed metabotropic and NMDA receptor antagonist  $(\pm)-2$ amino-3-phosphonopropionic acid  $(2-AP3; 200 \mu M)$  and the selective antagonist of metabotropic receptors L(+)-2amino-3-phosphonopropionic acid  $[L(+)-AP3; 150 \mu M]$ . None of these compounds modified the ability of muscimol to induce LTD (figure 5.13., 5.14., 5.15.). Equally, treatment of the slices with the non selective metabotropic receptor agonist quisqualic acid at 10 and 50  $\mu$ M and the selective metabotropic receptor agonist (1S,3R)-ACPD 100 µM did not induce LTD whereas both agents showed inhibitory effects on the population spike size (figure 5.16., 5.17.). In addition to this, kynurenic acid, a broad spectrum antagonist of NMDA and non NMDA receptors (100 and 200  $\mu$ M) did not induce LTD but it prevented termination of LTD by stimulation at 1 Hz (figure 5.18.).



Figure 5.13. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and (±)-2-Amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid 300  $\mu$ M (AP-5) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments.



Figure 5.14. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and (±)-2-Amino-3-phosphonopropionic acid 200  $\mu$ M (AP-3) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments.



Figure 5.15. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and L(+)-2-amino-3-phosphonopropionic acid 150  $\mu$ M [L(+)-AP3] on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.



Figure 5.16. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Musc) and quisqualic acid on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments.


Figure 5.17. Time course of the effect of muscimol (Mu) 10  $\mu$ M and t-(1S,3R)-ACPD 100  $\mu$ M on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.



Figure 5.18. Time course of the effect of muscimol 5  $\mu$ M (Mus) and kynurenic acid (Kyn) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments.

5.3. Discussion.

Long-term depression is an activity dependent form of synaptic plasticity that is accepted as being important in learning and memory since at the cellular level, memories are believed to be stored as long-term modifications in the strength of synaptic transmission. The hippocampus is probably involved in processes such as learning and memory hippocampal slices convenient mode1 and are а for investigating synaptic plasticity.

The present results demonstrate that the application of a selective GABA, agonist to hippocampal slices can induce LTD of synaptically-evoked population potentials when stimulation was effected at a low frequency of 0.01 Hz. Increasing stimulation frequency to 1 Hz abolished the LTD. This stands in contrast to the work of Yang et al (Yang et al., 1994) who observed that LTD could be induced while stimulating at 1 Hz, but is in agreement with the work of other groups which have indicated that low frequency stimulation is more effective in inducing LTD in the in neocortex, striatum hippocampus than or nucleus accumbens (Bramham & Srebro, 1987; Artola & Singer, 1993; Lovinger et al., 1993; Walsh, 1993; Linden, 1994). The most important difference between the protocol which is

presented by this thesis and previous protocols to induce LTD is the fact that the LTD is induced by using 0.01 Hz stimulation and, increasing stimulation to 1 Hz, reversed the LTD whereas other groups induced LTD by using 1-5 Hz stimulation and their low frequencies to induce LTD (1-5 Hz) is actually the frequency to reverse the LTD which is presented by this thesis (Braham and Srebro, 1987; Staulbi and Lynch, 1990). Indeed, in the present work it has been found that muscimol alone is effective in inducing LTD even in the absence of afferent stimulation. This would seem to rule out a possible mechanism for LTD which involves an interaction between GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors and a synaptically released agent or a second messenger molecule released from postsynaptic sites in response to a neurotransmitter.

In the present experiments the apparent desensitisation reported previously during prolonged applications of GABA or  $GABA_A$  agonists was not observed (Forsch et al., 1992; Celentano & Wong, 1994).

It has also been found that the ability of muscimol to produce LTD is dependent on the concentration of muscimol used, and on the duration of application: lower concentrations can be effective if in contact with the slices for a longer period. This would be consistent with

the accumulation of a secondary compound postsynaptically or in the extracellular space, and which must attain a critical level in order to establish LTD.

The application of agonists at GABA<sub>R</sub> receptors has been found to induce LTD. Activation of this receptor population is believed to act via the opening of potassium channels (Deisz et al., 1993), whereas  $GABA_{k}$  receptors are effective mainly as a result of operating chloride conductances (Sivilotti & Nistri, 1991). It is of particular interest, therefore, that adenosine, which is also capable of depressing neuronal excitability partly via the opening of chloride channels (Mager et al., 1990, 1995), was not able induce LTD. Adenosine proved ineffective to at concentrations which were able to substantially inhibit normal orthodromic potentials. This may suggest that GABA, GABA<sub>R</sub> receptor activation involves some form of or transduction system which is not activated indiscriminately by any neuronal inhibitory agent. Furthermore, the results consistent with previous reports that adenosine are operated chloride channels differ from GABA, activated chloride channels (Mager et al., 1990, 1995; Chapter 3 and 4 of this thesis).

The latter section of the present results represent an attempt to determine whether the GABA, receptors causing LTD show the same pharmacological properties as GABA receptors described previously on hippocampal neurones. Several neurosteroids which are synthesized in glial cells are modulate GABA, receptor properties via known to an allosteric site. These steroids at high concentrations, like barbiturates but unlike benzodiazepines, can open chloride channels. The steroidal anaesthetic alphaxalone, and the related compound  $5-\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20-one had no effect themselves upon population spike amplitude at low micromolar concentrations, whereas they were both able, at these same concentrations, to potentiate significantly the depressant activity of muscimol on evoked spikes. At the higher concentrations tested here, 5 and 10 uM, both steroids did have a direct depressant effect on evoked potentials, consistent with evidence that at these levels they can directly open chloride channels (Harrison & Simmonds, 1984; Turner & Simmonds, 1989; Puia et al., 1991). When examined on LTD, both the steroids were able to potentiate the effects of muscimol to the extent that concentrations which had been insufficient to induce LTD did so in the presence of the steroids. As with the LTD observed normally in response to muscimol alone, the LTD

produced by 1 uM muscimol plus steroids was also reversed by increasing the stimulation frequency to 1 Hz.

One of the interesting findings of this study was that the muscimol induced LTD showed features potentially important in a negative memory mechanism. Thus after 10 µM muscimol had induced the application of LTD. superfusion of either muscimol 1  $\mu$ M or alphaxalone and 5 $\alpha$ pregnan-3 $\alpha$ -ol-20-one 1  $\mu$ M, which do not show any effect alone, were able to maintain the LTD. Moreover, delivering 1 Hz stimuli failed to restore the potentials to control size during the application of muscimol 1 μM and neurosteroids.

The significance of such a phenomenon for the whole animal are profound, since they imply that after a simple, brief exposure to a stimulus sufficient to raise inhibitory synaptic activity to a level which can induce a forgetting process, that loss of memory could be maintained by very low levels of tonic inhibition. Furthermore, and possibly even more significantly, the inhibition can be maintained by hormonal means-low levels of neurosteroids - as well as or instead of, synaptic inhibition.

The results thus greatly strengthen the view that forgetting is a physiological process amenable to subtle pharmacological manipulation, and raise the possibility that drugs capable of preventing forgetting may be as feasible as drugs facilitating learning.

The latter section of this study indicates that bicuculline is able to reverse the LTD induced by muscimol and our result is in contrast to the work of Yang et al (Yang et al., 1994) who reported bicuculline could not block LTD induced by muscimol. However, the frequency dependence of the LTD studied by Yang et al. (1994) differs from that of present study. This may suggest that different forms of LTD may occur in the hippocampus, involving distinct populations of receptors. Nevertheless, most recently, Thiels' et al reported a bicuculline-sensitive LTD that is in line with the result of this study (Thiels et al., 1994).

The excitatory amino acid glutamate is a major excitatory transmitter within the central nervous system (CNS)(Collingridge and Lester, 1989). The response to glutamate is mediated by activation of multiple glutamate receptor subtypes and leads to either an ionotropic or a metabotropic response. Of particular interest in recent

years has been the investigation of the role of glutamate in synaptic efficacy. Several groups have recently reported on factors affecting the induction of LTD, although no consensus has emerged as to the minimum conditions necessary or sufficient for the phenomenon. Some proposals include the involvement of NMDA receptors and glutamate metabotropic receptors (or both) in LTD (Kano and Kato, 1987; Aroniadou and Teyler, 1991; Yang and Faber, 1991; Yang et al., 1994). One objective of this study was to determine the possible involvement of glutamate receptors in the protocol which was presented by this thesis. Failure of this study to induce LTD or even short-term depression (STD) with quisqualic acid and (1S, 3R)-ACPD argues against such a role in the hippocampus. Furthermore, the failure of the NMDA receptor antagonist 2-AP5, the mixed NMDA/metabotropic antagonist 2-AP3 and selective metabotropic antagonist L(+)-AP3 to modify LTD formation exclude a role of either of these receptor populations in GABA, induced LTD. It is postulated that the involvement of NMDA and metabotropic receptors in previous reports is due to the use of stimulation frequencies at least 100 times higher (1-5 Hz) than the frequency of stimulation which is used in this study (0.01 Hz) (Staubli and Lynch, 1990; Yang et al., 1994). On the other hand, kynurenic acid, a potent glutamate receptor antagonist, could prevent the reversal

of the LTD that is induced by increasing stimulation to 1 Hz. The results suggest that increased stimulation frequency reverses muscimol induced LTD as a result of the release of excitatory amino acids, such as glutamate.

In summary, the present study has presented a new protocol for inducing LTD through activation of GABA, receptors that can depress synaptic excitability in the hippocampal slice. In addition, it is reported that this ability is not shared by adenosine, but it is potentiated by neurosteroids known to enhance the binding and postsynaptic hyperpolarisation induced by classical GABA, receptors. Moreover, the lack of involvement of glutamate receptors in producing LTD, suggest that activation of  $GABA_{A}$ receptors alone is sufficient to induce LTD and confirm the involvement of classical GABA, receptors in the protocol which has been presented by this thesis. This indicates that the phenomenon described in the present study represents a novel type of long-term synaptic inhibition.

### Role of calcium in induction and reversal of muscimol-induced LTD

`

.

#### 6.1. Introduction

It is believed that the hippocampus plays a prominent role in learning and memory processes (Eichenbaum et al., 1994). Long-term depression (LTD) is an activity dependent decrease in synaptic efficacy that, with its counterpart, long-term potentiation (LTP), has been considered to be critical for neuronal plasticity (Hebb, 1949; Nicol et al., 1988; Linden, 1994). Most of the work to date on LTD has been performed on the cerebellar cortex, nucleus accumbens, striatum, neocortex and CA1 region of the hippocampus (Levy and Steward, 1979; Ekerot and Kano, 1985; Ito, 1988; Kimura et al., 1989; Stanton and Sejnowski, 1989; Calabresi et al., 1992; Pennartz et al., 1993).

Several different protocols for the induction of LTD have been reported in the cerebellum and hippocampus which may be categorised as homosynaptic, heterosynaptic and associative LTD (Braham and srebro, 1987; Artola and Singer, 1993; Lovinger, 1993; Walsh, 1993; Linden, 1994). Although the mechanisms for the induction of LTP are fairly well established, the mechanisms underlying the induction of LTD have remained unresolved (Bliss and Lomo, 1973; Stanton and Sejnowski, 1989; Yang and Faber, 1991; Bliss and Collingridge, 1993).

Most excitatory synapses in the central nervous system use glutamate as a neurotransmitter. Glutamate receptors are classified in two general categories 1: Ionotropic receptors that are associated with ion channel activation and are affected by N-methyl-D-aspartate and kainic acid 2: metabotropic receptors that are coupled to G proteins and intracellular second modulate the messenger systems (Collingridge and Laster, 1989; Monaghan et al., 1989; Schoepp et al., 1990; Miller, 1991; Nakanishi, 1992). NMDA and metabotropic glutamate receptors have been reported to play a critical role in the induction of different forms of LTD (Kano and Kato, 1987; Aroniadou and Teyler, 1991; and Faber, 1991; Yang Bashir and Collingridge, 1992; Dudek and Bear, 1992; Garaschuk et al., 1992; Mulkey and Malenka, 1992; Goh and Musgave, 1993; Yang et al., 1994). It has been shown that the various forms of plasticity (LTP and LTD) described to date need NMDA receptor-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (Christi et al., 1994; Debanne and Thompson, 1994). This probably reflects the fact that the state of LTD or LTP depends on the level of undefined phosphorylation of some substrate. Small increases in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  decreases the level of increasing Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent phosphorylation by protein phosphatase activity, whereas larger increases of calcium associated with phosphorylation by enhancing  $Ca^{2+}$ are

dependent protein Kinase: in general kinases need larger increases of  $Ca^{2+}$  for activation than phosphatases.Christi et al., 1994; Debanne and Thompson, 1994; Hirano et al., 1994).

y-aminobutyric acid (GABA) is the most important inhibitory neurotransmitter in the CNS (Sivilloti and Nistri, 1991). Inhibitory processes are important for the stability and control of neuronal firing. These processes are mediated by GABA. Three types of pharmacologically and physiologically distinct GABA receptors have been reported. Activation of bicuculline-sensitive GABA type A (GABA<sub>4</sub>) receptors induces the opening of ion channels permeable to C1. The baclofen-sensitive GABA type B (GABA<sub>R</sub>) receptors are coupled to  $K^{\dagger}$  or  $Ca^{2\dagger}$  channels via G proteins. Most recently GABA type C (GABA<sub>c</sub>) receptors have been described that couple to Cl channels but they are insensitive to bicuculline and baclofen (Barnard et al., 1987; Bormann, 1989; Sivilloti and Nistri, 1991; Deisz et al., 1993).

We have reported a novel type of LTD induced by muscimol (chapter 5), a  $GABA_A$  agonist, that is reversed by the  $GABA_A$  antagonist bicuculline and potentiated by neurosteroids such as alphaxalone and  $5\alpha$ -pregnan- $3\alpha$ -ol-20one which are positive modulators of  $GABA_A$  receptors

(Harrison and Simmonds, 1984; Magewska and Harrison, 1988; Peters et al., 1988; Turner and Simmonds, 1989; Puia et al., 1991). It has also been reported that NMDA, non NMDA and metabotropic glutamate receptors are not involved in the induction of this type of LTD (chapter 5). The activation of synapses is not necessary for the induction of this LTD since the long-lasting depression could be induced when there was no stimulation during perfusion of muscimol. This type of LTD is induced at low frequency ( 0.01 Hz) and is reversed by delivering stimulation at a frequency of 1 Hz for 10 seconds. Besides the lack of involvement of glutamate receptors, this reversal represents another major difference between muscimolinduced LTD and that reported previously, since other groups actually use stimulation at 1-5 Hz to induce glutamate-dependent LTD (Linden, 1994; Yang et al., 1994).

The aims of this part of project were twofold. The first objective was to investigate the possible role of calcium in the induction of glutamate independent LTD. The second objective was to determine the mechanism of reversal of the LTD by stimulation.

#### 6.2. Results

#### 6.2.1. Muscimol-induced LTD

Once stable hippocampal population potentials had been obtained at a frequency of 0.01 Hz, the addition of the GABA, agonist muscimol at concentration of 10  $\mu$ M for 10 minutes induced а stable long-lasting depression of population potentials. The LTD induced by muscimol was concentration and time dependent as described in chapter 5 (figure 6.1., 6.2., 6.3.). There was no sign of recovery during washout with drug-free ACSF for at least 60 minutes. The activation of synapses was not necessary for the induction of LTD, as the depression could still be obtained when stimulation was turned off during the application of muscimol.

Once established, LTD persisted until the frequency of stimulation of the stratum radiatum was increased to 1 Hz for 10 seconds when potential size returned immediately to the control level (figure 6.1.,6.2.,6.3.).



Figure 6.1. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by adenosine and muscimol. The duration of treatment was 10 minutes. Treatment with adenosine or muscimol at 5  $\mu$ M or less produced reversible depression of the population potentials. Muscimol at 10  $\mu$ M produced longlasting depression which was not reversed by washing but which was reversed by stimulation at 1 Hz. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. A paired Student's t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P  $\leq$  0.001).

Figure 6.2. Sample records taken during experiments with agents used in Fig.6.1.





Figure 6.3. Depression of orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes by adenosine and muscimol. The duration of treatment was 20 minutes. Each vertical bar represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n=4 experiments. A paired Student's t test was employed to determine the significance level (<sup>\*\*\*</sup>P $\leq$ 0.001).

#### 6.2.2. Calcium-free medium and LTD

As expected from the synaptic nature of the evoked responses in CA1, superfusion with calcium-free medium led to a rapid loss of responses, but this recovered with a rapid time course when calcium was re-introduced (figure 6.4.). If slices were superfused with calcium-free medium until the CA1 evoked responses had disappeared and muscimol 10  $\mu$ M was then perfused for 10 minutes, as in our earlier protocol, the re-introduction of calcium failed to restore potential size. This depression of potentials appeared to be exactly similar to that described earlier, since stimulation at a rate of 1 Hz for 10 seconds was sufficient to restore potential size to control levels (figure 6.4.).

## 6.2.3. The role of NMDA and non-NMDA receptor activation in the reversal of muscimol-induced LTD

In view of the efficacy of 1 Hz stimulation to terminate LTD and restore potential size to control levels, experiments were carried out to determine the possible involvement of glutamate receptors in the reversal of LTD induced by muscimol. Experiments were performed using Kainic acid 5 uM and NMDA 5 uM. At these concentrations both kainic acid (figure 6.5.) and NMDA (figure 6.6.)

induced a small increase in the size of the CA1 potentials when applied for 10 and 5 minutes respectively. Higher concentrations produced overdepolarisation and a loss of evoked responses. If LTD were induced by superfusion with muscimol at 10 µM for 10 minutes both amino acid receptor agonists proved able to reverse the depression (figure 6.5.,6.6.). Two additional points may be noted from the figures. Firstly kainate proved able to reverse muscimolinduced LTD more rapidly than did NMDA, although kainate alone produced a larger enhancement of normal evoked potential size than did NMDA. The more rapid reversal of LTD may therefore simply reflect a greater degree of depolarisation of the slices. Secondly, it should be noted that the prior superfusion with kainate or NMDA did not prevent or modify in any way the subsequent ability of muscimol to induce LTD.



Figure 6.4. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and free calcium medium on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean ± s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.



Figure 6.5. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and kainic acid 5  $\mu$ M on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.



uo Wri orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean ± s.e.m. for S muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and NMDA Figure 6.6. Time course of the effect of n=4 experiments

### 6.2.4. High potassium and veratrine and reversal of muscimol-induced LTD

In order to determine the mechanism by which muscimolinduced LTD was being reversed, slices were depolarised by superfusion with a medium containing a 5 mM increment of potassium chloride or with veratrine. In each slice examined, raised potassium was tested alone before muscimol application. Raising the potassium level by 5 mM itself increased field potential size (figure 6.7.). After washing to restore potential size to normal, LTD was induced by muscimol. This was reversed immediately by stimulation at 1 Hz or over the 5 minutes period of an application of raised potassium (figure 6.7.). Similarly, superfusion with veratrine at 4  $\mu$ M also reversed muscimol-induced LTD, though the time course of this was slower than with potassium or excitatory amino acid agonists (figure 6.8.). Indeed full restoration of response size was not achieved until 20 minutes after beginning the washout of veratrine.

In a modification of the previous experiment, LTD was induced by muscimol but washout was performed using a calcium-free solution (figure 6.9.). The potassium concentration of the medium was then raised while still in calcium-free medium. When normal ACSF was introduced

subsequent to this, the LTD was found to be reversed, with evoked potentials regaining their original size within 10 minutes (figure 6.9.).

.



Figure 6.7. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and high potassium medium (K 5 mM) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.



orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean 1 s.e.m. for n=4 muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and veratrine 4  $\mu$ M on Figure 6.8. Time course of the effect of

experiments.





Figure 6.9. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus), high potassium medium (K 5 mM) and free calcium medium on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean  $\pm$  s.e.m. for n = 4 experiments. Sample records of orthodromic potentials are shown above the graph.

# 6.2.5. High calcium or a calcium ionophore and reversal of muscimol-induced LTD

Raising the level of calcium in the superfusion medium to a total 10 mM increased the size of control evoked potentials to an extent comparable with elevated potassium, NMDA or kainic acid application, but did not prove able to reverse muscimol-induced LTD (figure 6.10.). Electrical stimlation of the stratum radiatum at 1 Hz however, produced its usual immediate reversal (figure 6.10.). On the other hand, superfusion with the calcium ionophore A23187 at 10  $\mu$ M did reverse LTD, albeit with a relatively slow course similar to that observed with veratrine (figure 6.11.).



Figure 6.10. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and high calcium medium (Ca 10 mM) on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean t s.e.m. for n=4 experiments.



Figure 6.11. Time course of the effect of muscimol 10  $\mu$ M (Mus) and calcium ionophore 10  $\mu$ M on orthodromically evoked CA1 population spikes. Each point represents the mean t s.e.m. for n=4 experiments.

#### 6.3. Discussion

There is increasing interest in the phenomenom of LTD since, together with LTP, it represents a potential information storage mechanism in the hippocampus. A variety of protocols have been reported for producing LTD but these invariably seem to involve metabotropic or NMDA receptors in the induction of LTD (Aroniadou and Teyler, 1991; Yang and Faber, 1991; Lovinger et al., 1993). As it was described in chapter 5, there is a lack of involvement of either NMDA or metabotropic glutamate receptors in the induction of LTD by the protocol which is presented in this thesis, using the GABA, agonist muscimol. Another distinction between this protocol and other methods for producing LTD is that muscimol induced LTD can be demonstrated using a stimulation frequency of 0.01 Hz and indeed, even in the absence of stimulation. Other groups have induced LTD in the hippocampus by stimulating at a frequency of 1-5 Hz (Braham and Srebro, 1987; Staubli and Lynch, 1990; Yang et al., 1994), whereas muscimol-induced LTD is reversed at this frequency.

Several reports have confirmed the crucial role of calcium in induction of LTD or LTP (Hirano et al., 1994; yang et al., 1994). They have indicated that the state of

LTD or LTP depends on the balance between phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. Small amounts of calcium activate phosphatase enzymes and it has been shown that this leads to LTD, whereas the release of larger amount of calcium activates phosphorylation that can induce LTP (Christie et al., 1994; Debanne and Thompson, 1994; Hirano et al., 1994).

The object of this part of the project was to determine whether the novel form of muscimol-induced, glutamateindependent LTD was dependent upon a movement of calcium ions.

The results indicate that these mechanisms are unlikely to pertain to the muscimol-induced form of LTD, since the omission of calcium ions did not prevent the establishment of LTD by muscimol perfused during the calcium-free period. Taken together with previous evidence (chapter 5) for the lack of involvement of ionotropic or metabotropic glutamate receptors in muscimol LTD, this lack of dependence upon calcium emphasises further the novelty of this form of synaptic depression.

It was also of interest to examine the mechanisms of reversal of LTD since the frequency of orthodromic stimulation which reverses this depression (1 Hz) is similar to the frequency used by several other groups to induce (glutamate-dependent) LTD. Since it was shown that reversal of LTD can be prevented by the non-selective glutamate receptor antagonist kynurenic acid (chapter 5), seemed likely that activation of NMDA or non-NMDA it receptors would be implicated in the reversal. In fact, superfusion with either NMDA or kainic acid. at concentrations which had small excitatory effects on the pyramidal cells but which were below those needed to overdepolarise them, both induced reversal of LTD.

This lack of receptor selectivity for reversal, however, argued that a common feature, such as depolarisation *per se*, might be responsible for the reversal, rather than a receptor specific mechanism.

It is known that activation of both NMDA and kainate receptors is associated with the influx of calcium ions into neurones, but this is probably not the mechanism of LTD reversal here, since raising external calcium levels to 10 mM did not prove able to reverse LTD once established. The simple elevation of calcium levels does not, however,

entirely eliminate the possibility that reversal by the amino acid agonists is the result of depolarisation of the neurones which may (or may not) act via a larger, secondary depolarisation-induced release of intracellular calcium.

In order to test these possibilities, two other depolarising stimuli were examined, potassium and veratrine a sodium channels opener (Catteral, 1980; Leibowitz et al., 1986; Barnes and Hille, 1988). Both procedures should depolarise neurones with an influx of sodium ions, a consequent depolarisation-induced release of intracellular calcium, and an accompanying influx of calcium through voltage-dependent channels. Both stimuli were indeed able to reverse LTD, and subsequent testing of potassium in calcium-free medium was also able to do so. These results are thus consistent with the failure to reverse LTD by 10 mM calcium alone and reinforce the view that depolarisation induced calcium influx is not responsible for the reversal of LTD. Reversal could be obtained, however, by the calcium A23187, ionophore supporting the possibility that intracellular calcium is needed for the reversal of LTD.

Another possibility is that this effect of calcium ionophore is due to dephosphorylation of  $GABA_A$  receptors that decreases  $GABA_A$  ability to induce LTD. This suggestion
is in line with previous reports that indicate an increase of intracellular calcium decreases GABA<sub>A</sub> efficacy (Chen et al., 1990; Markram and Segal, 1991; Feigenspan and Bormann, 1994; Gyenes et al., 1994; Martina et al., 1994).

Overall the present data indicate that neither the induction of LTD, nor its reversal, require extracellular calcium. The reversal, however, may involve a rise of intracellular calcium levels. This is probably calcium released from intracellular storage sites in response to the sodium influx which accompanies the depolarisation of neurones, whether caused by glutamate receptor activation, high potassium or veratrine, but which can be mimicked by the action of calcium ionophore A23187. General Discussion

## 7. General discussion

40 years have passed since Holton and Holton suggested that а purine compound could have а role in neurotransmission. Since then the role of purines in the brain has been well described and adenosine is now widely accepted as the major inhibitory neuromodulator in the besides central nervous system GABA. However, no adenosinergic drugs are used clinically for treatment of CNS disorders. One important limitation for the use of adenosine in the CNS is that we do not actually know the effect of adenosine on ion fluxes. Although the role of adenosine on potassium channels and potassium currents is relatively well described, the role of adenosine on calcium and, in particular, chloride channels is still a matter of controversy. By contrast, GABA, as an important and abundant inhibitory transmitter in the CNS, is well described. It has been shown that in the hippocampus, evoked fast inhibitory postsynaptic currents are mediated by a GABA, receptor-activated Cl<sup>-</sup> conductance.

Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis have looked at the possible role of adenosine on the chloride channels and the interaction between adenosine and muscimol as a global tonic inhibitory system in the hippocampus. The results

indicated that adenosine, besides affecting potassium and calcium channels, also acts on chloride channels. In addition to this, it has been shown that there is a tonic positive interaction between adenosine and the GABA, receptor at the level of chloride channels. It has been reported that impairment of fast inhibitory postsynaptic currents can lead to pathological conditions such as the generation of epileptic discharge and excitotoxity. Several agents which are used clinically such as anticonvulsant, antiepileptic, sedative/hypnotic and anxiolytic drugs, exert their effects at the GABA, receptor-chloride ionophore complex. Moreover, it has been reported that adenosine antagonists, such as caffeine or theophylline, can induce seizures and can block the behavioural effects of benzodiazepines. On the other hand, adenosine and its analogues can prevent seizures in vivo or in human models.

The Positive interaction between adenosine and the  $GABA_A$  receptor at the level of chloride channels suggests that the idea of application of adenosine derivatives or in combination with a  $GABA_A$  agonist or a positive modulator of  $GABA_A$  receptors such as neurosteroids may be useful in the treatment of CNS disorders.

There is considerable evidence which suggests that the hippocampus plays a crucial role in certain forms of learning and memory. It has been reported that virtually all aspects of memory processing by the hippocampal system can be referred to its function as a temporary memory store. Moreover, hippocampal lesions induce retrograde and anterograde amnesia. In view of the predominant role of the hippocampus in learning and memory disorders and the increase of these in the last decades of life, several investigations have been centred on the hippocampal system and its pathophysiology.

Hippocampal synaptic plasticity (long-term potentiation and depression) involves long-lasting changes of the efficacy of information processing at the synaptic site. There is increasing interest in the phenomenon of LTD that, together with its allied phenomenon, LTP, is an important information storage mechanism in the CNS involving plastic changes of synaptic function lasting for several hours.

Chapters 5 and 6 of this thesis have been devoted to the role of adenosine and  $GABA_{A}$  receptors in this synaptic plasticity. The results presented that this thesis described a novel type of LTD which is induced by muscimol, a  $GABA_{A}$  agonist. The main point of novelty of muscimol

induced LTD is that the induction of muscimol induced LTD is calcium and glutamate independent. Furthermore, bicuculline as a GABA, antagonist reverses muscimol-induced LTD. On the other hand, neurosteroids which are positive modulators of GABA, receptors can potentiate the ability of muscimol in the induction of LTD. Another major finding of this thesis is that muscimol induced LTD can be produced in the absence of stimulation. As the classification of LTD is based on the stimulation of afferent pathways, this phenomenon emphasised the novelty of muscimol-induced LTD. Furthermore, a potentially important concept clinically rises from the maintenance of the LTD by neurosteroids. If neurosteroids are able to maintain LTD induced by a release of GABA that then triggers the forgetting process, then agents which decrease the effects of neurosteroids or negative modulators of  $GABA_A$  receptors, may be able to reverse LTD to a normal state and thus help to reverse or prevent the forgetting process.

References

## REFERENCES

ALURCON, J.M. (1993). AGUYO, L.G. & Modulation of  $Zn^{\dagger\dagger}$ , rat sympathetic GABA receptor bv developing barbiturates benzodiazepines. and ethanol. The J. Pharmacol. Exp. Thera., 267, 1414-1422

ALLGAIER, C., HERTTING, G. & KUGELGEN, O.V. (1987). The adenosine receptor-midiated inhibition of noradrenaline release possibly involves a N-protein and is increased by  $\alpha_1$ -autoreceptor blockade. Br. J. Pharmacol., 90, 403-412.

ALEXANDER, S.P.H., KENDALL, D.A. & HILL, S.J. (1989). Differences in the adenosine receptors modulating inositol phosphates and cyclic AMP accumulation in mammalian cerebral cortex. Br. J. Pharmacol., 98, 1241-8.

AMERI, A. & JURNA, I. (1991). Adenosine  $A_1$  and non- $A_1$  receptors: interacellular analysis of the action of adenosine agonist and antagonist in rat hippocampal neurones. Brain Res., 546, 69-78.

ANDERSEN, P., BLISS, T.V.P, & SKREDE, K.K (1971). Lamellar organization of hippocampal excitatory pathways. Exp. Brain Res., 13, 222-239.

APPEL, S.H. (1993). Excitatory neuronal cell death in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Trends Neurosci., 16, 3-5.

ARTOLA, A. & SINGER, W. (1993). long-term depression of excitatory synaptic transmission and its relationship to long-term potentiation. Trends Neurosci., 16, 480-487.

ARONIADOU, V.A. & TEYLER, T.J. (1991). The role of NMDA receptors in long-term potentiation (LTP) and depression (LTD) in rat visual cortex. Brain Res., 562, 136-143.

AVOLI, M., & PERREAULT, P. (1987). GABAergic depdolarizing potential in the hippocampus disclosed by the convulsant 4-aminopyridine. Brain Res., 400, 191-195.

AWAPARA, J., LANDAUA, A.J., FUERST, R. & SEALE, B. (1950). Free  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid in brain. J. Biol. Chem., 187, 35-39.

BARNARD, E. A., DARLISON, M.G. & SEEBURG P. (1987). Molecular biology of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor: the receptor channel superfamily. Trends Neurosci., 10, 502-509.

BARR, E., DANIELL, L.C. & LESILE, S.W. (1985). Synaptosomal calcium uptake unaltered by adnosine and 2-chloroadenosine. Biopharmacol., 34, 713-715.

BASHIR, Z.I. & COLLINGRIDGE, G.L. (1992). NMDA receptorsdependent transient homo-and hetrosynaptic depression in picrotoxin-treated hippocampal slices. J. Neurosci. 4, 485-490.

**BARTRUP, J.T.** (1989) Studies on adonesine and calcium antagonists in rat brain. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Glasgow.

BAUKROWITZ, T., HWANG, T-C., NAIRN, A.C. & GADSBY, D.C. (1994). CFTR C1<sup>-</sup> channel gating to an ATP hydrolysis cycle. Neuron., 12, 473-482.

BAUMAN, L.A., MAHLE, C.D., BOISSARD, C.G. & GRIBKOFF, V.K. (1992). Age-dependence of  $A_1$  adenosine receptor antagonism in rat hippocampal slice. J. Nerophysiol., 68, 629-638.

BEAVEN, M.A., RAMKUMAR, V. & ALI, H. (1994). Adenosine A<sub>3</sub> receptors in mast cells. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 15, 13-14.

BELARDINELLI, L., LINDEN, J. & BERNE, R.M. (1989). The cardiac effects of adenosine. Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis., 22, 73-97.

BELARDINELLI, L. & SHYROYOCK, J.C. (1992). Dose adenosine function as a retalitory metabolite in the heart? News in physiological Science., 7, 52-56.

BERNE, R.M., RUBIO, R. & CURNISH, R.R. (1974). Release of adenosine from ischemic brain. Circ. Res., 35, 262-271.

BENNETT, M.R., KERR, R. & NICHOL, K. (1991). Adenosine modulation of potassium currents in postganglionic neurones of cultured avian ciliary ganglia. Br. J. Pharmacol., 104, 459-465.

BERNARDI, H. & LAZDUNSKI, M. (1993). Characterization of the sulfonylurea-sensitive ATP-modulated potassium channel. In Molecular and Cellular Biology of pharmacological Targets. ed. Glossmann, H. Striessnig, J. pp.61-75. New York: Plenum Press.

BLISS, T.V.P. & LOMO, T.J. (1972). plasticity in a monosynaptic cortical pathway. J. Physiol., 207, 61P.

BLISS, T.V.P. & LOMO, T.J. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in dentate area of unanaesthetized following stimulation of perforant path. J. Physiol., 232, 331-356.

BLISS, T.V.P. & COLLINGRIDGE, G.L. (1993). A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Nature Lond., 361, 31-39.

BORMANN, J. (1988). Electrophysiology of  $GABA_A$  and  $GABA_B$  receptor subtypes, Trend Neurosci., 11, 112-116.

BOWERY, N.G., HILL, D.R., HUDSON, A.L., DOBLE, A., MIDDLEMISS, D.N., SHAW, J. & TURNBALL, M. (1980). (-)Baclofen decreases neurotransmitter release in the mammalian CNS by an action at a novel GABA receptor. Nature., 283, 92-94.

BRAHAM, C. R. & SREBRO B. (1987). Induction of long-term depression and potentiation by low and high frequency stimulation in the dentate areas of the anaesthetised rat. Brain Res. 405, 100-107.

BRUNS, R.F., FERGUS, J.H., BADGER, E.W., BRISTOL, J.A., SANTAY, L.A., HARTMAN, J.D., HAYS, S.J., & HUANG, C.C. (1987). Binding of the  $A_1$ -selective adenosine antagonist 8-cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine to rat brain membranes. Naunyn-schmiedberg's Arch. Pharmacol., 335, 59-63.

BRUNS, R.F., LU, G.H. & PUGSLEY, T.A. (1986). Characterization of the  $A_2$  adenosine receptor labeled by [<sup>3</sup>H]NECA in rat striatal membranes. Mol. Pharmacol., **29**, 331-346.

BURNSTOCK, G. (1978). A basis for distinguishing two types of purinergic receptor. In: cell membrane receptors for drugs and hormones: A multi discplinary approach. Eds. R.W. Straub and L. Bolis, Raven press, New york, pp 107-118.

BURNSTOCK. G (1990). Overview, Purinergic mechanisms. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci., eds. Dubyak. G. R., and Faedan, J. S. pp.603,1-17.

CARRUTHERS, A.M. & FOZARD, J.R. (1993). Hypotensive responses to the putative adenosine  $A_3$  receptor agonist  $N^6-2-(4-aminopheny1)$ -ethyladenosine in the rat. Drug Dev. Res., 30, 147-152. CATTERAL, W.A. (1980). Neurotoxins that act on voltagesensitive sodium channels in excitable. A. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxic., 20, 15-43.

CALABRESI, P., MAJ, R., MERCURI, N.B. & BERNARDI, G. (1992). Coactivation of  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  dopamine receptors is required for long-term synaptic depression in the striatum. Neurosci. Lett., 142, 95-99.

CHRISTIE, B., KERR, D.S. & ABRAHAM, W.C. (1994). Flip side of synaptic plasticity: Long-term depression mechanisms in the hippocampus. Hippocampus., 4, 127-135.

CHEN, Q.X., STELZER, A. & WONG, R.K.S. (1990). GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor function is regulated by phosphorylation in actely dissociated guinea-pig hippocampal neurones. J. Physiol. 420, 207-221.

CLARCK, S. & WILSON, W.A. (1992). Brain slice model of epilepcy: neuronal networks and actions of antiepileptic drugs. In Drugs in epilepcy :/ action on neuronal involve in seizures disorders. ed. Faingold, C.L. and Formm, G.H., PP.89-123. London: CRC Press.

CLENTANO, J.J. & WONG, R.K.S. (1994). Multiphasic desensitisation of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor in out side-out patches. Biophysic J., 66, 1039-1050.

COLLINGRIDGE, G.L. (1992). The mechanism induction of NMDA reseptor-dependent long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Exp. Physiol., **77**, 771-797.

COLLINGRIDGE, G.L., KEHL, S.J. & MCLENNAN, H. (1983). Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. J. Physiol., **334**, 33-46. COLLINGRIDGE, G. L. & LESTER, R. (1989). Excitatory amino acid receptors in the vertebrate central nervous system. Pharmacol. Rev., 40, 143-210.

COLLIS, M.G. & HOURANI, S.M.O. (1993). Adenosine receptor subtypes. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 14, 360-366.

CONN, P.J. & DESAI, M.A. (1991). Pharmacology and physiology of metabotropic glutamate receptors in mammalian central nervous systems. Drug Develope. Res. 24, 207-229

CORRADETTI, R., LOCONTE, G., MORONI, F, PASSANI, B. & PEPEU, G. (1984). Adenosine decrease aspartate and glutamate release from rat hippocampal slics. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 104, 19-26.

COTTRELL, G.A., LAMBERT, J. & PETERS, J. (1987). Modulation of GABA receptors activity by alphaxalone, Br. J. Pharmacol., 90, 491-500

CONNORS, B.W., MALENKA, R.C. & SILVA, L.R. (1988). Two inhibitory postsynaptic potentials and  $GABA_B$  receptor-mediated responses in neocortex of rat and cat, J. Physiol. Lond., 406, 443-448

CONCAS, A., SANTORO, G., MASCIA, M. P., MACIOCCO, E., DAZZI, L., ONGINI, E. & BIGGIO, G. (1993). Anticonvulsant doses 2-chloro- $N_6$ -cyclopentyladenosine, an adenosine  $A_1$ receptor agonist, reduce GABAergic transmission in different areas of the mouse brain. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therap., 267, 844-851.

COYL, J.T. & PUTTFARCKEN, P. (1993). Oxidative stress, glutamate and neurodegenerative disorders. Science., 262, 689-695.

CORNFIELD, L.J., HU, S., HURT, S.D. & SILLS, M.A. (1992). [3H]2-phenylaminoadenosine ([3H]CV 1808) labels a novel adenosine receptor in rat brain. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 263, 552-561.

CURTIS, D.R., GYNTHER, B.D., BEATTIE, D.T., KERR, D.I.B. & PRAGER, R.H. (1988). Baclofen antagonism by 2-hydroxy-saclofen in the cat spinal cord. Neurosci. Lett., 92, 97-101.

CUTTING, G.R., CURRISTIN, S., ZOGHBI, H., OHARA, B., SELDIN, M.F. & UHL, G.R. (1992). Identification of a putative  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptor subunit rho<sub>2</sub> cDNA and (GABRR1) to human chromosome 6q14-q21 and mouse chromosome 4. Genomics., 12, 801-806.

CUTTING, G.R., LU, L., OHARA, B.F., KASCH, L.M., MONTROSE-RAFIZADEH, C., DONOVAN, D.M., SHIMADA, S., ANTONARAKIS, S.E., GUGGINO, W.B., UHL, G.R. & KAZAZIAN, H.H.JR (1991). Cloning of the  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA)Q1 cDNA: A GABA receptor subunit highly expressed in the retina. Procd. Nat1. Acad. Sci. USA., 88,2673-2677.

DALY, J.W., BRUNS, R.F. & SNYDER, S.H. (1981). Adenosine receptors in the central nervous system: relationship to the central actions of methylxanthines. Life Sci., 28, 2083-2097.

DALZIEH, H.H. & WESTFALL, D. (1994). Receptors for adenine nucleotides and nucleosides: Subclassification, distribution and molecular characterization.
Pharmacological Rev., 46, 449-466.
DANIEL, H., HEMART, N., JAILLARD D. & CREPEL, F. (1992).
Coactivation of metabotropic glutamate receptors and of voltage-gated calcium channels induces long-term depression in cerebellar purkinje cell in vitro. Exp. Brain Res., 90, 327-331.

DAHL D. & SARVEY J. M. (1989). Norepinephrine induces pathway-specific long-lasting potentiation and depression in the hippocampal dentate gyrus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 86, 4776-4780.

DE GROAT, W.C. (1970). The actions of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acids on mammalian autonomic ganglia. J. Pharmac. Exp. Ther., 172, 384-396.

DEISZ, R.A., BILLARD, J.M. & ZIEGLGANSBERGER, W. (1993). Pre- and postsynaptic GABA<sub>B</sub> receptors of rat neocortical neurons differ in their pharmacological properties. Neurosci. Lett., 154, 209-212.

DECKERT, J., BERGER, W. & KLEOPA, K. (1993). Adenosine A1 receptors in human hippocampus: inhibition of  $[{}^{3}H]8$ -cyclopentyl-1,3-dipropylxanthine binding by antagonist drugs. Neurosci. Lett., **150**, 191-194.

DECKERT, J. & JORGENSEN, M.B. (1988). Evidence for pre- & postsynaptic localization of adenosine  $A_1$  receptors in the CA1 region of rat hippocampus: a quantitative autoradiographic study. Brain Res., **446**, 161-164.

DELORY, T.M. & OLSEN, R.W. (1992).  $\gamma$ -amino butyric acid A receptor structure and function. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 16747-50.

DEBANNE, D., THOMPSON, S.M. (1994). Calcium: A trigger for long-term depression and potentiation in the hippocampus. NIPS., 9, 256-260.

DHALLAN, R.S., YAU, K.W., SCHRAER, K.A. & REED, R.R. (1990). Primary structure and functional expression of a cyclic nucleotide-activated channel from olfactory neurons. Nature Lond., 347, 184-187.

DOLPHIN, A.C. & ARCHER, E.R. (1983). An adenosine antagonist inhibits and a cyclic AMP analogue enhances the release of glutamate but not GABA from slices of rat dentate gyrus. Neurosci. Lett., **43**, 49-54.

DRAGUNOW, M., GODDARD, G.V. & LAVERTY, R. (1985). Is adenosine an endogenous anticonvulsant? Epilepsia., 26, 480-487.

DREJER, J., LARSSON, O.M. & SCHOUSBOE, A. (1982). Characterization of L-glutamate uptake into and release from astrocytes and neurons cultured from different brain regions. Exp. Brain Res., 47, 259-269.

DRURY, A.N. & SZENT-GYÖRGYI, A. (1929). The influence upon the heart of a substance present in heart muscle and other tissues. J. Physiol., 68, XIV-XV.

DUDEK, S.M. & BEAR, M.F. (1992). Homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of hippocampus and the effects of NMDA receptor blockade. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 89, 288-293.

DUNER-ENGSTROM. & FREDHOLM, B.B. (1988). Evidence that prejunctional adenosine receptors regulating acetylcholine release from rat hippocampal slices are linked to an Nethylmaleimide-Sensitive G-protein but not to adenylate cyclase or dihydropyridine-sensetive calcium-channels. Acta Physiol. Scand., 134, 119-126.

DUNWIDDIE, T.V. (1985). The physiological role of adenosine in the central nervous system, Int. Rev. Neurobiol., 270, 63-139

DUNWIDDIE, T.V. & HOFFER, B.J. (1980). Adenine nucleotides and synaptic trasmission in the in vitro rat hippocampus. Br. J. Pharmacol., 69, 59-68. DUNWIDDIE, T.V., MUELLER, A. & BASILE, A. (1983). The use of brain slices in central nervous system pharmacology. Federation Proc., 42, 2891-2898.

DUTAR, P. & NICOLL, R.A. (1988). A physiological role for GABA<sub>B</sub> receptors in the central nervous system. Nature., 322, 156-158.

DURING, M.J. & SPENCER, D.D. (1992). Adenosine: a potential mediator of seizure arrest and potential refractoriness. Ann. Neurol., **32**, 618-624.

EDWARDS, G. & WESTON, A.H. (1990). Structure-activity relationships of  $K^{\dagger}$  channel openers. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 11, 417-422.

EHLERT, F.J. (1986). Inverse agonist, cooperativity and drug action at benzodiazepine receptors. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 7, 28-32.

EICHENBAUM, H., OTTO. T. & COHEN. N.J. (1994). Two functional components of the hippocampal memory system. Behavioral and Brain Sci., 17, 449-518.

EKEROT, C.F. & KANO, M. (1985). long-term depression of parallel fibres synapses following stimulation of climbing fibres. Brain Res., 342, 357-360.

ELY, S.W. & BERNE, R.M. (1992). Protective effects of adenosine in myocardial ischemia. Circulation., 85, 893-904.

EL-ETR, M., CORDIER. & GLOWINSKI. (1989). A neuroglial Cooperativeity is required for the potentiation by 2chlroadenosine of the muscarinic-sensitive phospholipase C in the striatum. J. Neurosci., 9, 1473-80. ENNA, S.J. & GALLAGHER, J.P. (1983). Biochemical and electrophysiological charcteristics of mammalian GABA receptors. Int. Rev. Neurobiol., 24, 181-212.

ERFURTH, A. & REDDINGTON, M. (1986). Properties of binding sites for  $[{}^{3}H]$ cyclohexyladenosine in the hippocampus and other regions of the rat brain: a quantative autoradiographic study. Neurosci. Lett., 64, 116-120.

ERDO, S.L. & WOLFF, J.R. (1990).  $\gamma$ -Aminobutyric acid outside the mammalian brain. J. Neurochem., 54, 363-372.

FAGG, G.E. & FOSTER, A.C. (1983). Amino acid neurotransmitters and their pathways in the mammalian CNS. Neurosci., 9, 701-719.

FASTBOM, J. & FREDHOLM, B.B. (1985). Inhibition of [3H]glutamate release from hippocampal slices by L-PIA. Acta Physiol. Scand., 125, 121-123.

FASTBOM, J., PAZOS, A. & PROBST, A. (1987). Adenosine  $A_1$  receptors in the human brain:a quantitive autoradiographic study. Neurosci., 22, 827-839.

FEIGENSPAN, A., BORMANN, J. & WASSLE, H. (1993a). Organotyping slice culture of the mammalian retina. Visual Neurosci., 10, 203-217.

FEIGENSPAN, A., WASSLE, H. & BORMANN, J. (1993b). Pharmacology of GABA receptor Cl<sup>-</sup> channels in rat retinal biopolar cells. Nature., **361**, 159-163.

FEIGENSPAN, A. & Bormann, J.C. (1994). Facilitation of GABAergic signalling in the retina by receptors stimulating adenylate cyclase. Proc. Natl. Sci. USA., 91, 10893-10897.

FEUERSTEIN, T.J., HERTTING, G. & JACKISCH, R. (1988). Modulation of hippocampal serotonin (5-HT) release by endogenous adenosine. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 107, 233-242.

FONNUM, F. (1984). Glutamate: A neurotransmitter in mammalian brain. J. Neurochem., 42, 1-11.

FOZARD, J.R. & CARRUTHERS, A.M. (1993). Adenosine  $A_3$  receptors mediate hypotention in the angiotensin II-supported circulation of the pithed rat. Br. J. Pharmacol., 109, 3-5.

FOZARD, J.R. & HANNON, J.P. (1994). BW-A522 blocks adenosine  $A_3$  receptor-mediated hypotensive responses in the rat. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 252, R5-R6.

FREDHOLM, B.B. (1990a). Differential sensivitivity to blockade by 4-aminopyridine of presynaptic receptors regulating  $[^{3+}H]$  acetylcholine release from rat hippocampus. J. Neurochem., 54, 1386-1390.

FREDHOLM, B.B. (1990b). Adenosine  $A_1$ -receptor-mediated inhibition of evoked aetylcholine release in the rat hippocampus does not depend on protein kinase C. Acta. Physiol. Scand., 140, 245-255.

FREDHOLM, B.B. & PERSSON, C.G.A. (1982). Xanthine dervatives as adenosine receptor antagonists. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 81, 673-676.

FROCH, M.P., LIPTON, S.A. & DICHTER M.A. (1992). Desensitisation of GABA-activated currents and channels in cultured cortical neurons. J. Neurosci., 12, 3042-3053.

GALINDO, A. (1969). GABA-picrotoxin interaction in the mammalian central nervous system. Nrain Res., 14, 763-767.

GALLO-RODRIGUEZ, C., JI, X-D., MELMAN, N., SIEGMAN, B.D., SANDERS, L.H., ORLINA, J., PU, Q., OLAH, M.E., VAN GALEN, P.J.M., STILES, G.L. & JACOBSON, K.A. (1994). Structureactivity relationships at  $A_3$ -adenosine receptors. J. Med. Chem., 37, 636-646.

GARRITSEN, A., IJZERMAN, A.P. & SOUDIJIN, W. (1989). Adenosine- $A_1$  receptors are not coupled to calcium uptake in rat brain. Biochem. Pharmacol., 38, 693-695.

GARASCHUK, O.V., KOVALCHUK, Y.N. & KRISHTAL, O.A. (1992). Trans-ACPD selectively inhibits excitability of hippocampal CA1 neurones. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 212, 305-306.

GERBER, U., GREENE, R.W., HAAS, H.L. & STEVENS, D.R. (1989). Characterization of inhibition mediated by adenosine in the hippocampus of the rat in vitro. J. Physiol., 417, 567-578.

GOH, J.W. & MUSGAVE, M.A. (1993). L-AP3 dose not antagonize hippocampal synaptic depression induced by 1S,3R-ACPD. Neuropharmacology., 32, 311-312.

GOH, J.W. & PENNEFATHER, P.S (1987). Pharmacological and physiological properties of the afterpolarization current of bullfrog ganglion neurones. J. Physiol., **394**, 315-330.

GOODMAN, R.R. & SNYDER, S.H. (1982). Autoradiographic localisation of adenosine receptors in rat brain using [<sup>3</sup>H]cyclohexyladenosine. J. Neurosci., 64, 1230-1241.

GOPALAKRISHNAN, M., JANIS, R.A. & TRIGGLE, D.J. (1993). ATP-sensitive  $K^{\dagger}$  channels: Pharmacologic properties, regulation, and therapeutic potential. Drug Dev. Res., 28, 95-127.

GRIBKOFF, V.K. & BAUMAN, L.A. (1992). Endogenous adenosine contributes to hypoxic synaptic depression in hippocampus from young and aged rats. J. Neurophysiol., 68, 620-628.

GREENE, R.W. & HAAS, H.L. (1985). Adenosine actions on CA1 pyramidal neurones in rat hippocampal slices. J. Physiol., 366, 119-127.

GREENE, R.W. & HAAS, H.L. (1989). Electrophysiology action of adenosine in rat and human hippocampus. In The hippocampus-New vistas, neurology and neurobiology. eds. Chan-pplag V. and Koler, c. Vol. 52, pp.53-69. New York: Alan Liss Inc.

GREENE, R.W. & HASS, H.L. (1991). The electrophysiology of adenosine in the central nervous system, Prog. Neurobiol., **36**, 329-341.

GURDEN, M.F., COASTA, J., ELLIS, F., EVANS, B., FOSTER, M., HORNBY, E., KENNEDY, I., MARTIN, D.P., STRONG, P., VARDEY, C.J. & WHEELDON, A. (1993). Functional characterisation of three adenosine receptor types. Br. J. Pharmacol., 109, 693-698.

GYNES, M., WANG, Q., GIBBS, T.T. & FARB, D.H. (1994). Phosphorylation factors control neurotransmitter and neuromodulator action at  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid type A receptors. Mol. Pharmacol., 46, 542-549.

HAAS, H.L. & GREENE, R.W. (1988). Endogenous adenosine inhibits hippocampal CA1 neurons: further evidence from extra-and intra- cellular recording. Naunyn-Schimedberg's Arch. Pharmacol., 337, 561-565.

HARUTA, H., KAMISHITA, T., HICKS, T.P., TAKAHASHI M.P. & TSUMOTO, T. (1994). Induction of LTD but not LTP through metabotropic glutamate receptors in visual cortex. NeuroReport., 5, 1829-1832.

HARRISON, N.L. & SIMMONDS. M.A. (1984). Modulation of GABA receptor complex by a steroid anaesthetic. Brain Res. 323, 287-292.

HARRISON, N.L., MAJESWKA, M.D., HARRINGTON, J.W. & BARKER, J.L. (1987). Structure activity relationships for steroid interaction with the  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid A receptor complex, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Thera., 241, 346-353.

HAYASHI, T. (1959). The inhibitory action of  $\beta$ -hydroxy- $\gamma$ aminobutyric acid upon the seizure following stimulation of the motor cortex of the dog. J. Physiol., 145, 570-578.

HAYASHI, T. & NAGAI, K. (1956). Action of  $\omega$ -amino acids on the motor cortex of higher animals, especially  $\gamma$ -amino- $\beta$ hydroxibutyric acid as the real inhibitory priciple in the brain. Abstr. Commun Int. Physiol. Congr., 20, 410.

HEBB, D.O. (1949). The organisation of behaviour. New York: Wiley.

HILL, D.R. & BOWERY, N.G. (1981).  ${}^{3}$ H-Baclofen and  ${}^{3}$ H-GABA bind to bicuculline insensitive GABA<sub>B</sub> sites in rat brain. Nature., **290**, 149-152.

HINKLE, P.E., COFFEY, E. & WEINER, R.D. (1987). Use of caffeine to lengthen seizures in ECT. Am. J. Physiol., 144, 1143-1148.

HIRSCH, J.C. & CREPEL, F. (1992). Postsynaptic calcium is necessary for the induction of LTP and LTD of monosynaptic EPSPs in prefrontal neurons: an in vitro study on the induction of long-term potentiation. Science., 255, 730-733.

HIRANO, T., KASONO, K., SHIGEMOTO, R. & NAKANISHI, S. (1994). Induction mechanism of long-term depression in cultured purkinge neurons. Biomedical Res., 15, 79-81.

HIROUCHI, M., OHKUMA, S.G. & KURIYAMA, K. (1992). Muscimolinduced reduction of  $GABA_A$  receptor  $\alpha$ 1-subunit mRNA in primary cultured cerebral cortical neurons., Mol. Brain Res., 15, 327-331.

HOLLINGSWORTH, E.B., De La CRUZ, R.M. & DALY, J.W. (1986). Accumulation of inositol phosphates and cyclic AMP in brain slices: synergistic interactions of histamine and 2chloroadenosine. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 122, 45-50.

HOLZ, G.C., RANE, S.G. & DUNLAP, K. (1986). GTP-binding proteins mediate transmitter inhibition of voltagedependebt calcium channels. Nature., 319, 53-59.

HOLLINS, C. & STONE, T.W. (1980). Adenosine inhibition of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid release from slices of rat cerebral cortex. Br. J. Pharmacol., 69, 107-112.

HOLTON, F.A. & HOLTON, P. (1954). The capillary dilator substances in drug powders of spinal roots: A possible role of adenosine triphosphate in chemical transmission from nerve ending. J. Physiol., 126, 124-140.

HORTON, R.W. (1989). Amino acid neurotransmitters in: Neurotransmitters, Drugs and Disease. Webster R. A., Jordan, C.C., eds. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific., 165-181.

HOFFMANN, E.K. & USSING, H.H. Membrane mechanisms in volume regulation in vertebrate cells and epithelia. In: Membrane Transport in Biology, ed. by J.A. Schafer, H.H. Ussing, P. Kristensen, and G.H. Giebisch. Berlin: Springer, 1992, Vol. 5.

HOEHN, K. & WHITE, T.D. (1990). NMDA, kainate and quisqualate release endogenous adenosine from rat cortical slices. Neurosci., 39, 441-450.

HU, P.S. & FREDHOLM, B.B. (1989).  $\alpha_2$ -Adrenoceptor agonist mediated inhibition of [<sup>3+</sup>H] noradernaline release from rat hippocampus is reduced by 4-aminopyridine but that caused by an adenosine analogue or  $\omega$ -conotoxins is not. Acta. Physiol. Scand., 136, 347-353.

HYDEN, H., CUPELLO, A. & PALM, A. (1986). Asymmetric diffusion into the postsynaptic neuron: an extremely efficient mechanism for removing excess GABA from synaptic cleft on the Deiter's neurons plasma membrane. Neurochem. Res., 11, 695-706.

IKEDA, M., MACKAY, K.B. & DEWAR, D. (1993). Differential alrerations in adenosine  $A_1$  and kappa-1-opioid receptors in the striatum in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res., 616, 212-217.

ISCASON, R.L. (1987). Hippocampus. In Encyclopedia of neuoscience.ed. Adelman G. pp.492-495. Boston: Birkhäuser.

ITO, M. (1989). Long-term depression. Annu. Rev. Neurosci., 12, 85-102.

IVERSEN, L.L. & KELLY, J.S. (1975). Uptake and metabolism of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid by neurons and glial cells. Biochem. Pharmacol., 24, 933-938.

IVERSEN, L.L., MITCHEL, J.F. & SRINIVASAN, V. (1971). The release of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid during inhibition in the cat visual cortex. J. Physiol., 212, 519-534.

JANSEN, K.L.R., FAULL, R.L.M. & DRAGUNOW, M. (1990). Alzheimer's disease - changes in hippocampal N-methyl-Daspartate, quisqualate, neurotensin, adenosine, benzodiazepine, serotonin and opiod receptors- an autoradiographic study. Neurosci., **39**, 613-627. JASPER, H.H., KHAN, R.T. & ELLIOTT, K.A.C. (1965). Amino acids released from the cerebral cortex in relation to its state activation. Science., 147, 1448-1449.

JACOBSON, K.A., NIKODIJEVIĆ, O., PADGETT, W.L., GALLO-RODRIGUEZ, C., MAILLARD, M. & DALY, J.W. (1993a). 8-(3-Chlorostyryl)caffeine (CSC) is a selective  $A_2$ -adenosine antagonist in vitro and in vivo. FEBS., 323, 141-144.

JACOBSON, K.A., VAN GALEN, P.J.M. & WILLIAMS, M. (1992). Adenosine receptors: pharmacology structure-activity relationships, and therapeutics potential. J. Med. Chem., 35, 407-422.

JACOBSON, K.A., VAN GALEN, P.J.M., JI, X-D., RAMKUMAR, V., OLAH, M.E. & STILES, G.L. (1993b). Molecullar charactrization of  $A_1$  and  $A_{2a}$  adenosine receptors. Drug Dev. Res., 28, 226-231.

JONZON, B. & FREDHOLM, B.B. (1984). Adenosine receptor mediated inhibition of noradrenaline release from slices of the rat hippocampus. Life Sci., 35, 1971-1979.

JOHNSTON, D., WILLIAMS, S., JAFFER, D. & GRAY, R. (1992). NMDA receptor-independent long-term potentiation. Annu. Rev. Physiol., 54, 489-505.

KANO, M. & KATO, M. (1987). Quisqualate receptors are specifically involved in cerebellar synaptic plasticity. Nature., 325, 276-279.

KAUER, J., MALENKA, R.C. & NICOLL, R.A. (1988). A persistent postsynaptic modification mediates long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. Neuron., 1, 911-917.
KENDALL, D.A. & FIRTH, J.H. (1990). Inositol phospholipid hydolysis in human brain; adenosine inhibition of the response to histamine. Br. J. Pharmacol., 100, 37-40.

KENDALL, D.A. & HILLS, S.J. (1988). Adenosine inhibition of histamine-stimulated inositol phospholipid hydrolysis in mouse cerebral cortex. J. Neurochem., 50, 497-502.

KERR, D.I.B., ONG, J., PRAGER, R.H., GYNTHER, B.D. & CURTIS, D.R. (1987). Phaclofen: a peripheral and central baclofen antagonist. Brain Res., 405, 150-154.

KERR, D.I.B., ONG, J., JOHNSTON, G.A.R., ABBENANTE, J. & PRAGER, R.H. (1988). 2-Hydroxy-saclofen: an improved antagonist at central and peripheral GABA<sub>B</sub> receptors. Neurisci. Lett., 92, 92-96.

KILLAM, K.F. & BAIN, J.A. (1957). Convulsant hyrazides I: in vitro and in vivo inhibition of vitamin  $B_6$  enzymes by convulsant hydrazides. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 119, 255-262.

KIMURA, F., NISHIGORI, A., SHIROKAWA, T. & TSUMOTO, T. (1989). Long-term potentiation and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in the visual cortex of young rats. J. Physiol., 414, 125-144.

KLEIHUES, P., KOBAYASHI. & HOSSMANN, K. (1974). Purine nucleotide metabolism in the cat brain after one hour of complete ischemia. Neurochem., 23, 417-425.

KOSTOPOULOS, G., DRAPEAU, C., AVOLI, M., OLIVIER, A. & VILLEMEURE, J.G. (1989). Endogenous adenosine can reduce epileptiform activity in the human epileptogenic cortex maintained in vitro. Neurosci. Lett., 106, 119-124.

KOSTOPOULOS, G.K. & PHILLIS, J.W. (1977). Purinergic depression of neurones in different areas of the rat brain. Exp. Neurol., 55, 719-729.

KRNJEVIC, K. (1974). Chemical nature of synaptic transmission in vertebrates. Physiol. Rev., 54, 418-450.

KRNJEVIC, K. (1987). GABAergic inhibition in the neocortex, J. Mind Behave., 8, 537-547.

KRNJEVIC, K. & SCHWARTZ, S. (1967). The action of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid on cortical neurons. Exp. Brain Res., 1, 77-93.

KURIYOMO, K., HIROCHI, M. & NAKYASU, H. (1993). Stracture and function of cerebral  $GABA_A$  and  $GABA_B$  receptors, Neuroscie. Res., 17, 91-93.

LAMBERT, N.A. & TEYLER,T.J. (1991). Adenosine depresses excitatory but not fast inhibitory synaptic transmission in area CA1 of the rat hippocampus. Neurosci. Lett., 122, 50-52.

LEE, K.S. (1983). Cooperatively among afferents for the induction of long-term potentiation in the CA1 region of the hippocampus. J. Neurosci., **3**, 1369-1372.

LEVY, W.B. & STEWARD, O. (1979). Synapses as associative memory elements in the hippocampal formation. Brain Res., 175, 233-245.

LEVITAN, E.S., SCHOFIELD, P.R. & BURT, D.R. (1988). Structural and functional basis for GABA, receptor heterogeneity. Nature., 335, 76-79.

LEIBOWITZ, M.D., SUTRO, J.B. & HILLE, B. (1986). Voltagedependent gating of veratridine-modified Na channel. J. Gen. Pyhsiol., 87, 25-46.

LEWIS, M.E., PATEL, J. & EDLEY, S.M. (1981). Autoradiographic visualisation of rat brain adenosine receptors using  $N^{6}$ -cyclohexyl[<sup>3</sup>H]adenosine. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 71, 109-110.

LINDEN, D.J. (1994). Long-term synaptic depression in the mammalian brain. Neuron., 12, 457-472.

LINDEN, J. & DELAHUNTY, T.M. (1989). Reseptors that inhibit phosphoinositide breakdown. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 10, 114-120.

LISMAN, J. (1989). A mechanism for the Hebb and anti-Hebb processes underlying learning and memory. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 86, 9574-9578.

LI, H. & HENRY, J.L. (1992). Adenosine-induced hyperpolarization is depressed by glibenclamide in rat CA1 neurones., NeuroReport., 3, 1113-1116.

LIU, G.S., RICHARDS, S.C., OLSSON, R.A., MULLANE, K., WALSH, R.S. & DOWNERY, J.M. (1994). Evidence that the adenosine  $A_3$  receptor may mediate the protection afforded by preconditioning in the isolated rabbit heart. Cardivasc. Res., 28, 1057-1061.

LODGE, D. & JOHNSON, K.M. (1990). Non-competetive excitatory amino acid receptor antagonists. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 11, 81-88.

LOGAN, W.J. & SNYDER, S.H. (1971). Unique high affinity uptake systems for glycine, glutamic and aspartic acid in central nervous tissue of the rat. Nature., 234, 297-299.

LONDOS, C., COOPER, D.M.F & WOLFF, J. (1980). Subclasses of external adenosine receptors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 77, 2551-2554.

LONDOS, C. & WOLFF, J. (1977). Two distinct adenosinesensitive sites on adenylate cyclase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 74, 5482-5486.

LOVINGER, D.M., TYLER, E.C., & MERRITT, A. J. (1993). Short and long-term synaptic depression in rat neostriatum. Neurophyisiol., 70, 1937-1949.

LUPICA, C.R, CASS, W.A., ZAHNISER, N.R. & DUNWIDDIE. T.V. (1990). Effects of the selective adenosine  $A_2$  receptor agonist CGS21680 on in vitro electrophysiology, CAMP formation and dopamine release in rat hippocampus and striatum. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 252, 1134-1141.

MaCDONALD, R.L. (1993). Molecular biology of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors: Implications for epilepsy. Epilepsia., **34**, 2.

MAGER, R., FERRONI, S. & SCHUBERT, P. (1990). Adenosine modulate a voltage-dependent chloride conductance in cultured hippocampal neurons. Brain Res., 532, 58-62.

MAGER. R., FERRONI, S. & SCHUBERT, P. (1995). GTP- and GDPanalogues modulate an inwardly rectifying chloride channel in cultured hippocampal neurons. Neurosci. Lett., 184, 165-168.

MAJEWSKA, M.D., HARRISON, N.L., SCHWARTZ, R.D., BARKERE, J.L. & PAUL, S.M. (1986). Steroid hormone metabolites are barbiturate-like modulators of the GABA receptor. Science., 232, 1004-1007.

MAJEWSKA, M.D., MIENVILLE, J.M. & VICINI, S. (1988). Neurosterioids, pregnelone sulfate antagonizes electrophysiological responses to GABA in neurons. Neurosci. Lett., 90, 279-284.

MAJEWSKA, M.D. & SCHWATZ, R.D. (1987). Prenenolone sulfate: An endogenous antagonist of the  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid receptor complex in brain. Brain Res., 404, 355-360.

MARTINA, M., KILIC, G. & CHERUBINI, E. (1994). The effect

of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  on GABA-activated currents in cerebellar grannule cells in culture. J. Membrane Biol., 142, 209-216.

MARTINEZ-MIR, M.I., PROBST, A. & PALACIOS, J.M. (1991). Adenosine  $A_2$  receptors: selective localisation in the human basal ganglia and alterations with disease. Neurosci., 42, 697-706.

MARTY, A., TAN, Y.P. & TRAUTMANN, A. (1984). Three types of calcium-dependent channels in rat lacrimal glands. J. Physiol., 337, 293-325.

McCORMIC, D.A. (1989). GABA as an inhibitory neurotransmitter in human cerebral cortex. J. Neurophysiol., 62, 1018-1027.

McCULLOUGH, J.R., NORMANDIN, D.E., CONDER, M.L., SLEPH, P.G., DZWONCZYK, S. & GROVER, G.J. (1991). Specific block of the anti-ischemic actions of cromakalim by sodium 5hydroxydecanoate. Circ. Res., 69, 949-958.

MCMAHON, H. T. & NICHOLLS, D. G. (1993). Barium-evoked glutamate release from guiea-pig cerebrocortical synaptosomes, J. Neurochem., 61, 110-115.

McCABE, T.T., WAMSLEY, J.K., YEZUITA, J.P. & OLSEN, R.W. (1988). A novel GABA<sub>A</sub> antagonist  $[{}^{3}H]SR$  95531: microscopic analysis of binding in the rat brain and allosteric modulation by several benzodiazepines and barbiturate receptor ligands. Synapse., 2, 163-173.

MEGHJI, P. (1991). Adenosine production and metabolism. In Adenosine in Nervous System. ed. Stone, T. PP.25-42. London: Academic Press.

MEGHJI, P. (1993). Storage, release, uptake, and inactivation of purines. Drug Dev. Res., 28, 214-219.

MELDRUM, B.S. (1975). Epilepsy and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acidmediated inhibition. Int. Rev. Neurobiol., 17, 1-36.

MICHAELIS, M.L., JOHE, K.K., MOGHADAM, B. & ADAMS, R.N. (1988). Studies on the ionic mechanism for the neuromodulator action of adenosine in the brain. Brain Res., 473, 249-260.

MICHAELIS, M.L., MICHAELIS, E.K. & MYERS, S.L. (1979). Adenosine modulation of synaptosomal dopamine release. Life Sci., 24, 2083-2092.

MILLER, C. & WHITE, M.M. (1984). Dimeric structure of single chloride channels from Torpedo electroplex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 81, 2772-2775.

MILLER, R.J. (1991). Metabotropic excitatory amino acid receptors reveal their true colors. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 12, 365-367.

MOURRE, C., BEN ARI, Y., BERNARDI, H., FOSSET, M. & LAZDUNSKI, M. (1989). Antidiabetic sulfonylureas: Localization of binding sites in the brain and effects on the hyperpolarization induced by anoxia in hippocampal slices. Brain Res., 486, 159-164.

MONAGHAN, D.T., BRIDGES, R.J. & COTMAN, C.W. (1989). The excitatory amino acid receptors: Their classes, pharmacology and distinct properties in the function of the central nervous system. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 29, 365-402.

MURRAY, T.F., SYLVESTER, D., SCHULTZ, C.S. & SZOT, P. (1985). Purinergic modulation of the seizure threshold for pentylenetetrazol in the rat. Neuropharmacol., 24, 761-766.

MURRAY, T.F., ZHANG, G. & FRANKLIN, P.H. (1993). Manipula-

tion of endogenous adenosine affects seizure suseptibility. Drug Dev. Res., 28, 410-415.

MULKEY, R.M. & MALENKA, R.C. (1992). Mechanisms underlying indication of homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of the hippocampus. Nature. 9, 967-975.

NAKANISHI, S. (1992). Molecular diversity of glutamate receptors and implication for brain function. Science. 258, 597-603.

NEWBERRY, N.R. & NICOLL, R.A. (1984). Direct hyperpolarizing action of baclofen on hippocampal pyramidal cells. Nature., 308, 450-452.

NICHOLLS, D. & ATTWELL, D. (1990). The release and uptake of amino acids. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 11, 462-468.

NICOLL, R.A., KAUER, J.A. & MALENKA, R.C. (1988). The current excitement in long-term potentiation. Neuron. 1, 97-103.

NICHOLS, C.G. LEDERER, W.J. (1991). Adenosine triphosphate-sensitive potassium channels in the cardiovascular system. Am. J. Physiol., 261, 1675-1686.

NICOLL, R.A., MALENKA, R.C. & KAUER, J.A. (1990). Functional comparison of neurotransmitter receptor subtypes in mammalian central nervous system. Phyisiol. Rev., 70, 513-565.

NOMA, A. (1983). ATP-regulated  $K^{\dagger}$  channels in cardiac muscle. Nature., 305, 147-148.

OKADA, Y. & OZAWA, S. (1981). Inhibitory action of adenosine on synaptic transmission in the hippocampus of the guinea pig in vitro. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 68, 483-492.

OLPE, H.R., KARLSSON, G., POZZA, M.F., BRUGGER, F., STEINMANN, M., RIEZEN, H.V., FAGG, C., HALL, R.G., FROSTL, W. & BITTIGER, H. (1990). CGP 35348: a centrally active blocker of GABA<sub>R</sub> receptor. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 187, 27-38.

OLSEN, R.W. (1981). The GABA postsynaptic membrane receptor-ionophore complex. Site of action of convulsant and anticonvulsant drugs. Mol. Cell Biochem., 39, 261-279.

OLSEN, R.W. (1982). Drug interaction at the GABA receptorionophore complex. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 22, 245-277.

OLSEN, R.W., SNOWHILL, E.W. & WAMSLEY, J.K. (1984). Autoradiographic localisation of low affinity GABA receptors with [<sup>3</sup>H]bicuculline methochloride. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 99, 247-248.

OLSEN, R.W. & TOBIN, M.J. (1990). Molecular biology of GABA receptors. FASEB J., 4, 1469-1480.

J., HARRISON, N.L., HALL, R.G., ONG, BARKER, J.L., 3-JOHNSTON. G.A.R. KERR. D.I.B. (1990).& Aminopropanephosphonic acid is a potent agonist at peripheral and central presynaptic GABA, receptors. Brain Res., 526, 138-142.

PALFREY, H.C. & RAO, M.C. (1983). Na/K/Cl cotransport and its regulation. J. Exp. Biol., 106, 43-54.

PENG, L., SCHOUSBOE, A. & HERTZ, L. (1991). Utilization of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate as a precurser for transmitter glutamate in cultured cerebellar granule cells. Neurochem. Res., 16, 29-34.

PENNAETZ, C.M.A., AMEERUN, R.F., GROENEWEGEN, H.J. & LOPES DE SILVA, F.H. (1993). Synaptic plasticity in an invitro

slice prepration of the rat nucleus accumbens. E. J. Neurosci. 5, 107-117.

PETERS, J.A., KIRKNESS, E.F., CALLACHAN, H., LAMBERT, J.J, and TURNER, A.J. (1988). Modulation of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor by depressant barbiturates and pregnan steroids. Br. J. Pharmacol. 94, 1257-1269.

PETCOFF, D.W. & COOPER, D.M.F. (1987). Adenosine receptor agonists inhibit inositol accumulation in rat striatal slices. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 137, 269-71.

PHILLIS, J. W., EDSTROM, J. P., ELLIS, S. W. & KIRKPATRICK, J. R. (1979). Theophyllin antagonizes flurazepam-induced depression of cerebral cortical neurons. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol., 57, 917-920.

PHILLIS, J.W., KOSTOPOULOS, K.G. & LIMACHER, J.J. (1975). A potent deperssant action of adenine derivatives on cerberal cortical neurones. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 30,125-139.

PHILLIS, J. W. (1979). Diazepam potentiation of purinergic depression of central neurons. Can. J. Physiol. Phamacol., 57, 432-435.

PHILLIS, J.W. (1990). The selective adenosine  $A_2$  receptor Agonist, CGS21680, is a potent depressant of cerebral neuronal activity. Brain Res., **509**, 328-330.

PHILLIS, J.W., SMITH-BARBOUR, M. & PERKINS, L.M. (1993). Acetylcholine output from the ischemic rat cerebral cortex: effect of adenosine agonists. Brain Res., 13, 337-40.

POLC, P., BONETTI, E.P., PIERI, L., CUMIN, R., ANGIOI, R.M, MOHLER, H. & HAEFELY, W.E. (1981). Caffeine antagonizes several central effect of diazepam. Life Sci., 28, 2265-2275. POCKETT, S., BROOKS, N.H. & BINDMAN, L.J. (1990). Long-term depression at synapses in slices of rat hippocampus can be induced by bursts of postsynaptic activity. Exp. Brain Res., 80, 196-200.

POLENZANI, L., WOODWARD, R.M. & MILEDI, R. (1991). Experession of mammalian  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid receptors with distinct pharmacology in Xenopus oocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 88, 4318-4322.

PRESTWICH, S.A., FORDA, S.R. & DOLPHIN, A.C. (1987). Adenosine antagonist increase spontaneous and evoked transmitter release from neuronal cells in culture. Brain Res., 405, 130-139.

PUIA, G., VICINI, S., SEEBURG, P.H. & COSTA, E. (1991). Influence of recombinant  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid A-receptor subunit composition on the action of allosteric modulators of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid gated Cl<sup>-</sup> currents. Mol. Pharmacol. 1991. **39**, 691-696.

QUAST, U. & COOK, N.S. (1989). Moving together:  $K^{\dagger}$  channel openers and ATP-sensitive  $K^{\dagger}$  channels. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 10, 431-435.

QIAN, H. & DOWLING, J.E. (1993). Novel GABA receptors from rod-driven retinal horizontal cells. Nature., 361, 162-164.

RANDLE, J.C.R. & RENAUD, L.P. (1987). Actions of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid on rat supraoptic nucleus neurosecretory neurones in vivo. J. Physiol., 387, 629-647.

**RAWLINS, J.N.P.** (1985). Association across time: The hippocampus as a temporary memory store. Behaveioral and Brain Science., 8, 479-496.

REITHMANN, C., GIERSCHIK, P. & JAKOBS, K.H. (1990). Stimu-

lation and Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase. In Hormone percoption and signal transduction in animal and plants. eds. Roberts, J., Kirk, C. and Venis, M. pp.207-224. Great Britain: Society for Experimental Biology.

**REDDINGTON, M., ERFURTH, A. & LEE, K.S.** (1986). Heterogeneity of binding sites for N-ethylcarboxamido $[{}^{3}H]$ adenosine in rat brain: effects of N-ethylmaleimide. Brain Res., **399**, 232-239.

**REDDINGTON, M. & LEE, K.S.** (1991). Adenosine receptor subtypes: classification and distribution. In: Stone, T.W., editor. Adenosine in the nervous system. London: Academic Press., 77-102.

REHNCRONA, SIESJO, B.K. & WESTERBERG, E. (1978). Adenosine and cyclic AMP in cerebral cortex of rats in hypoxia, status epilepticus and hypercapnia. Acta. Physiol. Scand., 104, 453-463.

RIORDAN, J.R., ROMMENZ, B-S. & KEREM, N. (1989). Identification of the cystic fibrosis gene: Cloning and charaterization of complementary DNA. Science., 245, 1066-1073.

ROBERT, E. & FRANKEL, S. (1950).  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid in brain: its formation from glutamic acid. J. Biol. Chem., 187, 55-63.

ROBERTS, E. & KURIYAMA, K. (1968). Biochemical physiological correlations in studies of the  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid system. Brain Res., 8, 1-35.

RUGOLO, M., MASTROCOLA, T., WHORLE, C., RASOLA, A., GRUENE-RT, D.C., ROMEO, G. and GALIETTA, L.J.V. (1993). ATP and A1 adenosine receptor agonist mobilize intracellular calcium and activate  $K^{\dagger}$  and Cl<sup>-</sup> currents in normal and cystic
fibrosis air way epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem., 268, 24779-24784.

RUDOLPHI, K.A., SCHUBRTT, P. & PARKINSON, F.E. (1992). Neuroprotective role of adenosine in cerebral ischemia. Trends. Pharmacol. Sci., 13, 439-445.

SALTER, M.W., De KONINCK, Y. & HENRY, J.L. (1993). An inhibitory postsynaptic potential in spinal nociceptive neurones is mediated by adenosine through activation of ATP-sensitive  $K^{\dagger}$  channels. Drug Dev. Res., 28, 416-422.

SATTIN, A. & RALL, T.W. (1970). The effect of adenosine and adenine nucleotides on the cyclic adenosine 3,5-phosphate content of guinea pig cerebral cortex slices. Mol. Pharmacol., 6, 13-23.

SCATTON, B. (1993). The NMDA receptor complex. Fundam Clin. Pharmacol., 7, 389-400.

SCOTT, R.H. & DOLPHIN, A.C. (1987). Inhibition of calcium currents by an adenosine analogue 2-chloroadenosine in topics and prespectives in adenosine research (Gerlache. and Becker, B.F., eds), PP.549-558. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

SCOVILLE, W.B. & MILNER, B. (1957). Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. J. Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry., 20, 11-21.

SCHUBERT, P. (1988). Physiological modulation by adenosine: selective blockade of  $A_1$ -receptors with DPCPX enhances stimulus train-evoked neuronal calcium influx in rat hippocamal slices. Brain Res., **458**, 162-165.

SCHOUSBOE, A., DREJER, J. & HERTZ, L. (1988). Uptake and release of glutamate and glutamine in neurons and

astrocytes in primary cultures. In: Glutamine and Glutamate in Mammals, Vol II. Kvamme, E, ed. Boca Raton: CRC Press., 21-39.

SCHUBERT, P., HEINEMANN, U. & KOLB, R. (1986). Diffrential effects of adenosine on pre- and postsynaptic calcium fluxes. Brain Res., 376, 382-386.

SCHWARTZKROIN, P.A. (1981). To slice not to slice. In Electrophysiology of isolated mammalian CNS praparation. ed. Kerkut, G.A. and Wheal, H.V. pp.15-50. London: Academic Press.

SCHWARTZKROIN, P.A. (1987). Hippocampal slice preparation. In Encyclopedia of neuroscience. ed. Adelman, G. pp.490-491. Bostn: Birkhäuser.

SCHOEPP, D.D., BOCKAERT, J. & SLADECZEK, F. (1990). Pharmacological and functional characteristic of metabotropic excitatory amino acid receptors. Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 11, 508-515.

SCIOTTI, V.M., PARK, T.S., BERNE, R.M. & VAN WYLEN, D.G.L. (1993). Change in extracellular adenosine during chemical or electrical brain stimulation. Brain Res., 613, 16-20.

SEGAL, M. (1982). Intracellular analysis of a postsynaptic action of adenosine in the rat hippocampus. Eur. J. Pharma-col., 79, 193-199.

SHIMADA, S., CUTTING, G. & UHL, G.R. (1992).  $\gamma$ -Aminobutyric acid A or C receptors?  $\gamma$ -Aminobutyric acid  $\varrho_1$  receptor RNA induces bicuculline, barbiturate and benzodiazepine insensitive  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid responses in Xenous ocytes. Mol. Pharmacol., 41, 683-687.

SIERRALTA, F. & MIRANDA, H.F. (1993). Adenosine modulate

the antinociceptive action of benzodiazepines. Gen. Pharmacol., 24, 891-894.

SILINSKY, E.M. (1986). Inhibition of transmitter release by adenosine: are calcium currents depressed or are the interacellular effects of calcium impaired? Trends Pharmacol. Sci., 7, 180-185.

SIVILOTTI, L. & NISTRI, A. (1991). GABA receptor mechanisms in the central nervous system. Prog. Neurbiol., 36, 35-92.

SKINNER, M.H. (1990). Adverse reactions and interactions with theophylline. Drug. Saf., 5, 275-285.

SKREDE, K.K. & WESTGAARD, R.H. (1971). The transverse hipopcampal slice: a well-defined cortical structure maintained in vitro. Brain Res., 35, 589-593.

SNEAD, O.C, III. (1983). On the sacred disease: The neurochemistry of epilepsy. Int. Rev. Neurobiol., 24, 93-180.

SNYDER, S.H. (1985). Adenosine as a neuromodulator. Ann. Rev. Neurosci., 8, 103-124.

SONNEWALD, U., WESTERGAARD, N., KRANE, J., UNSGARD, G., PETERSEN, S.B. & SCHOUSBOE, A. (1991). First direct demonstration of preferential release of citrate from astrocytes using  $[^{13}C]$ NMR spectroscopy of cultured neurons and astrocytes. Neurosci. Lett., 128, 235-239.

SPIGONOLI, G., PEDATA, F. & PEPEU, G. (1984).  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  adenosine receptors modulate ACh release from brain slices. Eur. J. Pharmacol., 97, 341-342.

STEPHENSON, F.A. (1988). Understanding the GABA of GABA responses in cultured central neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. USA., 78, 7180-7184.

**STAUBLI, U. & LYNCH, G.** (1990). Stable depression of potentiated synaptic responses in the hippocampus with 1-5 Hz stimulation. Brain Res., **513**, 113-118.

STANTON, P. K. & SEJNOWSKI, T.J. (1989). associative long-term depression in the hippocampus induced by Hebbian covariance. Nature., 339, 215-218.

STONE, T.W. (1981). Physiological roles for adenosine and adenosine 5-triphosphate in the nervous system. Neuroscie., 6, 523-550.

**STONE, T.W.** (1985). Purine receptor clasification : a discussion point. Trends Pharmacol. Scie., 5,492-493.

**STONE, T.W.** (1989). Purine receptors and their pharmacological roles. In Advances in drug research. London: Academic Press.

**STONE, T.W.** (1991). Minireview. Receptors for adenosine and adenenine nucleotides. Gen. Pharmacol., **22**, 25-31.

STONE, T.W. & SIMMONDS, H.A. (1991). Purines: basic and clinical aspects. Dordrechet: Kluwer.

SUGIYAMA, H., ITO, I. & HIRONO, C. (1987). A new type of glutamate receptor linked to inositolphospholipid metabolism. Nature., 325, 531-533.

SZENT-GYORGYI, A. & DRURY, A.N. (1929). The influence upon the heart of substances releated to nucleic acid. J. Physiol., 168,xxxv-xxxvi.

TANABE, Y., MASU, M., ISHII, T., SHIGEMOTO, R. & NAKANISH-I, S. (1992). A family of metabotropic glutamate receptors. Neuron., 8, 169-172.

THIELS, E., BARRINUEVO, G. & BERGER, T.W. (1994). Excitatory stimulation during postsynaptic inhibition induces long-term depression in hippocampus invivo. J. Neurophysiol., 72, 3009-3016.

THOMPSON, S.M & GAHWILERE, B.H. (1992). Comparison of the action of baclofen at pre-and postsynaptic receptors in the rat hippocampus in vitro. J. Physiol., 451, 329-345.

THOMPSON, S.M. HAAS, H.L. & GAHWILER, B.H. (1992). Comparison of the actions of adenosine at pre- and postynptic receptors in the rat hippocampus in vitro. J. Physiol., 451, 347-363.

TRUSSELL, L.D. & JACKSON, M.B. (1987). Dependence of adenosine- activated potassium current on a GTP-binding protein in mammalian central neurons. J. Neurosci., 7, 3306-3316.

TURNER, J.P. & SIMMONDS, M.A. (1989). Receptor complex by steroids in slices of rat cuneate nucelus. Br. J. Pharmacol., 96, 409-417.

TWYMANN, R.E., GREEN, R.M. & MaCDONALD, R.L. (1992). Kinetics of open channel block by penicilline of single GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor channels from mouse spinal cord neurones in culture. J. Physiol., **445**, 97-127.

VAN CALKER, D., MÜLLER, M. & HAMPRECHT, B. (1979). Adenosine regulates via two differnt typs of receptors, the accumulation of cyclic AMP in cultured brain cells. J. Neurochem., 33, 999-1005.

VAN GALEN, P.J.M., STILES, G.L., MICHAEALS, G. & JACOBSON, K.A. (1992). Adenosine  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  receptors: Structurefunction, relationships. Med. Res. Rev., 12, 423-471. **VEENMAAN, C.L. & REINER, A.** (1994). The distribution of GABA- containing perikarya, fibres and terminals in the forebrain and midbrain of pigeon with particular reference to the basal ganglia and its projection targets. J. Comp. Neurol., **339**, 209-250.

VAN CALKER, D., MULLER, M. & HAMPRECHT, B. (1979). Adenosine regulates via two differnt typs of receptors, the accumulation of cyclic AMP in cultured brain cells. J. Neurochem., 33, 999-1005.

WALSH, J.P. (1993). Depression of excitatory synaptic input in rat striatal neurons. Brain Res., 680, 123-128.

WARNOCK, D.G. & EVELOFF, J. (1989). K-Cl cotransport systems. Kidney. Int., 36, 412-417.

WEINSTEIN, H., ROBERTS. E. & KAKEFUDA, T. (1963). Studies of subcellular distribution of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid and glutamic decarboxylase in mouse brain. Biochem. Pharmacol., 12, 503-509.

WILLIAMS, M. (1987). Purine receptors in mammalian tissues: Pharmacology and functional significance. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 27, 315-345.

WILLIAMS, M. (1991). Adenosine receptoe agonists and antagonists. In adenosine in the Nervous System. ed. Stone, T. PP. 137-171. London: Academic Press.

WILLIAMS, M., BRAUWALDER, A. & ERICKSON, T.J. (1986). Evaluation of the binding of the A-1 selective adenosine radioligand, cyclopentyladenosine (CPA), to rat brain tissue. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol., 332, 179-183.

WILLIAMS, M. & CUSACK, N.J. (1990). Nuromodulatory roles of purine nucleosides and nucleotides: their receptors adenosine ligands. Neurotransmissions, 6, 1-6.

WILLOW, M. & JOHNSTON, G.A.R. (1983). Pharmacology of barbiturates: Electrophysiological and neurochemical studies. Int. Rev. Neurobiol., 24, 15-49.

WINN, H.R., RUBIO, R. & BERNE, R.M. (1981). Brain adenosine concentration during hypoxia in rats. Am. J. Physiol., 241, 235-242.

WINN, H.R., WELSH, J.E. & RUBRIO, R. (1980). Brain adenosine production in rat during sustained alteration in systemic blood presure. Am. J. Physiol., 239, 636-641.

WITTER, M.P. (1989). Connectivity of rat hippocampus. In The Hippocampus-New Visitas, Neurology and Neurobiology. ed. Chan-palay, V. & Köhler, C., PP.53-69. New York: Alan Liss Inc.

WU. P.H., PHILLIS, J.W. & THIERRY, D.L. (1982). Adenosine receptor agonists inhibit potassium-evoked calcium uptake by rat brain cortical synaptosomes. J. Neurochem., **39**, 700-708.

XIAO, M.Y., WIGTROM, H. & GUSTAFSSON, B. (1994). Long-term depression hippocampal CA1 region is associated with equal changes in AMPA and NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic potentials. Eur. J. Neurosci., 6, 1055-1057.

YAMAMOTO, C. & McIlwain, H. (1966). Electrical activities in thin slices from the mammalian brain maintained in chemically defined media in vitro. J. Neurochem., 13, 1333-1343.

YANG, X.D. & FABER, D.S. (1991). Initial synaptic efficacy influences induction and expression of long-term changes in transmission. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 88, 4299-4303.

YANG, X.D., CONNOR, J.A. & FABER, D.S. (1994). Weak excitation and stimultaneous inhibition induce long-term depression in hippocampal CA1 neurons. J. Neurophysiol. 71, 1586-1590.

YOUNG, D. & DRAGUNOW, M. (1994). Status epilepticus may be loss of adenosine anticonvulsant mechanisms. Neurosci., 58, 245-261.

YOON, K-W & ROTHMAN, S.M. (1991). Adenosine inhibits excitatory but not inhibitory synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. J. Neurosci., 11, 1375-1380.

YOSHIMORA, Y., TSUMOTO, T. & NISHIGORI, A. (1991). Inputspecific induction of long-term depression in  $Ca^{2+}$ -chelated visual cortex neurons. NeuroReport., 2, 393-396.

ZHOU, Q-Y., LI, C., OLAH, M.E., JOHNSON, R.A., STILES, G.L. & CIVELI, O. (1992). Molecular cloning and characterization of an adenosine receptor: the  $A_3$  adenosine receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA., 89, 7432-7436.

ZINI, S., ROISIN M-P, ARMENGAUD, C. & BEN ARI, Y. (1993). Effect of potassium channel modulators on the release of glutamate induced by ischaemic-like conditions in rat hippocampal slices. Neurosci. Lett., 153, 202-205.

